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FOREWORD

A T the annual meeting of the Board of Managers of Crippled
Children’s Hospital in February, 1970, Mrs. Belle H. Ull-
. man, a member of the Board, asked, “Just exactly how old
is Crippled Children’s Hospital, anyway?” (On several occasions,
Mrs, Ullman had stated that she had been active in work with
crippled children for over fifty years.) As recording secretary, I
volunteered to find the answer to her question. Some investigation
would be required, since the several brief historical accounts I had
seen from time to time had a number of discrepancies, including the
dates of the beginning of the work.

I had served as Kappa Delta Sorority’s representative to the Board
of Managers from 1946-1933 and had been elected to membership
on the Board in 1948. Through the years, I had served in various
capacities including that of president from 1933-1955. This was not
the first time that my curiosity had been aroused regarding details
of the hospital’s origins.

An investigation revealed that the Certificate of Incorporation
of Crippled Children’s Hospital was signed on April 28, 1920.
Since several years elapsed between the beginning of free care for
needy crippled children in Virginia and the incorporation of the
hospital, Mrs. Ullman, an early volunteer in this field, undoubtediy
had been involved for over fifty years. The golden anniversary of
the official founding of the hospital was at hand. Without Mrs.
Ullman’s question, that milestone would probably have passed with-
out observation, and this history would not have been written.

Delving into the minutes and early records of the first secretary,
Miss Hattie Belle Gresham, and examining the brief historical ac-
counts written from time to time prompted the thought that perhaps
the appropriate time had arrived not only to look in some detail at
the past, but also to bring the history up to date. Heretofore this
information could be found only by searching the records and
mementos tucked away in a closet at the hospital.
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Therefore, the following history was started in 1970 in com-
memoration of the golden anniversary—fifty years since the incorpo-
ration of Crippled Children’s Hospital in 1920 and fifty-three years
since the first free clinic for polio victims held by Dr. William Tate
Graham in 1917, The publication date attests that the writing has
been spasmodic, being set aside for long periods, until the span of
time included in this history has stretched to sixty years (1917-1977).
The manuscript was completed in 1978~fifty years since the formal
opening of Crippled Children’s Hospital at the 2924 Brook Road
location in 1928.

A valuable resource was a pamphlet printed in 1924 and entitled:
“History of the Beginning, Activities, and Needs. of the Crippled
Children’s Hospital—Richmond, Virginia.” Additional facts and
bicgraphical material concerning Dr. Graham, founder of the hos-
pital, were taken from the address delivered by Dr. James T. Tucker
at the presentation of Dr, Graham'’s portrait on March 19, 1953.
Other information was gathered primarily from the minutes and
reports of the Board of Trustees and the Board of Managers, A debt
of gratitudé is owed to all the secretaries of these two Boards who so
faithfully recorded their minutes.

1 wish to thank Mr. Clarence F. Cauble, administrator, for his
complete cooperation, and Mrs. H. Godwin Jones, Mrs. Robert L.
Rand, Jr., Mrs, Virgil R. Goode, and Mrs. Martin Markowitz, presi-
dents of the Board of Managers, for their patience and persistent
encouragement. I am grateful to Mrs. Goode for additional help;
to the many members of the staff who had 2 part in bringing this
project to completion; and particularly, to Mr. Stan Barnhill, ad-
ministrative assistant, for his extremely helpful editorial advice. But
most of all, I am indebted to my husband, Edward Reeves Adams,
for his sympathetic support of my endeavor. I am also extremely
grateful to my sorority, Kappa Delta, which financed this publication.

The impossibility of including the names of all those who have
contributed substantially to this hospital is a source of real regret.
However, 1 have recorded some early donations which helped to
establish the hospital and subsequent support from organizations
which have aided consistently in the work. I also have recorded
other gifts which I felt were particularly generous or appealing and
a sprinkling of the activities of volunteers and hospital personnel.
These, I hope, will represent all the contributions of the past and
will inspire others in the future. M.B.A
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Chapler I
THE EARLY YEARS

N institution does not suddenly materialize, but rather, it
evolves through the influence of specific circumstances and
needs, 5o it was with the Crppled Children’s Hospital

in Richmaond, Virginia.

One of the circumstances influencing this hospital's development
was the budding ef orthopedic surgery. Before the advent of opera-
tive orthopedics, only manipulstive procedures, splints and braces,
lemt support to weak and twisted bodies. But early in the twentieth
century at the medical center in Boston, Massachusetts, pioneers
were blazing trails wsing orthopedic surgery to carrect many crip-
pling conditions, {At that time, “orthopaedic” was the preferred
spelling of this word derived from the Greck words for “straight™
and “child™. )

Any consideration of work with crippled children in Virginia
must begin with Dr, William Tate Graham, the first physician in
the state to devote himdelf completely to orthopedic surgery.

Bom on July 30, 1873 at Cedar Run near Graham's Forge in
Wythe County, Virginia, Dr. Graham attended Hampden-Svdney
College and the University of Virginia where he received his doc-
torate and where he remained for a few years a8 amociate professor
of anatomy, He acquired a wealth of skill in the disecting room,
and his knowledge of human anatomy was a source of inspiration
to those whe studied under him. However, he was compelled to
interrupt his career and return to hiz home when his father died in
1806, But a decade later, he could be found in Bostom, Masachu-
sctts, specializing in orthopedic surgery, Dr. Graham returned 1o
Virginia in 1913, armed with the knowledge gained through his
experiences and associations in Bosion. He established himself in
Richmend with hi=s residence in the Westmereland Clob ar Sixth
and Grace Strees and his office ac 214 East Frapklin Streer.

At about this time, a crisis developed when a dread disease raged
in epidemic proportions. Even today the mention of the word “epi-
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demnic” generates fear. In 1916 the fear of poliomyelitis, the “great
erippler”, spread throughout che ezstern United States. In Virginia
the number of cases mounted steadily in late summer, leaving a toll
of dead or crippled victims, most of them children, and so the
disease was also called infantile paralysis. Scientists believe that
people have suffered from poliomyelitis since ancient times. An epi-
demic of polio occurred n some region of the United States almost
every year after the beginning of the twenticth century until the
discase was brought under control in mid-century by the Salk and
later the Sabin vaccines.

Records of the State Department of Health reveal that in Vir
ginia, “the epidemic™ occurred in 1916 and 1917, An average of
41 deaths resulied from polio during the years 1913, 1914, amd
1915, but in 1916, (the fiscal year running from Cktober, 1915
through September, 1916) 6f deaths and 222 cases were recorded.
In the Tollowing vear, 1917, the dissase raged again, leaving 66
dead in the state and meny invalid, but the toll diminished o 19
deaths in 1918, The epidemic, which had begun in New York and
spread along the esstern seaboard during the first half of the decade,
kad subsided, but polin was to remain a threat for many years to
COMme.

What of the hundreds of victims Jeft handicapped by this discase?
And what was the hope of other children crippled by birth defects,
accidents, or other diseazes? The families of many of them knew
nothing of orthopedic surgery and could not have aforded the long
and Cmﬂ}' treatment if they had known of it. And s, during the

an mb dhn Tostmamrioe Lmie Blovmeaes? & opmeam_

l:l..lH.-Il.'-IIHL- ,l;q;q..l MR O D0 afSaracve wISILE AUTHSE  Siosdiaes

tion [I.V.N.A.) en their dailly rounds encountered am ever in-
crepsing number of affficted children, Their sitoarion eeemed
hopeless,

These then were the circumstances, and the need for help or even
hope was very real when in April of 1917 Mis Nannie J. Minor,
superintendent of the LV.NLA,, decided to call on Dr. William Tate
Graham for advice, Instead of advice, she received the dedicated
services of D Graham himsell and all the resources he could
muster to meect the crisis

Dr. Graham volunteered the use of the hasement of 214 East
Franklin Street for an outpatient clinic and donated his professional
services, Within a week the clinic was in operation, furnished with
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two plain pine tables, a few chairs, and three patients. A short tme
later a visitor to the clinic wrote the following description:

“I never saw anything se democratic as that cliple in Dr. Geabam's
office. Mothers, white and colored, brought their children and sat to-
mether side by side while the children were placed an the table for
treatment, literally foot to foot, so crowded was the space. It seemed as
il the day of miracles had rerurned, for many a child brought in e
father's arms, never heving walked, was ‘ere long, with the aid of
braces, walking everywhere. Behind Dr. Graharm and Miss Minor
stood and worked, day in and day out, the IV NA, nurses, What a
wonderful subject was this for the brush of some artist, this litthe
clinic in & basenent, knowing neither race, religion nor creed, and
open to every mother, every father, every litthe aflicted child, without
meney and witheut price.”

Mrs. William Waller Morton, president of the LV.N.A., ap-
pointed Mrs. Henry P, Carrington of that Board as chairman of a
committee to coordinate the work of the LV.NLA, nurses assisting
with the clinic.

In less than six months, the litde elinic was earing for more than
eighty children, and it was clear that larger quarters were Impera-
tive. Arrangements were made to accommodate the work in the
outpatient department of the Medical College of Virginia, Surgery
was dene at the old Memorial Hospital at Twelfth and Broad
Strests, and patients requiring hospital care were treated there.
Sheltering Arms Hospital and Retreat for the Sick, both located at
that time in the vicinity, also opened their doors to these patients.

In the meantime, the secend year of the epidemie, 1917, had
taken its toll, and letters of distress were received [rom parents of
afflicted children in other parts of the state. They had heard of the
work being done in Richmond and were asking if help might be
available to them. Additional measures were clearly necessary to
meet the emergency.

Therelore, in 1918 the aid of Captain W. W. Baker, member of
the Flouse of Delegates from Chesterfield County, was enlisted to
introduce in the General Assembly a bill appropriating $10,000
annually for two vears to the Virginia State Board of Health for the
treatment of crippled children. Dr. Ennion G. Williams, Commis-
sioner of the State Department of Health, Dr. Graham, and Miss
Minor appeared before the committee appointed to consider the
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bill. The committee unanimously endersed the bill which was sub-
sequently adopted by the General Asembly. Certainly the fact that
Dr. Graham had agreed to donate his professional services swayed
a pornmitteg af the State Board of Health to expend the appropria-
tion in Richmond, and thus assist in the work already established at
Memoriel Hospital, rather than aceept a proposal from the Uni-
versity of Virginia. This was the beginning of the continuing liaken
hetween the State Board of Health, the State Department of Health,
and the work which was to grow and become the Crippled Chil-
dren's Hospital.

The zppropriatien encouraged all involved, including Mrs. W, W,
Morton, president of the TV.N.A,, who conveyed her feelings to
Dr. Graham. He replied as follows:

April 24, 1518
M. W. W, Morton
920 W, Franklin Street
Richmond, Va,

Dear Wire. Mortan

I wigh o thank you for your note shout the orthopedic hospital. I
am very glad that the State Board of Health decided to Jocate it in
Richmond, and I arn very much gratified that [ am to be connected
with it. Your interest, and that of the other good women who are
interested in work of this kind, 2 certainly a very desirable and very
valuable asmet. We want all the help and encouragement we can
possibly get, and | am sure that before long we may be calling en you
for help and advice in many wave. Tt s verv kind of you to offsr vour
services and these of the LVINA, T feel that too much credit cannot
be given the IV.N.A. for the accomplishment of this purpase here in
the state of Virginia. Without their help the establishment of a clinic
here in Richmond weuld have been long delayed, slow of development,
and much more difficult of management. Their generous cosperation,
advice, and help along many lines did much toward making it possible
at this time, and I mm very prateful to every one connected with it
for what has been accomplished theough this arganization,

With best wishes, T remain

Very sincerely yours,

Sied,.G .,;L,AM

With the assurance of financial support, two wards in Memorial
Hespital were devoted o erippled children. The first patients were
admitted to these special wards in July, 1918,

During that year there were %3 patients ereated, 72 white and 21
colored, Patients able to do so paid one dollar & day for hospital
service. There were 461 such days paid for out of a total of 7,293
hospital days, During the same period there were 200 surgical op-
erations performed by Dr. Graham. Free medical service was ren-
dered these children by D, MeGuire Mewton, and X-ray work wasz
done by Dr. A, L. Gray. The outpatient work was continued as
formerly. No doctor would accept compensation for service.

It was snon apparent that the appropsiaton fram the legislature

wak puite inadeauate o mest the nemd, Therelore a mesting wae

] AEewi mnE 8 BRI el R

called on June 27, 1915 at the old University Club “to di=cuss the
need for a hospital for crippled children in Virginia and to decide
upon the organization of a society for raising funds [or such 2 hos-
pital.” Mr. Wyndam Meredith presided, and in attendance were
Dr. William T. Graham, Dr. Ennion G, Willlams, Dr. Stoart Me-
Guire, Dr. McGuoire Newton, Mis Nannie Minor, Captain 'W. W.
Baker, Messrs. John Miller, Jr., Isaac Marcuse, Alvin Smith, Henry
Litchford, Miss Lizzie Boyd, Mis Mary Boyd, Mis Hattde Beile
Gresham, Mrs. B, B. Munford, Mr. and Mrs. J. Luther Moon, Mr.
and Mrs. Waller Morton, and Mr. and M. George F. Vose.

Dr, Williams informed them of the work on the twe orthopedic
wards at Memorial Hospital and explained the support derived from
the state, Dir, Graham showed stereoptcon pictures of coppled chil-
dren before and after treatment, vividly illustrating hew orthopedic
surgery and scientific care could transform imvalids into wseful and
selfsupporting citizens. He abo noted that there were several thou-
sand crippled children in Virginia, without medical aid, whe
needed and should have “a chance to help in the world's work.”

All who spoke at that meeting stressed the need for a speeial
hoegpital with open space, fresh air, and sunshine to speed the re-
covery of the patients, and everyone present agreed to help raise
the necessary funds. A commitice was appointed to organize a
society for the promotion of a hospital in Richmond for needy
crippled children of Virginia and to plan a [und mising campaign.

When this committee met on July 21, with Dr. Williams pre-
siding, the need for an mitial goal, the purchase of a =ite, took
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precedence over the formation of the society. Arrangements were
made to meet the very next day at “Hermitage”, the Jonathan
HBryan cstate, which was for sale and might be suitable for con-
version into a hospital. The members of the committes were en-
thusiastic about this property and appainted Dr. Graham and Dr.
Wilblams te consult the EI.F-:":I'.II-II,'I;:I;.l My, Charles M. R-:_'lL'p;i;','g.r_:-n, i
determine if the house could be altered to meet their requirements.

At the third meeting of the committee, on August 23, 1919, Dr.
Graham reported that in all probability, the Bryan home, offered
for sale at $4d,500, could be converted into a fifty-bed hospital.
But the committee felt that it could not proceed to promote the
establishment of such a hospital without scme idea of the cost to
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convert the residence, as well az data concerning equipment, main-
tenance, and operating expenses, To aid in gaining this information,
Dr. Graham agreed to visit hospitels for crippled children in Boston,
Pitisburgh, Atlanta, and elsewhere. He reported his findings in
November, advising against buying the Bryan estate, “as it was to0
far from a (street) car line and had other disadvantages.” After see-
ing other |:J11!|:||-:.. s hespitals, Dr. Graham ap]:m.rl:uﬂ'.r realized the
tremendous advantage of a building designed spectfically for this
purpose, At any rate, the committee -:'] anged its course, turning at-
tention to its original purpose, the forming of an official organization.
The name ‘Trfpp]rtl Children’s Hnspi-nl“ was chosen for the
hospital and the organization governing it, both to be [ree of state
comteed, Mr. Wyndam Meredith offered to get the charter, and a
commities was appointed to amist him, First, [l was necessary to
secure a president. Mr. H. Watking Ellerson, president of the Albe-
marle Paper Company, accepted this office through the efforts of
Mr. John M. Miller, Jr., president of the First and Merchants Na-
tienal Bapk. In addition, Mr, Miller agreed to serve as vice-presi-
dent. Miss Hattie Belle Gresham was named secretary and Mr,
Henry Litchford, treasurer, The charter was sipned by these officars
together with Dr. William T. Graham, Dr. Ennion G. Williams,
and Capr. W. W. Baker on April 28, 1920, The certificere of in-
corporation was recorded by the State Corparation Comunission on
April 30, 15920, The purposes of the corporation were stated as fal-
lows: *Ta condict a chartable and bBenevolent organization in
which no capital stock is required or to be isued, and [or that pur-
poge to acquire, lease, purchase, hold, erect, and maintan, without
any view to praofit, an institution for crippled children where treat-
ment both medical and surgical can be rendered children suffering
from any discase not contagious ar frem any malformaton of body
or lamb; to conduct a school for such children where training both
voegtional and academic may be supplied, and for all other ohjects
usuglly carried on by & home or hospital of similar character. . . "
Dr. Grzham reported in May, 1920 that the bill to appreprate
$30,000 toward a hospital for crippled children passed the senate in
its 1920 session with Senator B, Lee Trinkle as patron. But this bill
was subgequently vetoed by Governor Westmoreland Davis. Gover-
nor Davis kad been ansjous o h::lp and had offered {0 contribute
generoialy himself, but for a number of practical resscns he could
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not allow the hill to pass. The appropriation of $10,000 a year,
however, was renewed for two more years,

At this point, Major James H. Dooley stepped into the picture.
He had recently provided the funds o build the Hospital for Con-
tagious Diseases on Marshall Street between Twelfth and College
Streets. With the criticel shortage of space for crippled children, it
seemed expedient to devate the little new hozpital e their care until
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a larger hospital in the country could be realized. Major Dooley
readily agreed to this plan. He had served an the Board of Visitors
of the Medical College of Virginia from 1880-1888 and frequently
visited the Sunday moming clinics for crippled children held Ty
Dr. Graham. This persenal contact with the work undoubtedly
stmulated Major Docley's interest and inapired his ald. Dr. Graham
cansidered the Diooley Hospital up to date in every way and suff-
cient to accommodate 42 children. Miss Gresham was agked to or-
ganize a Waman®s Auxiliacy “to look after the children and all of
the details of the hospital.”

For almost a year, the group of interested citizens had been
fecling its way toward substantial aid for crippled children, not only
the victims of polio, but albo those crippled by birth defects, accei-
dents, or other disepses. As an official organization now with tempo-
rary housing for their patients, they could move ahead with definite
plans to raise money for a new hospital. On June 10, they set a
goal of 200,000 for thiz purpese. In the meantime, organizations
would be asked to help with the operating expenses for Doaoley
Hospital. This expense was approximately §23,000 a year with the
state contributing §10,000.

Though a feeling of enthusinsm pervaded the Trustess' June
10th meeting, it was a different story when they met on Movember
11, 1920, Mr. Ellerson spoke of the “dire need™ for funds to carry
on the waork at Dooley Hospital. The presence of only seven mems-
bers evidenced the general apathy of the Board, Decisive action was
needed but impessible to accomplish with so little coopération, In
the hope of encouraging atendance, a luncheon meeting at Rueger's
Hotel was arranged for the very next week.

The “emergency meeting” took place on November 18 with 14
of the 32 members present. Because “times were a0 hard™, they
feared that a campaign to raise funds would certainly fail and do
more harm than good. A number of the members, however, decided
that they would try to raise §1,000 each among friends to tide the

At a subsequent meeting of the Trustess on Jenuary 11, 15921,
BMr. Ellerson again stressed the “dire need™ for funds. He reported
that the hospital was incurring debts each day with no way in sight
of paying them and wamed that unless something were done, the
number of patients would have to be reduced considerably ar per-
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hagps, the hospital would have 1o be closed. Dr. Graham had already
reduced the census to 30 and had a waiting list. Those who had
pledged to raise §1,000 had net done so, Mr, Elleson reminded
those present that doctors weee giving their services and that it was
x shame that they should be hampered by lack of funds to carry on
the work. -A financial campaign stemed unavoidable,

Mr, Legh R, Page suggested that a pamphlet be eirculated pro-
viding a history of the efforts thus far to care for crippled children,
an explanation of the eritical need for a erippled children’s hospital,
and an urgent appeal for support. As might be expected, he was
made chairman of a committee to compose such a pamphlee. Later
that year a small booklet was printed, On the cover were the words,
“Crippled Children's Heapital, Richmend, Virginia,” and a piciure
af Doaley Hospital with nurses and children at the door, Inside were
five pages of printed material explaining how the hospital had come
into being and why it was urgently in need of help from “the good
people of the city of Richmond.” In addition to seeking contribu-
tiops, three classes of membership were offered: regular member-
ship, one dollar; associate membership, fve dollars; and contributing
membership, twenty-five dollars. The complimentary close was,
“Respectfully, CRIPPLED CHILDREN'S HOSPTTAL, by Hattie
Belle Gresham, Secretary.” The compesition of the pamphlet, how-
ever, had been a joint effort of a number of people.

Five thousand pamphlets were printed end mailed with the help
of the Instructive Visiting Murses' Association, which allewed its
mailing bst to be uwsed. Mrs, Edward Ragland consented to take
charge of the campaign, Board members were asked to contact
those on the list as a follow up, and they were urged o get their
friends to help. During the campaign, Mr. Page reported it lagging
for lack of good warkers, In spite of this, 2 tozal of $17,171.24 had
been donated by the meeting on May 24, 1921, In addition, 545
memberships, vielding 32,800, had been secured. The financial
crisis was thus eased for a time, It was one yezr after incorporation,
two years alter the first planning mecting, and four years after the
beginning of the clinic.

Chapter IT
THE WOMAN'S AUXILIARY

organize 2 Woman's Auxiliary “1o look aler the children and

all the details of the hospital” A meeting was held in June,
but becanse most of the ladies involved expected to be out of the
city during the summer, no action was taken except to secure some
urgently needed linens. The first official meeting of the Woman's
Auxiliary was held on December 2, 1920 at four o'clock in the
Jefferson Hotel,

It was at this December mecting that the Auxiliary was actually
organized with Mrs, Willam Waller Morton, president and with
Miss Hattie Belle Gresham, Mrs, Henry P, Carrington, and Mrs.
John Kerr Branch as vice-presidens. Mm. C. B. Albright was made
treasurer, and Miss Elizabeth Cocke, sacretary. Included as members
of this new organization were Mis Nan Lindsey, Miss Lizzie Boyd,
Mrs. Henry Cabell, and Mrs. Douglas Gordon, all of whom had
becn members of M. Carrington’s LV.IN.A. coordinating com-
mittee, organized to help stant Dr. Graham's first free clinic in 1917,
Committess were appointed by the president to attend to certain
details of the operation of the hospital end the comfort and care of
the patients. The Auxiliary was aleo asked to help in the raising of
funds.

The next meeting of the Auxiliary took place on January &, 1921
at Docley Hospital. The membership was Hmited to thisty mem-
bers; however, becanse there was 50 much (o be done, the chairman
of each commitiee was encouraged to geek volunteers from the com-
munity to help with the weork, Almost immediately the Ginter Park
Woman’s Club offered to “stand behind™ Mrs. Albright on the
mending committes, and later in the year this club sbo gave an
“"outdoor fere” for the benefit of the hospital,

Om April 21, 1921 the Sunshine Circle of King's Daughters was
organized when twenty women assembled at the home of Mz J,

IH the spring of 1920, Miss Hattie Belle Gresham was asked o
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Luther Moo to discuss plans of working together for the benefit of
Crippled Children's Haospital as well as other charities. Thus hegan
the long history af this organization's cocperation with the hespital,

The natonal sorority, Kappa Delia, which had been founded in
1887 =t the Virginia State Normal School, { now Longwood College,
in Farmville, Virginia) adopted Crippled Children’s Hospital as the
sorority's national philanthropy. At the Kappa Delta Coswvention in
1921, this erganization voted to begin its support by endowing two
beds at an annual cost of $600 each, with one bed supported by the
alumnae and the other by the college chapters, for the Arst year.
Elizabeth Corbett Gilbert of Springfield, Massachusers was retiting
as president, and because of her vital interest in the national phi-
lanthropy, she becarne the first chairman of the Crippled Children's
Haospital Committee of Kappa Delta. Miss Bess Cowley of Rich-
mond was appointed the local Kappa Delta representative to the
hospital and accepted membership in the Auxiliary in June, 1922,
Over the years since 1921, Kappa Deltas, through their national
organization, have donated hundreds of thousands of dollars to
Crippled Children’s Hospital for operating expenses, equipment
and other needs. In addition, a lrge number of the sorority's col-
legiate chapters, alumnae asociations, and members from through-
out the nation have made significant individual contributions, add-
ing to Kappa Delta’s continuously expanding support for the
hespital and 1tz work.

The Kiwanis Club of Richmend sponsored a concert by the
Lorillasd Cherus in Movember, 1921 far the benehit of Crippled
Children’s Hospital, showing evidence of early interest and support
that still continues,

Miss Alice Marcuse and Mrs, Philip Stravse voluntarily mught
patients three days @ week. By the fall of 1921, it was announced
that there would be a school teacher provided for the children
through appropriations of §1,000 Iram the state and §500 from the
Baoard of Trustees, but voluntesr teachers continued to serve also,

Another volunteer group was noted in the minutes of the Board
of Trustees when "Mrs. Morten reported that the Gird's Auxiliary, of
which Mi= Elizabeth Valentine was chairman, sent three of its
members each week to entertain patients by reading, playing games,
telling stories, and writing letters home for them. The chalrman re-
ported that as a result of their visits, the patients showed a marked
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improvement In manner and general bearing,” In April, 1922 mem-
bers of the Girl's Auxiliary were repored to be going to Memorial
Hospital every day, This group was composed of young, unmarried
ladies of prominent families.

The Woman's Auxiliary kept an inventory of linen and clothing
and bought new gupplies as needed. By December, 1921 a linen
matron was employed, her salary provided by the Board of Trustees.
During this period the Auxiliary meeting was [ollowed immediately
by a joint meeting with the Executive Commiteee of the Board of
Trustees, evidence of the extremely ciose cooperation which was
necessary between these two groups, One can imagine the difficulry
of being responsible for patients housed in three different hospitals,
some in Memorial, and some in St. Philip Hespital for colored pa-
tients, in addition o those in “The Dooley”. What a task just to
account for the linen! This was a [requent problem with which
ladies of the Auxiliary confronted Mr. Frederick B, Maorlock, super-
intcndent of this hospital complex. Auxiliary members concerned
themselve: with every aspect of the hospital from cleanlines of the
wards to proper behavior among the patients. They reported con-
ditions needing attention 1o Mr. Morlok or took whatever steps were
necessary to Improve the situation of the children for whom Crip-
pled Children's Hospital was responsible, It was an unusual arrange-
ment=—a hospital within three other hospitals. Bur ahead in the not
too distant futere, lay the fulfillment of their dream—a hospital just
for crippled children, In the meantime, thelr padents’ welfare was
the immediate concern.

In the spring of 1921 Mm. C. B. Albright resigned as treasurer of
the Auxiliary, and Mrs, George F. Vose asumed this office. In
October, 1921 Mrs. Morton resigned as president, and Mrs. Henry
P. Carringron succeeded her.

During 1921 there were 342 childeen treated and 269 discharged.
The number of “hospital davs” was 21,382 at a cost of abow
F30,000,

As of January, 1922 the Auxiliary Board had been active for one
vear. The minutes refer to Mis Oliver, superintendent of the hos-
pital, a housemother, a linen matron, and volunteer teachers, The
following April, Mis Valentine reported that the necessary books for
patients who wanted to continue advanced or upper school work had
been sent to her from “Foxcroft”, a school which has consistently
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helped Crippled Children's Hospital, Miss Valentine also reported
that she was taking charge of these studies, independent of Mrs,
Summerville, the paid teacher.

On May 4, 1922 Miss Hattie Belle Gresham proposed the form-
ing of an Auxiliary of colored women to show congern for the chil-
dren in 5€ Philip Hospital and to act under the established
Woman's Auxiliary, Mrs. Henry Carringron appointed Mrs. Henry
Fairfax to undertake this work, soggesting that Mrs. John Stewart
Bryan act for the Board of Trustees in helping her. The Executive
Committee of the Board of Trustees heartily endorsed this idea at
their meeting the next day.

The Woman's Auxiliary provided Chrixtmas trees, parties, cloth-
ing and other supplics for the children in 5t. Philip Hospital. At
the October, 1822 meeting of the Auiliary, it was announced that
i colored teacher had been requested for patients there. But evi-
dently the plan for an Auxiliary of colored women did not ma-
terialize until December 30, 1924, M. Carrington's annual report
for that year sates that the Auxiliary had been formed and “was
doing splended work.” Its president was M. Emma Watson at
whose home the group was organized. The St Philip Hospital
Branch of the Crippled Children's Hospital Auxiliary reported a
membership of twenty-two in Fehruary of 1526.

In June, 1922 Miss Gresham announced the prospect of a $2,000
appropriation from the State Department of Education to pay for
one school teacher at "Deocley'’ and one at “Memaorial” beginning
in the fall. The Trustees weuld add 5750 to this amount. A voca-
tional committee would work with the children on Sawrday when
they were niot studying.

In December of 1922 Miss Oliver, superintendent of *Dooley™,
left to go as a missionary to China, She was scceeded by Mis
Steimmets. *

The Woman's Auxiliary at the outset had been asked to help
with the raising of funds, They had been organized only a few
months when they set about this task, The minutes For March, 1921
record the planning of the fist benefit card party for Crippled
Children's Hospiial to be given at the home of Mm, John Kerr
Branch on April 27, On April 12 a benefit concert was given by a
Mis Lee [vocalist). The card party netted $748 and the concert,
£166.42. Another card party, this time at “Paxton”, the home of
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Mrs. John Skelton Williams, was given on December 5, 1922,
These were the first of a continuing procession of fund raising
evenis,

The treasurer, Mrs. Vese, pald the bills and ako invested some
funds for the Woman's Auxiliary. She was particularly active in
the establishment of a bed endowment fund and effectively en-
couraged contributions, This fund reached a sum of $1,011.89 by
the fall of 1922,

The wark of the Woman's Auxiliary had been firmly established,
and many organizatiens and individuals bad come forward offering
their services.,



Chapler ITT
CRISIS AND CHALLENGE

plagued by the persitent lack of sufficient funds and the
lach of a facility to call its own.

Since patients continued to come from many different areas of
the state, the Board of Trustees, at its meeting on February 2, 1922,
approved the plan of organizing chapters throughout the common-
wealth to encourage contributions and thus broaden the base of
support. Mr. Legh R. Page was named chairman to accomplish
this with the assistance of Dr. Graham, whese contacts with groups
in Norfolk, Lynchburg, and Roanoke, in comnection with elinic
activity in those areas, were already established.

Any thoughts of constructing a new hospital were complicated
by the knowledge that plans were being made to build a Shriners
Hospital for crippled children in the southeastern U:mtcd ELHIE.,
with the Richmond area as a poesible site, Some of the men in-
volved in the work of Crippled Children’s Hospital were Shriners
and could envislon a cooperative effort, with control in the hands
of Shriners Hospitaks for Crippled Children, Others were less en-
thusiastic at the prospect. Regardles of their feclings in the matter,
il the Shriners Hospital were to be located in the vieinity of Rich-
mond, plans of the Crippled Children’s Hospital Association (a
designation used at the ome} would necesarly be drasiically al-
tered.

Since their goal was in doubt, no cﬂ:ctnn: plan for chapters
could be launcheds and so, these two related matters were destined
to dangle until finally the decision was made to cstablish the
Shriners Hespital in Greenville, South Carolina.

In the meantime, and evidently unaware of these eomplications,
members of the Woman's Auxiliary were growing impatient with
conditions that prevailed, and by January, 1923 had become con-
vinced that a campaign for funds o build “our own hospital” wes

THE development of Crippled Children’s Hospital was
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necessary, Lhe women were frustrated in their attempts to cope
with various problems in “The Dooley”, which was actually a part
of the Medical College of Virginia and enly on Joan to Crippled
Childrens Hospital, Therefore, on January 11 a committer com-
posed of Mrs. J. Luther Moen, chairman, M. I J. Marcuse,
Mrs, Henry Fairfax, Mrs. George Vese, and Mrs. Henry Carring-
ton was chesen to approach the Trustees for approval of a building
Tund drive.

When the Executive Cammittes of the Board of Trustees met on
January 17, they introduced the newly appeinted executive secre-
tary, Miss Gray Wright, and they turned down the committee from
the Woman's Auxiliary, advising them to delay any campaign for a
new hospital. But in spite of this waming, the women [orged ahead,
and at the next meeting of the Board of Trstees, Mrs. Moon sub-
mitted a resolution proposing & building fund mm]:l-aign 5 b&gin in

dha £211 Thin dilacems s Jaialamacl basacies = L. Ms fgrs H
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of the Board of Trustess was not at liberty to disclose its reason for
choosing to delay.

The privileged information invalved the Dooleys. Major Doaley
had died in 1922, Jeaving mest of his estate 1o his wile, Sallie May
Dooley, Mrs. Dooley™ interest in aiding crippled children had been
Kindled, and some of the officers were aware of a generous imminent
bequest from Mrs. Dooley which would substantially benefit the
Crippled Chitdren's Hospital.

Mr, Ellerson, president of the Board of Trustees, was already
jupgling the alternatives of a Shriners Heepital or a new Dooley
hospital for crippled children when he was thrown a third possibility
at the insistence of the Woman's Auxiliary, Thouegh this sibuation
may have had no bearing on the marter, he tendered his resignation
at this meeting and urged its acceptance. But a quorum was not
present, and when the Trustees met again on March 29, 1923, Mr.
Ellerson was persuaded to remain in office. For the tme being, in
lien of & building fund campaign, the Board decided to raise £7,500
to cover the year’s deficit by asking each of its members 1o secure at
least ten new azsociate membership contributions. Thus the crisis
was averted.

Meanwhile, in addition ta their established duties, Auxiliary mem-
bers were providing hand crafts and automohile rides for the ehil-
dren. They were joined by two new members, Mrs, Belle H. Ullman
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and Miss Ellen Wallace, who was to become M. Frank C. Acree.
Mrs. Ullman, through the influence of Miss Alice Marcuse, had
volunteered her services to work with crippled children even befare
the Auxiliary was organized, and she served over fifty years unti] her
death in December, 19735, Mis Wallace had been inmvolved with
crippled children as a volunteer teacher with her friend, Miss Eliza-
beth Valentine. As this history is being written, Mrs. Acres, who
was also elected later to the Board of Trustees, remains artive on
that Board and continues on the women's Board, having served in
many capacities including that of president.

Also in 1923, members of the Austin Bihle Class of First Baptist
Church, Richmond and their leader, Mr. W, L. Austin, appeared
on the scene to play a significant role in events that followed. They
presented entertainment for the children at Memerial Hospital on
a Bunday in March and evidently were inspired to try to improve
the plizht of these patients. They conceived the idea of a “fresh air”
cemp where children might spend their convalescent days in gue-
roundings “more conducive to the happiness of children.” Te
present the idea, Mr. Austin, reinforced by several members of the
Sunshine Cirele, appeared before a called meeting of the Aunxiliary.
The Bible Clas wished to pledge $100 toward the camp and hoped
that many other churches and organizations would join in this
endeavor. Mrs. Moon immediately responded that the Sunshine
Circle was ready with a pledge of $500.

What was the reaction of those presemt? Certainly they could
appreciate this evidence of concern and the value in the propesal,
but seme, if not &ll, of the members of the Auxiliary in attendance
knew that Crippled Children's Hospital was faced with difficulty in
raising encugh funds to carry on the work in the present [acilities.
Added to this was their desire to have a building campaign for
their own separate hospital. And actwally, they had no suthority
either to accept or reject Mr. Avstin's offer. The matter would
have to come before the Board of Trustees. In the interim, there
- wes time to consider znd develop i posmibilities with those who
would be responsible for a decision,

It was not until the regular meeting of the Board of Trustees on
May 25 that Mr. Ellerson presented the idea of 2 summer camp
as proposed by Mr. Awstin and his Bible Class, They hoped 1o find
a vacant home near Richmond and let the children who were con-
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valezcing have the benefit of country air and sunshine during the
summer. Mr. Austin and some associates, Messrs. Eddie Schmidt,
J. L. Moon, H. G. Emwrick, Robert Crump, and James Richardson
agreed to be responsible for ralsing the funds necessary for such a
camp. The Beard accepted this proposml] with the undesstanding
that the home would be under the supervision and contrel of Dr.
Ennion G. Williams, State Health Commissioner, Dr. W, T. Gra-
ham, and Crippled Children's Hospital.

Within a few days an offer had been received from Dr. F. W,
Boatwright, president of the University of Richmond, making the
Westhampton College building available as a summer camp for no
more than thirty children. The responsibility for their care and

I'-leﬂhl' and ﬂ1'|'|.|' ﬁﬂﬂtl‘l""l'i'l |"|l'l'r|r|i-n was to b |'|.rurr|- lar il lpersieal T
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was a generous offer, gratefully accepted; and thus, one hurdle
was cleared in a miraculously shart time.

When the Executive Committee of the Board of Trostess met
less than a month later, on June 19, Mr. Austin and his ascciates
had $5,000 plus a great many supplies that had been donated for
the camp. A large scrap book in the hospital archives pives in detail
the remarkable newspaper publicity and varety of actvities which
generated these contributions. Among those who helped were the
Richmond Bey and Gird Scouts who gathered daisies to be sold on
the streets by voluntesrs. Contribution boxes were ale placed
around the city, Adequate appreciation could not be expressed to
Mr. Austin who organized the appeal and Inspired the generous
response from the community. Mr, Ellerson even suggested naming
the camp for him, but Mr. Austin humbly declined the honar, The
eriginal goal had been $10,000, but with the building and much
equipment furnished free of charge by the University of Richmaond,
funds already available seemed sufficient. With the approval of Dr,
Williams and Dr. Graham, thirty children were moved io the col-
lege by the Red Cross Motor Corps on June 26, 1923,

As for those who were critically il in the hospital wards, Mrs.
Henry Baskervill urged that a special nurse be employed to care for
them &s needed, and that a housemother be provided at Memorial
Hospital for the wards there. The Board approved of her sugges-

tions and made plans to secure a housemother at a slary not to
exceed $500 & vear.

But by far the most exciting item on the agenda of the meeting
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T he "Frasty Air Camp”

in June was the announcement by Mr. Ellerson that o bequest of
$500,000 to build a hospital for crippled children hed been made
by a wealthy citizen, and that this sum was expected to be available
before many years. This information, which Mr. Ellerson had been
authorized to disclose, was to be held in strict confidence and was
made known only to explain why a building fund campaign had
been discouraged.

The Fresh Afr Camp was such a success that on July 27, 1923 a
meeting of the Board of Trustees was called to consider establishing
a convalescent home for crippled children, thereby releasing hos-
pital beds to children wndergoing surgery. By caring for con-
valescing patients in such a home, the crganization could keep them
under the doctoss' care, precious hospital bed space could he used
tor the best advantage, and maore children could be served.

Dr. Ennion Williams had recognized the value af such a facility
after the first month that the camp was in operation, With this in
mind, Mr. Ellerson, Dr. Graham, Dr. Willinms, and Mr. Austin,
together with Mmes, Henry Carrington, Henry Baskervill, and
Henry Fairfax had already looked at a house on Breok Road at
Sherwood Avenue.

Mr. Ellerson stated that if it could be named the “McGuire
INewton Scottish Rite Home”, perhaps the Scottish Rite would be
willing to provide the funds for it, in memory of Dr. McGuire
Mewton who had served the patients of Crippled Children’s Hees-
pital from its beginning until his death in the spring of 1023,

The Board, however, voted to buy the house on ane acre of land,
and a short dme later, the property was purchased for §12,500.
Through the kindness of Mr. Henry Baskervill, plans were drawn
for an addition to the house so that in all, the convalescent hespital
could care for 25 patentt. Already, 55,000 bricks had been denated
far this addition. .

When the Executive Committee met on September 11, Mr
Elferson expressed the opinion that now that Crippled Children’s
Hospital was going 1o have a unit of its own, a more effective appeal
for funds could be made than would have been possible previously.
The time had come to make a state-wide appeal for help. To this
end, Miss Hattie Belle Gresham was asked to go into various parts
of the state immediately to fortn chapters and encourage annual
contributions
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Chapter TV
THE CONVALESCENT HOSPITAL

DDED responsibilities for the Board of Trustees and the

Woman's Awdliary came with the purchase of the house on

Brook Boad. The preparation and operation of the Con-

valescent Hospital claimed a large portion of their energies. At the

same time, the work at Memorial, Dooley, and 5t Philip Hospitals
had to be maintained,

Paying for the new property was of primary concern. The
Womans Auxilary, with $7,000 in real esiate bonds and 51,200
in the bank, obligated itsell 1o pay the 812,500 for the purchase
of the building and grounds. The Board of Trustees, with approxi-
mately $8,000 on hand, agreed to provide the necessary improve-
menis sstimated 1o cost §7,000.

For a cleser working relationship, the Executive Committee of
the Board of Trustees voled to include the president of the Woman's
Auxiliary as one of 5 members, and the Auxilisry added repre-
sentatives from the women's organizations which were helping the
hospital on a regular basis. An attendance bylaw was adopted, re-
quiring Auxiliary members to attend meetings unless excused.

The appropription from the state Jegislature had been increased
1o §25,000 per year, and during the [all of 1923, Mis Gresham had
started her talks to groups within and ouside the city to gain addi-

T.i.l:l]'.li.lj H'J.I'.'ll.'lﬂft ‘This was not I,.-.I:I'i.l.E.,‘l T CVET, b MEest the need.

Christimag holidays did not curtail the asctivity of the Executive
Committes, for an December 28 they were In session discusing the

mnfEer b sl amAdascrneas anlamerem i Tam o las anmalsiad besiines

ELIEED O 080 eNddWITIEnRNE, s I-l|_.u|u||a had been recerved toward
the suppaort of 5& of the 60 beds for which Crippled Children's Hos-
pital was responsible in the three hospital complex. But there were
varying denominations of endowment or subscription. 8mall con-
tributions of §35 and $50 had been accepted as bed endowments as
well as §600 for mamtenance and support of one bed for one year.
The need for & consistent policy was evident and could be imitixted
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at least in the Convalescent Hospital, Permanent endowment of a
bed was set at $10,000, and later a finzl decision concerning the 25
bede at the Convalescent Hospital offered 15 beds for annual sub-
scriptions of 3600 each and ten for §530 donations.

The Convalescent Hospital opened on February 20, 1924 under
the supervision of Mim Ida G. Buckley of Boston, a graduate nurse
trained in work with crippled children.

Ag had been predicted, the opening of its own facility stimulated
interest in the Crippled Children's Hespital and donations in-
creased. The Sunshine Circle of the Kings Daughters pledged
$10,000 with the suggestion that this be used to endow the linen
closet. Mrs. Edward R. Stettinius, Sr. gave 512,000 to endow a
playroom designated as “The Betty Carrington Room™, in memory
of her mother, An endowment of $10,000 was given by Miss Grace
Arents, and Mrs. Alfred I, du Pent donated §10,000 to endow a
heliotherapy room, a special roem for sun lamps used particalarly
in the treatment of tubercolar patients, Increased Kappa Delia
support endowed three beds anmually at $600 cach, one of these in
the Convalescent Fospital, The sorority also gave five criba. The
Ginter Park Weman's Club furnished the nurses' roams.

A junior membership with dues of fifty cents per year was au-
tharized for chapters in January, 1924, Mr. Ellerson’s anmual re-
port for that year revealed that 27 chapters had been formed and
$30,000 raised by Miss Hattie Belle Gresham.

Card parties and benefit concerts continued to be additional
means of raking money, and i June of 1924 2 “tag day™ called
“Daisy Day" with Mim Ellen Wallace as chairman  yiekded
$3,383.85. Funds werc geined from the Deep Run Hunt Club
Horse Show, the first public horse show at the organization’s new
club house. The proceeds from the horse show were also offered the
following year. .

Mr. L. J. Marcuse, who had a Ikt of 2,500 prospective contribu-
tors, headed & financial campaign. By Novernber, $17,202.50 had
been pledged and $12,500 was on hand. A clothing fund was
established o receive donations of $25 and §30, donatioms to this
fund being posted on a “board™ made especially for this purpose
and placed in the Convalescent Hospital,

Other offers of help continued to pour in, Through the interest
of Mr, and M. W, H. Cardwell of Ginter Park, the Yellow Cab
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Company in 1923 began transporting patients to and from the
railway station free of charge. Later, free service by the Yellow
Cab Company was expanded,

For the benefit of the hospital, Miss Idear Steele Traylor in 1925
presented the Tray-Boy Dancing Schoel in five performances at the
Strand Thestre. The vacated “Piggly Wiggly” grocery store ad-
jacent to the theatre was rented for dressing room space. The show
netted over 33,000, This “Follies of 25" was said to be the mast
elaborate affair ever staged in Richmond, This was not the Grst of
the Tray-Bey shows for the benefit of the hospital. These shows
were quite an undertaking for the Auxiliary, with members even
making stage decorations as well as being invaolved in other marters
of production and promotion of the event,

Before the end of 1925, Kappa Delta increased it donation to
$2,400 annually for the support of four beds, and the Kiwanis Club
made a donation o suppart two beds.

At the November meeting of the Auxiliary, it was announced that
“ten girls forming a Junior League desire to form a Motor Corps
and zssist the Crippled Children's Hospital in this way." They be-
came involved in taking children from “Docley” to “Memorial”
each day for school lasses,

Miss Elizaheth Cocke was ocenpational chairman, and she and
her committee worked with the patients three mornings a week—
two at *“Memorial” with patients from the two hespitals and one at
the Convalescent Heepital. They taught basket weaving and the
making of wooden toys, At Christmas time Dr, Graham wag pre-
sented with a basket of toys for his office patients to make their
visits to the doctor more pleasant.

Mrs. Curry Thomas {Elabeth Gray Valentine}, chairman of
the Education Committes, was still invelved with volunteer teach-
ing, the volunteers augmenting the work of the teachers furnished
by the State Board of Education. { The Board of Trusters was pay-
ing half the salary of the teacher at the Convalescent Hespital. )

Mr. W, L. Austin, who had been madle a trustee and member of
the Executive Committee, gave a large tent in the summer of 1925
fer use as & carpentry shop for the boys at the Convalescent Hos-
pital. He also gave a well stocked tool chest and materials for
making more toys. Mr. Ellerson put much time and enthusiasm into
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a vegetahle garden on the grounds, which produced an abundance
of fresh vegetables all summer.

During this period, medical supervision at Crippled Children's
Hospital was provided by Dr. 5t. George Grinnan, head of pediatrics
at the Medical Cellege of Virginia, Dr, H. Norcon Mason, and later,
Dr. Howard Urbach. Dr. Walter Lyles was very conscientious in
comning o give the patients dental care,

Meanwhile, progress had been made in & new direction. In
August, 1824 Miss Dorothy Graves, a physiotherapist, had been
employed part time at the Convalescent Hospital and was getting
good results. This was the beginning of her career with Crippled
Children's Hospital as head of the physical therapy departrnent.
Except for several briel poriods when she went ebkewhers for study
and experience, this department developed and remained under her
supervision for 43 years until her retirement effective July 1, 1967,

Miss Hattie Belle Gresham was authorized again to go inte various
areas in the state 1o appeal for help, beginning October 1, 1525 and
continuing for the next nine months, However, the E:'-:en:uu'-': Com-
mittes made this decision with some hesitancy because of the grow-
ing development of orthopedic work in other localities. In May,
1926 Miss Gresham's work as field secretary was discontinued to
prevent conflict and confusion with other effors for crippled chil-
dren in the state, Mr, Ellerson stated that in his epinion no one, with
the exception of Dr. Graham, had done more for crippled children
in Virginia than Mis Gresham.
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Chapter V
GROWING PAINS AND PROGEESS

women who comprised the Board of Trustees of Crippled
Children's Hospital received notice of a called mesting to he
held on January 25 to discuss a conference scheduled at the TUni-
versity of Virginia on February 4. The purpose of the conference
was to organize a State Society for Crippled Children which would
probably afiliate with the International Society for Crippled
Children. ®
By means of a pamphlet and circolar letter, a number of organi-
zations in the state had been invited to send representatives to the
conference. Dr. Allen Fiske Veshell, instructor of orthopedic sur-
gery at the Univetsity and author of the pamphlet, had been
traveling about the state, meeting with various groupe in the in-
terest of orthopedics at the University of Virginia. He had met
with Dir. Ennion Williams, Dr, W. T, Graham, Dr. 'W. M. Smith,
Dr. L. T. Boyster, and Mr. Legh R. Page to inform them that
nothing was being done to relieve the deplorable eonditions of
crippled children in Virginia. e was quite surprised to learn of the
work of the Crippled Children's Hospital Association and the sup-
pert from the state. After apologies for belng uninformed, be sug-

E;"'.RLY in the year 1924, the twenty-two men and twelve

*The word "Internaticnal™ appears in the minutes, but since the Mational
Soci=ty Jor Eri.'p-pltﬂ Children had been fousdsd in 1971 from it m'i;:il. im
the Ohic Seciety Tor Crippled Children arganimd in 1515, this appeats to be
the initial attempt of the Mational Scciety 1o establish itsell in Virginia. Either
the mecretary ecred, the Mational Bociety originally envisioned international

sgpnn. e [hees  wess o sarrarabn ppddendg faeral e es e "IHI-H.u.l oF  tha
=opE,, of Lt Was = 3 snauinas ooEuniEEio. CELEYEr

psampinn, the Mzational Sociesy [or Crippled Childres did kecome cthe Ha-
tional Society for Eri.ppltd Childeen and Adults, prgonizing o Visginiza Eoglety
in 1924, {The Virginia Bociety is mow knows as the Virginin Easter Sesl
Bocizty for Orippled Children and Adults and is affilizted with the natioewids
feferation niw known as the Matiomal Easier Seal Society.) The Crippled

Children's Hospiinl in Richrsond has neser been connsciad with thay crganiza-
tion.
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gested thae they join forces at the mecting on February 4 to form
the Virginia Crippled Children’s Society.

Mr. H. W. Ellerson and Mr. Legh R. Page were selected to
represent the Crippled Children’s Hospital at the conference. Dr.
Willinms and Dr. Smith were requested to attend also.

After the conference, the Board of Trustees met in special session
on February 12 to hear the report of these gentlemen. They saw no
advantage in association with the Society for Crippled Children
and explained that if such an affliation were to be considered, the
present plan of operating the hospital would have to be radically
changed. It was also noted that of every daollar received as dues from
the various categories of membership in the Crippled Children's
Hosplial, twenty-five cenis would have to go to the International
Society, and none of this money would be returned to Crippled
Children's Hospital except in the form of “a limited number of
bulleting or apphcations.” In addition, Dr. Williams had noted that
approximately $25,000, the entire income of the Intermational So-
cicty for Crippled Children at that stage of its development, was
budgeted for salaries and traveling expenses of the officers of that
organisation.

One can imagine that such a situation did not stir the enthusism
of these men who had given and were giving their services volun-
tarily to help crippled children, and whe time and again had faced
deficits in funds to meet the operating expenses involved in the werk
to which they were dedicated. Therefore, & resolution was passed
that the best interest of crippled children in the state would be
served by the continued cooperation el Crippled Children's Hos-
pital with and tmder the State Board of Health.

Another proposa] of affiliation came from the Richmond Come-
munity Chest, and the hospital was asked to send representatives to
a meeting of the Council of Social Agchr_i:ﬂ in Richmond on May
20, 1924, Mr. Ellesson, accompanjed by a committee from the
Board of Trustees including Mr. Page, Mr. Marcuse, M. Carring-
ton, and Mrs. Baskervill attended this meeting. They reported 1o a
called, combined meeting of the Board of Trusters and the Auxiliary
cn June 3 that under the proposed constitution of the Richmond
Community Chest, payment of the hospital's large financizl obliga-
tiens could not be asured; and therefore, they felt it would be
unwise for the hospital 1o be included in this erganization. The fact
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that the hospital’s work was state-wide and was receiving support
from throughout the state as well as from a state appropriation was
an added influence which led the Board to reject membership in the
Richmond Community Chest.

Another problem developed by February and March of 1525
when there were rumblings throughout the state concemning co-
ordinatien of erthopedic work. By this time there were ten physicians
in Virginia specializing in this field, and some overlapping of clinics
in eertain areas was reported in the minutes of Crippled Children’s
Hospital. The State Rehabilitation Bureau was holding clinics
primarily for adults, but some children were also attending, There
was confusion as to what, if any, conmection these Rehabilitation
Bureau chnics had with those undertaken by the State Board of
Health with which the Crippled Children's Hespital worked so
closely.

These problems were discussed in a series of mectings ameng the
heads of the several State Boards, the orthopedic surgeons in the
state, representatives from the medical schools, and the Medical
Seciety of Vinginia, To prevent overlapping of services, the agencies
and surgeons involved agreed to the following procedures:

1. All clinics to be conducted by the Seate Board of Health and the
Rehabilitation Bureau with the knowledpe of each te aveid dupli-
catiom.

2, The state to be divided into ten zones and the work apportioned
to the ten orthopedic surgeons in the state, all of whom had volun-
teered their seTvices.

3. All children to be sent either v Memorial Hospital in Richmend
or the University Fospital in Charlotiesville,

4. No private clinics to be allowed the privilege of free hospitalization
of children.

In December, 1925 Mr. Ellerson anncunced that Dr. Graham
gradually would discontinue his clinics in Norfolk and Lynchburg to
avoid conflict with these regulations. There was some fecling that
the state was stepping in to ke charge of the work for needy
crippled children or to hand it over to others without giving the
Crippled Children's Hospital Assoclation an opportunity to raise a
voice. Some members feared that all they had fought for during
these early years was threatened. Bur, looking back on these events,
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one sees them shmply as some of the inevitable changes that were
bound te ocour as the work expanded.

Dr. William Morgan Smith, president of the Board of Health and
esteerned member of the Board of Trustees, reassured those present
at the Executive Committee meeting on March 17, 1925 that the
usefulness -of the organization would continue under the new ar-
rangement, and that its work would expand, Future years were to
prove him ecrrect, though he did net live to see it, passing away
later in that very year.

The following month in his annual report, Mr. Ellerson stated:

"I somuetimes think that Dr. Graham, when he hears the plans that the
Association makes for him, will wonder if we expect to divide him inte
aE Ay parts as the orthopedie work of the sae i now divided, and
he also must wonder if we expect him to give any time to his private
practice. T have found Dr. Grahem zlways ready o take on a little
extra work . , . and =0 I think we can make any plans that we please
for the future , , . with the full assurance that Dr, Graham will abways
be ready to serve us to the full extent of his ability.”

Mr. Ellerson’s report for the year 1925 revealed that, through the
combined efforss of Dr, Graham and the Crippled Children's Hee-
pital Association, 1,879 children had been given free care since July,
1818, Of these, 1,024 had been discharged, a large percentage of
them with decided benefits from the trestment received, For their
great contributions to the work, Mr. Ellerson paid tribute to Dr.
William Tate Graham and to Dr. Donald MacKenzie Faulkner,
who by this time was Dr. Graham's associate. He ako praised the
“untiring and intelligent” work of Mrs. Henry P. Carmrington, presi-
dent of the Amdliary.

Chapter V1
THE DREAM FULFILLED

of the Crippled Children's Hospital, for it was then that the

magnificent bequest of Mrs, James H. Dooley became avail-
able. Bhe was the wealthy citizen whose legacy had been made
known earlier o certrin trustees. Sallie May Dooley, upon her
death jn September, left the sum of RO00,000 to the Crippled
Children’s Hospital—3250,000 for the building and $250,000 as
an endowment for maintenance of the hospital to be located in
Richmond. This was, at the time, the maost liberal sum ever given
to & private charity in the state of Vieginia. The fulfillment of a2
dream was at hand.

Plans were made o purchase additional Jand adjacent to the
Convalescent Hospital on Brook Road, and a committee of five
wis appointed to suggest the size and scope of the new hospltal,
Serving an that committes were D, Graham, Mr, Ellerson, Mr.
Page, Mr, 1. ]J. Marcuse, and Mrs, Baskervill. Mesrs, Baskervill
and Lambert were appointed acchitects in December, and finally
in August, 1926, the hospital completed the purchase of 4.8 acres
of land from the Sherwood Land Company at a cost of §14,412.
This purchase gave the hospital almost 6 acres of property on
which to place fts new building.

Mr. Henry E. Baskervill, the architect, was inapired to désign
the hospital to resemble the Ospedale degli Innocentt in Florence,
Ttaly, including the della Robbia medallions acros the front portico.
The original structure was an orphanage and had been designed in
the 15th century by Brunelleschi, the architectural pioneer of the
Flarentine Renaissance. The delia Robbia medallian was destined to
become the symbol of Crippled Children's Hospital and its “open
arms™ extended to theee needing it help.

On Decernber 14, 1926 the Board of Trustees met to approve the
building plans and award the construction contract to Messrs,

THE year 1925 was the most significant year in the history
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Jones and Conguest, accepting their bid of $230,000 to build the
hozpital exclusive of the Nurses' Home.

The Dooley bequest did not solve every problem, however. To
help in meeting other financial obligations, & significant and tmely
gift of $22,717.93 was donated by Messrs. Joseph AL Dart, J. Luther
Moaon, Milton E. Marcuse, and Dr. H. Stuart McLean in October,
1926, Part of this donation went to the Sunshine Circle to help with
its §10,000 pledge to the hospital, a portion went to the Woman's
Axxiliary to equip the new hospital, and some was used for current
expenses. The gift was made anonymously, but the identities of the
men were known as well as the fact that they had raised the money
in thestock market by an investment made specifically 1o benefit the
hospital.

Part of the Dooley bequest was used to pay the note of §11,440
still outstanding from the purchase of the Convalescent Hespital
property. To build the MNurses' Home would cost $32,500. The
Executive Committee suggested that the Auxiliary might wish to
transter its equity in the Convalescent Hospital, approximately
$22,000, to the new Nurses’ Home and raise an additienal $10,500
to build that facility. The Auxiliary promptly accepted the proposal
The Bunshine Circle of the Kings Daughters offered to fumnish and
maintain the Nurses' Home, This offer was aceepted with deep
appreciation, and a motion was pased that a suitable tablet be
erected to mark this generois and valuable contribution,

Earlier, the financial records of the Board of Trostees had been
placed in the hands of Mm N. Randolph Wast { Dorothy Dame)
who in May 1926 had replaced Miss Gray Wright as exccutive
secretary and treasurer. Mrs, George F. Vose was in charge of fi-
nances for the Woman's Auxiliary. However, with increased and
varicd financial undertakings, the handling of all funds was dele-
gated to Mrs. Watt, who was elected o the Auxiliary to serve as its
treasurer akko,

A resolution was drafted in appreciation for the work of Mrs.
Voee, From 1921 through 1925, the Bed Endowment Fund, which
Mrs, Vose had cstablished, had grown to a sum of almost $33,000
and was the Auxiliary's largest source of income. At the same time,
it was sajd that she could “squeeze the buffalo off a nickel” in ex-
pending the funds of the Auxiliary.

At the Annual Meeting of the Board of Trustees on February 17,
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1927, when activities of 1926 were reviewed, Dr. Graham stressed
the work being done in the clinics which he was still conducting in
different parts of the state. He reported seeing 32 patients in Noe-
folk, 90 in Fredericksborg, 95 in Alexandria, 55 in Fairfax, and
379 in Lynchburg. In addition, Mis Ruby Shaner, the nurse em-
ployed by the Woman's Club Clinic of Lynchburg, had seen 512
patients. {The cleb was paying $300 a month for this work, and
many children from that area had been sent to Richmond for op-
erations and treatment. }

Mms. J. Luther Moen, having succeeded Mrs, Carrington as
president of the Auxiliary in 1925, reported that the Donation Day
held an Nevember 23, 1926 browght in over 3800, In addition,
Mrs. Ullman had secured centributions of groceries frem the
schools at Thanksgiving time, and these with some other denations
were valued st $500. In view of what was considered a very suc.
cessful endeavor, the Auxiliary decided to make the Donation Day
an annual event.

Mr. Ellerson said in his annual report:

“I fee]l mometimes that we do not recognize properly the tremendous
tontribution that the Medicat College of Virginia and the MMemorial
Hospital make to the cause of crippled children every year. However,
the extensive work that has bean done by them speaks for iself—but
I wish to record our appresiation of what they have done and are
still doing. The Orthopedie Staff of the Medical College of Virginia
each year make a large contribution to this work, but as individuals,
they are not identified with our association or especially with the work
5o far ag the public knows, but their contribution of time and skill which
calls for real personal sacrifice i greater than any other that we or
the generous publie gives, and I want to record our grateful apprecia-
tion to them for their services”

The cooperation of the eo-directors of the Medical College Hos-
pitals and Clinies, Dr. M. B. Jarman and Mr. James Ralph Me-
Cauley, also sccretary-treasurer the Medical College, was ex-
tremely helpful and greatly appreciated. (Dr. Jarman served the
coflege briefly. Mr. McCruley, however, served from 1905-1950.)

Mr. Ellerson added:

“With the increas=d work in view for our noble leader, Dr. W, T.
Graham, I hope that his ambitien may be neardy satisfied. I have often
thoughe that he would hke to give twenty-four hours of each day 1o
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crippled children, the cawse to which he has dedicated his life, so it
leaks to me as if we would have an opportunity of putting him to the
supreme test, Seriously speaking, | hope that the tax on Dr. Graham
may not be 8o great after we get into our own hospital, because I
think that he will be more necessary o us in future years even than
he has been.in the past, so we must do everything we con to conscrve
his health and prolong his life, and pray that he may be actively en-
gaged in the work Tor many years (0 come,”

In preparation for operating its own hospital, the Executive
Committee &f the Board of Trustess passed the following resolution
an February 18, 1927

Be it resolved that the Executive Committee of the Crippled Children's
Hospital delegate suthority to the Woman's Auxiliary to take entire
charge of the management of the Hospital, reporting as formerly to tha
Board of Trustees and in the absence of the Board of Trustess, to the
Executive Committee.

At this time it was also necessary 1o discuss an affiliation berween
the new Crippled Children’s Hospital and the Medical E-nIJege of
Virginia. A letter from Dr. William T. Sanger, president of the
Medical College, stated that 3 committee from that hospital was
ready to meet with representatives of the Crippled Children's Hos-
pital at any tme to discuss the matter of a relationship between the
two hespitals similar 1o that between the Medical College of Har-
vard and the Children's Hospital of Boston. Mr, Ellersos and Dr.
Graham were authorized to =ign such an agreement, which could
be terminated b':.- either party on twelve months notice.

For some time, Mrs, Baskervill had been urging the publication
of date concerning the needs of the hespital, since many people
had the erroneous idea that after the bountiful Dooley beguest, the
Crippled Children’s Hospital no longer needed help. She felt so
strongly the nced for setting forth thé hesplial's continued de-
pendence on public support that she gathered mformation for a
pamphlet which was completed in Septemnber, 1927, and an order
for 10,000 copies was approved. A picture of a little boy using a
- stick for a crutch and the words "Hopeless Lives™ were on the cover.
Inside was the story of hope and help provided by the Crippled
Children’s Hogpital and also the hespital’s appeal for help.

Te publicize Denation Day, postal cards were used to remind
prospectivie donors of the date and inform them of a central business
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location designated as a collection point for contributions. Many peo-
ple brought their donations directly to the hospital en Donation
Day, Donation Day—1927 vielded $1,387.50 with $200 motc
promised by the Austin Bible Class. The day was considered guite a
suecess!
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increased its membership to forty-five in February, 1928, Also at this
time, the Ginter Park Woman's Cleb offered to donate books and
maintain a library at the new hospital.

The first three staff members—the superintendent, Miss Ruoby
Shaner, her emistant and director of nurses, Mis Nancy McGehee,
and a housckeeper—reported for duty on February 15, 1923, Both
Miss Shaner and Miss McGehee were registered nurses from Lynch-
burg.

Mrs. Moon had investigated wags at other institutions, and
after dizcussion at a meeting of the Executive Committee of the
Board of Trustees, she was authorized to instruct Mis Shaner to
employ a cock, three maids, and two orderfies at the lowest wages
possible to obtain good help. This illustrates the manner in which
the hospital traditionally was operated; the Woman's Auxiliary
(later the Board of Managers), the Executive Committee of the
Board of Trostees, and the superintendent sharing in the larger
responsibilities of the management, and always endeavoring to use
the money entrusted to them as wisely as possible.

Fridav, May 11, 1928 from 2:00 unal &: 00 o'cleck was chosen
as the time for the formal opening of the Crippled Children's Hos-
pital, with refreshments and decorations to add to the festivities. The
John Marshall High Scheol Band was secured to perform in the
afternoon and the Skrine Chanters in the evening. [t was approxi-
mately nine years since the initdal group of concemed citizens had
met o organize aid for needy crippled children, and eight vears
since the mmrpm-.aUnn of the Crippled Children’s Hospital. The

dream of a new hospital exclusively for crippled children was now
a reality!

On Movember 15, 1528 bylaws were adopted by the Board of
Trustees establishing & Board of Women Managers composed of the
Executive Committee of the Woman's Auxiliary and two members
of the Board of Trustees. Details of these bylaws are set {orth in the
minutes of the Trustees for October 23, 1928,
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Crippled Children's Hospital, Richmond, Vi

Dr, Graham reported that the Medical College of Virginia would
coatinue to take eolored children at 51, Philip Heapital for one dollar
per day, and it was decided that an averzpe of fve children should
be kept at St. Philip if the need continued.

On March 14, 1929 the Board of Trustees held i annoal meet-
ing. Mr, Ellerson’s report af thas time is significant:

“LADIES AND GENTLEMEN—We are here to review the first
year's eperation of ouf ewn hospital, and we should a2l rejeies that
after many years of gradual growth our eferts have heen rewarded,
largely through the genevosity of M James H. Dooley, with plant
and nqui:_'-mq-::li [ar our work second o none n this CEREnLIY.

Those of us who hawve been essociated with Dr, Groham for many
vears can appreciate what hie untiring giill has meant o the crippled
children af our state, and although we have eontributed our mite, his
leadership has made it possible for us to reach our present usefullnes
in rehabilitating suffering and halples children,

It is not necessary for me 4o review in detail the work that is being
dong, for most of you are much mare active in it and contribuie & good
deal more than I do. A few statistics should be recorded hers in opder
that in years to coms thess reports can be eferred to when our sue-
cemors want to compare the growth of The Crippled Children's
Hospital,

Since Dr. Graham began, our record shows that we have rehabili-
tated and helped meterially 962 children. During the past year thers
have been admitted to the hospital 116 patients and 69 have been
discharged-— 74 operations have been pecformed, and the number of
days of hospitalizaton are aver 13,000, The average ool par patient
per diem was $2.85, This last itern has been matenally reduced and
today we are operating at & per diem cost which compares favorably
with the best managed hospitals in this city and probably elsewhare.
During the year we ame now considering, the entire physical manapge-
ment of the Hospital has besn put in charge [under the supervision]
of the Board of Women Managers, The results are the best evidence
of the wisdom of this action. Never in our history have our children
been in better shape, our property in better condition and our results
more gratifying-—and I want to offer our grateful appreciation o Dr.
Graham and his staff, to the Buperintendent and her staff, and to
Mz, Moon and her board,

Orur association with the Medical Collepe of Virginia as their
erthopedic department I fesl has besn mutually kelpful, and T think
as time goes on we will realize that this association will contribute very
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largely to our Duture usefulness and growth, and on the other hand,
I am =ere that the Medical Gollege of Vicpinia appreciates the splendid
facilities that we furnish them in the teaching and training of their
medical students and nurses.

The only disturbing factor in our present situation i3 our financial
cendition, T do not mean that it & alarming but, unfortunately, our
sources of income are not sufficient to take care of our expenses. You
will recall that when the Chairman of the Finance Committes pre-
sented the budget last year, we estimated an expense of §45,000 to
850,000 end our actual expenses for the year have been less than the
minimnim estimate viz: §42,188,92. We have borrowed money, how-
ever, Lo meet our current expenses and itowill be necestary for us to
raise -'Ldﬂ:'l'_innnll f:undls_tu pay this _dtﬁcit and, if p-mib!e, to augment
gur normal and fixed income o take care of expenses for the ensuing
vear, This part of the work, the men of the Board of Trustess propose
to undertake. In my opinion, it is a very small part as compared with
the great contribution made by the ladies of our organization.

For many vears we have faced & similar situation and inveriably
we have been able to pull through and make both ends mest. T hope
the time is not far distant when through epdewments and the gen-
ercsity of good people who are still alive, we will be assured sufficient
income to carry on our work, not only to the present extent of our
capacity, but that we may be able to enlarge to 2 congiderable extent,”

Following a statement concerning the drastic reduction in the
state appropriation to the Crippled Children's Heospital, Mr. Eller-
soy comneluded |

“It is a great privilege to be asociated with the splendid group of men
and women who are doing such a noble work for humanity, Few of us
realize the extent of our accomplishment, and we may never know
how much it has meant to great sumbers of [ittle children and their
parents. Your reward i, however, :n the zatisfaction of knowing that
you have unselfishly contnbuted hml: and meney n helping those
whao eould not help thernselves, ,

Eupecl[uﬂ}l subrnitted,

/m;

President
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Chapier VIT

SURVIVAL AND GROWTH
(The First 12 Years)

HERE was never a doubt that the new hospital would sur-

vive, but the great economic crisis in the nation had a defi-

nite influence on the operation during its carly vears. The
Executive Committee of the Auxiliary Lterally managed the hos-
pital, and every detail from a leaky faucet and balky furnace two
dishes and diapers came to its attention.

In November, 1928 this committee had assumed the additional
title of the Board of Women Managers and had acquired two mem-
bers elected from the Board of Trustess. All purchases had to be
authorized and all bills approved by the Board of Women Managers
before being paid by M Wart, The duties of this Board were set
forth as follows: “The Board of Women Managers shall have the
care of the patients and the charge of the hospital and grounds; it

chall rave P_ﬂl.uir tos desionare the duties of the aficers and smnlovess
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of the hospital connected with the above objects, with i'u]l au-
thority to employ and discharpe all such officers and employees. It
shall also have charge of all purchases made in connection with the
management and maintenance of the hospital.”

The perennial question then, and it was to remain thus through
the years, was where the women's responsibility ended and the
Board of Trustees took over, Tt is clear, however, from minutes of
the mestings that whenever a prohlem seemed to persist, Mr. Eller-
som, president of the Board af Trustess, would be called, and shortly
thereafter it would be reported that the marter had been resolved.
Anything that involved a substantial amount of money beyond the
guarterly allotment for operating expenses was referred to the
T'rustees for deliberation,

In 1929 and into the next decade, extreme frugality was the
canscant rule, When Mr. Philips, in charge of maintenance, asked
for a short hose, the ladies suggested he cut the leng hose (o get the
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length that e wanted, When the contractors estimated that a lattice
to screen the garbage cans would cost $148, the Board of Managers
suggested three cedar posts with wire on which ivy could climb.
Eventually a compromise was reached, and Mr, Philips built the
tattice. Frequently, réquested equipment was denied by either the
Board of Managers or the Board of Trustees becanse of lack ef
funds.

Miss Ruby Shaner’s resipnation as superintendent, after serving
only ten months, was accepted with regret in December 1928, Her
nssistant, Miss Nancy McGehee, assumed the post on Januvary 1,
15929 at a salary of §165 per month,

At her request, the Board of Trustees authorized the purchase of
ten additional beds so that the hespital's capacity could be rabsed o
sixty patients. Mis McGehee started the rose garden, buying the
first plants with §18 provided by the Board of Managers. She was
alsa given permission to pursue her idea of having an exhibit of the
children's work at the State Fair, marking the beginning of this
annual project in 1929, .

The total cost of operating the hospital in 1929 was §43,135.60
{no allowance [or depreciation}. The average number of patients
per day was 49 at a cost per patient per day of 3240, Though the
average length of stay for a patient wag three months, some stayed
for vears il a series of operations were necessary, if transportation
waz a problem, or if home conditions were not conducive 1o re-
tuperation.

At that time, patients were admitted to Crippled Children's
Haspital through the records of the Medical College of Virginia.

Onther statistics for the year 1929 were as follows:

Number of Patients Admitted . 114

Number of Patients Discharged .= 106

Cut-Patients Treated ... RS 54

MNumber of Operations ... e ag

Mumber of 2-ra98 e 193

Number of Casts Applied ... .. 2%

Number of Physiotherapy Treatments ... 1,848

Mumber of Braces Furnished .. . ... 23 at eost of $335.01

Number of Shoes Purnished ... 45 at cost of $161.62

Number of Days Free Hospitalization ... 17,885 plus 1,518 days at
5t Philip Hespital

50

The Crippled Children's Hesplital continued to provide funds 1o
keep five children at t. Philip Hospital, and records also indicate
continuing support for some patients at the Dooley Heospital,

Income from the endowment was about §18,000 per year. The
appropriation from the state, which was 85,000 in 1928, was in-
creased to §15,000 in 1930, Donatons provided the additional
funds necessary to meel gperating expenses of forty 1o fifry thousand
dollars per year.

The Auxiliary continued to raise money by any appropriate
means. They found that three to four hundred dollars coold be
realized each time a card party, 2 dancing schoel revue, or a garden
tour was sponsered. They went from royalty to Octapon Soap wrap-
pers in order to henefit the hospital, co-sponsaring with the Licns
Club a lecture by the Grand Duke Alevander of Russia, a hrother
of the late Cgzar, while also collecting Octagon Seap wrappers 10
obtain small refrigerators for the diet kitchens on each ward.

Sun lamps were considered valuable in treating the children, as
wis cod Jiver oil. This was called “Bottled Sunshine”, available at
$22.50 for a six months supply. Each patient received a dose every
morning. Though the children did not enjoy the ritual, the cod
liver oil helped to cure rickes, & bone disease affficting many of
them, The Vitamin I} in the cod liver oil promoted the necessary
ahsorption of calcium to strengthen the bones and was thus o bene-
fit to all patients,

Omne graduate nurse served a= both instructor and supervisor of
wards. When she resigned in 1930, two gradvate nurses were em-
ployed, one for each ward, 1o provide greatly needed supervision.

Dental care seems to have been sporadic at first. In June, 1930
after there had been no dentist at the hospital for six weeks ar
more, Mr. Ellerson was called. By Auvgust, it wes reported that
dental work was being done three times a week, This cane was very
important since many of the litle patients had never been to a
dentist and were suffering from dental neglect. The teeth of patients
who remained in the hospital for such long periods of time also
needed to be checked,

Their hair would have been unmanageable, a2 well as unusual in
that short hair era, if it had not been for the Barbers” Union. What
a sight to see twelve or ffteen barbers arriving with black kits in

iiEnal in
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hand once a menth to cut the children's hair as a service to the
hospital !

Ihe receiving of home canned foods began in 1927 under the
direction of Mrs. Vose. Jars were provided and deners filled them
year after year. The first year of the project yielded 550 jars of
canned frsits and vegetables, In 1931 over 2,000 quaris of canned
produce were received in this manner.

Volunteers helped to feed the children their mid-day meal, since
nurses artended classes at noon each day. Members of the Auxiliary
ako took children on automobile rides once or twice a week, and at
Christmaz time cach member was allowed three dollars to by
presents for three children.

Lambda Chi Omega Sorority, which began helping the ital
by endewing a bed in February, 1932, has ﬁtinu}:d ind. iniﬁpmd
its iid through the years,

By 1932, in the throes of The Depresion, it was necesary to
reduce salaries and borrow from the principal of the endowment
fund for operating expenses, The cost per patient per day went
down to §1.88. Some aid was received from the agencies created
by President Roosevelt's “Mew Deal®, The State of Virginia Emer-
gency Relief Administration (ERA) gave the hospital beef, butter,
eggs, and flour; there were three Civil Works Administration
{CWA) nurses; and Jater, a Public Works Administration {PWA)
part-time occupational therapy worker,

There was a very apparent need for more activitios and enter-
tzinment for the patients. To help meet this need, a Girl Seout
Troop was organized by Mrs, Milton Garey, ssisted by M. A, K.
Muhleman, both members of the Auxiliary, Shortly thereafter, Mr.
Childrey Seott, a trustee, organized a Boy Scowt Troop which for
a time met twice a week. Members of the Auxiliary visited the
children and helped them with erafis én two afternoons each week.
A Mr. Dan Jones, called “Unele Dan®, gave 1 monthly hirthday
party. The Ginter Park Presbyterian Church conducted Sunday
School each Sunday, a service which it and Union Theolegical
Seminary have continued throngh the years, Ginter Park churches
and the Ginter Park Woman's Club mended clothing and linens.
The Ginter Park Junior Woman's Club began participating to such
a degree that they were asked to send a representative to the Aux-
iliary in 1532,
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To brighten the hespital and help cheer the patients, art students
placed murals in each admimion ward, and panels given by the
PWA were accepted [or molation wards, The children were &ven
given & bull dog for a pet.

Mm. Douglas Vanderhoof gave ice cream every Sunday, a
beneveolence which she continued for over thirty years.

To help the children, the Junior Board of Crippled Children's
Hospital was organized in May, 1933, with a membership of
twenty-fve and Miss Cyane Williams [ Mrs. Emmest A, de Borde-
nave} ag president. The four members of the Auxiliary who as.
sisted in erganizing the Junior Board were Mrs, Frank Acree, Mrs.
A, Churchill Young, Jr. Mrs. Woodson Waddy, and Mre Curry
Thomas {nee Elzabeth Valentine and later 3rs. Moscoe A, Huni-
ley]. The primary functions of the Junior Board were tp assist in
feeding the children and to entertain them. To raise Tunds, their
first event wis a dog show, In June, 1934 they assumed the Gnancial
support of the Scout Troops, and in 1935 they took charge of the
craft clases ane day o weelk.

At about this time, motion picture theatres began to open on
Sunday, and in 1954 the Auxiliary was asked to sponsor Sunday
movies at the Loew's Theatre. Members of the Auxiliary were
scheduled to be at the theatre on Sunday alternoons to assurz the
public that procesds were going to charity. Patronizing a theatre on
Sunday was considered by many to violate the proper observance
of the day. The contribution to charty made Sunday movies more
acceptable. In October, §352 was received from the Sunday movies
at Loew's and in December, $807. Later the hoapital aleo henefited
weekly from Sunday movies at the Carillen Theatre. By February,
1935 about 34,000 had been received from Sunday movies,

Meanwhile the superintendent and anesthetist, Miss Nancy Me-
Gehee, had resigned en September 15, 1933 o become a full time
anesthetist at the Medical College of Virginia, To temporarily il
the gap in administration, Mis Virginia L. Williams, assistant super-
intendent, was made director of nurses and alse had entire charge of
the children and the operating room. Mrs, Charles R, Huoghes (the
former Mrs. N. Randolph Watt), the treasurer, was responsible for
clothing, linens, and purchase of supplies while Miss Laura Hyde,
the howsekeeper, amumed the supervision of “servants”, cleaning,
and the Nurses’ Home, This was a temparary arcangement until
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February, 1934 when Miss Williams was appointed superintendent.
Misg Josephine Sherrard, who had come to work at Crippled Chil-
dren's Hospital in Septembser, 1930, was appointed night supervisor,
a post she was to keep until her retirement in 1968,

Mr. H. Watkins Ellerson, vear alter yeer, had attempted to resign
but had -been persuaded to continue as president of the Board of
Trustess. In June, 1935 he succeeded in withdrawing from this
responsibility, having served for fifteen years, One of his contempe-
raries said of him, “He was the kindest, most penerous man I ever
kmew. In my whole life, | nevar met such a man as ke’

Mr. Ellerson was succeeded by Mr. Legh R, Page, attorney for
the First and Merchants Naticnal Bank and a charter member who
had served as vice-president sinee 1922, Mr. Fred W. Scott Jr. was
elected first vice-president and head of the Finance Committes; and
Mr. Jaquelin E. Taylor, second vice-president in charge of buildings
and grounds, At the same meeting, a suggestion was made to publizh
for the annual meeting a leafier which could be used alo for the
following Donation Day appeal and throughout the year to nform
anyone interested in the work of the hospital.

The first major project in Mr. Page’s administration was the dis-
cusion snd planning of a new wing to be deveted to patients with
pulmonary and joint or bane tuberculosis. At the time, there was no
place in the state for children with thiz combination of diseases. In-
cluded in the plans was an addition to the Nurses' Home to house
the additicnal nurses which the new wing would reguire.

Final fgures for the cost of the new ward and the addition o the
MNurses” Home came to $66,216.68, with Jones and Conquest as
contractors, The Woman's Auxiliary pledged 313,200, which was
more than enough to build the Nurses” Home addition, The trustees
were able to put together §45,000 from general solicitation and a
large anonymous contribution of 25,000, leaving just over §8,000
to be raised. The new ward was occupied in 1937 and called the
Williarn Tate Graham Ward.

By May, 1938 some changes in organization were indicated. The
Board of Trustees, which had met sporadically at times and fre-
guently only when there was a demand upon them, adopted a regu-
lar schedule of meetings. The Woman's Auxiliary and the Beard of
Women Managers were combined into a single Board of Managers
with respansibility for gencral patient care and speration of the
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hospital. Responsibility for the professional care of the patients re-
mained under the supervision of the surgeon-in-chief, Dr. William
Tate Groham.

Bince D Graham had suffered serious illness, he was asked to
appoint an assistant surgeon-in-chiel, Dr, Donald MacKenzie Faulk-
ner was the unanimous choice of Dr. Graham snd the Board of
Trustees, Other physicians who were particularly active at Crippled
Children’s Hospital during this era were Dr, Blaiv Fits and Dr,
T. B. Dalton, 5r.

New bylaws were adopted, spelling out what had become general
practice, and a Finance Committee was created to take the place of
the former Executive Committes of the Board of Trustees, The new
committee was composed of Mr. Legh B. Page, Mr, Fred W. Scott,
Jr., Mr. Jaguelin E. Tavlor, Mr. Childrey Scott, Mrs, J. Luther
Moon, Dr. W, T. Graham, Mr. J. . Hummel, and Dr. David
Morton. The committer was responsible for the Investment of the
endowment, and it isved quarterly to the Board of Managers suffi-
cient funds to operate the hospital. This amounted to $16,000 per
quarter with a census of abaut 100 patients. Anything mvolved in
running the hospital, other than routine matters, was brought to the
Finance Commirtee for deliberation. The Board of Managers Execu-
tive Committee met almost weekly ta artend to general management,
anid the office work was handled by Mrs, Hughes, the secretary- -
treasurer. In 1930 ghe asked that her work be redoced to twe and
three quarter days per week, and a full-time secretary was added
at a salary of 365 per month.

To break the monotony, State Senator G. Walter Mapp of Ac-
comac gave the hospital a boat trip down the James River. Dr.
Graham, five nurses, and twenty-four children were able to go on
this special excursion, Both Bill “Bejangles™ Robinson and the team
of "Amos and Andy™ visited the hospital and entertained the pa-
tenis,

There was a8 paid supervisor in hand-crafis and a shop where
articles made by the patients were sold. Seventy-five peroent of cach
sale went to the maker of the article and twenty-fve percent, to a
fund for materials and equipment. The Ginter Park Junior Woman's
Club zssisted with crafts three afternoons a week.

This was the Roosevelt era, and zince President Franklin T
Roosevelt was a victim of polio, having contracted it in 1921, he
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backed the annual campaign 1o fight the discase. This campaign,
sponsored by the new Mational Foundation for Infantile Paralysis,
wias called “The March of Dimes”, The Foundation ako raised
funds through "The President's Birthday Ball”™ held annuslly in
locathons throughous the nation, Crippled Children's Hogpital co-
operated by sponsoring the Balls in Richmond, members of the
Board of Managers assuming key responsibilities from 1936 into the
early 1940s, In return, the hespital received half of the total pro-
ceeds, approximately 81,000 each year.

In 1932 Mr. Jaquelin Taylor was authorized to accept the lowest
bid for hard-surfacing the front gravel drive, which at one tdme had
been covered with cinders from the R. F. & P. Railroad, The hard
surface was o long delayed improvement.

At about this time, Mr. Scott meved from the city, creabing a
vacancy in the office of the fict vice-president, Mr. Taylor moved
inte this position, and Mr. Zack Toms was made second vice-presi-
dent and responsible for a great many repairs to the building and
B pITIeTE.

At the request of Dr. James T, Tucker, & camera was purchased
so that pictures could he made of patients, before and after treat-
ment, This was dene in Beston and soon became a routine procedure
in Richmond, bearing witness to the dramatic results being achieved
by the surgeons in eorrecting deformitics,

During these years, death teok several of the hospital's most faith-
[ul friends. Mr. George F. Vose died on January 15, 193], He and
M=, Vise had been among the organizers of the Crippled Chil-
dren'a Hospital, He had been an extremely faithful trustee, end his
will specified that a large sum of money be left to the hospital, sub-
ject to the life estate of his wife. The Trustees resolved that the
bequest, when received, should endow a new ward or department
and be known oz “The Vose Memorial, In Memory of George F.
Viose and Eloise Fauntleroy Vose,” {They were to wait twenty-four
vears before it became a reality with the construction of the Vose
Memorial Chapel-Anditorium. A multipurpose area, this addition
woitld serve the varied needs of the children, the staff, the Board
of Managers, Trustees, and many others, for mectings as well as
other activities, )

Mrs. Emanuel U, Wallerstein {nee Alice Marcuse, daughter of
L. J. Marcuse) died two years lacer. She had been a faithin] volun-
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teer, working with crippled children even before the hospital was
organized and continuing her interest and auppart over the years.
A pool and fountain in her memory were proposed but never ma-
terialized. The Hitle memorial fountain in the rose garden was
unveiled in March, 1939 in memory of M. Milion Garey {Eliner
Ball) who had given so much of herself to the Gid Scout Troop
and to the development of the garden, {She had died the year
before.) The hospital lost another valuakble friend when Mr, Irving
Straus of the Board of Trustess aleo died about this time.

Organized activities were necessary for patients recuperating
from operations or receiving therapy. To help in entertaining them,
the Elks gave an Easter Party on Easter maorning in 1939, an cvent
which became a tradition, The Junior Board sponsored a Benny
Goodman Concert which may have inspired an attemnpt to start an
orchestra for the patients. An advertissment requesting donations of
instruments yielded three ukeleles, two mandoling, one guitar, and
one banjo. The result was a boys” band of stringed instruments, The
boys also had an electric saw for use in earpentry, These activities,
along with regular school classes conducted by teachers Turnished
by the State Board of Education, helped o keep the young patients
busy.

Much progrem had heen made in the dozen years in which the
hoepital had eccupied jig new building on Brook Read. In addition
to keéeping pace with developments in orthopedics, the medical staff
had gained the services of Dr. J. Shelton Horsley, Jr, and D, Harry
J. Warthen, Ir., who in the mid-thirties began plastic surgery work
at the hospital. It had acquired a major addition, the William Tate
Graham Ward, and had more than doubled its census, The hospital
had also weathered The Depressicn years and now stood ready to
face “The Farties”,
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Chapter VIIT
“THE FORTIES”

Crippled Children's Hespital with one word, the word prob-

ably would be “change”—change due primerily to death,
illness, and World War IT in the first half of the decade ond to
rising coste and expansion of facilities in the latter half

The untimely death of Dr. Donald MacKenzie Faulkner in 1540
was said to be the greatest blow the hospital had sustained. Before
the year was out, the hospital alo suffered the loss of Dr. J.
Shelton Horsley, Jr. and Dr. Karl Blackwell, both of whom had
given freely of their time and kill to the patients.

Miss Virginia Williams, supesintendent, was forced by a back
injury to resign in 1940, but she was able to continue her career
in the field of nursing and public health. The Board of Trustess
appointed a committee composed of Dr. James Asa Shield, Mr.
J. P. Hummel, and Mr. Jacquelin Taylor to go to Dr. Graham and
ask him to find & permanent superintendent and also to recommend
an sssistant surgean-in-chiel to replace Dr., Faulkner,

Mim Annie B, Rice, assistant superintendent, was in charge until
March 15, 1941 when Mi= Margaret Wason hecame the new
superintendent with & greater degree of authority than her prede-
cessors. Under Miss Wanon's supervision, the doctor’s quarters and
an isolation ward on the second floor were converted into rooms
for cardiac patients, the victims of rheumatic fever. The doctor’s
quarters were moved to the first floor. It was 1941 before anyone
thought of purting a lock on the front door and a door bell.

Miss Rice married in May and continued in the post of assistant
superintendent until August, 1941, when she resigned. It is mter-
esting to note that later that month the Executive Committer of
the Board of Managers adopted a resolution that the hospital should
not employ married women as superintendent, astistant superin-
tendent, or wand supervisors. If a nurse in one of these poeitions

IF it were necessary fo describe this period in the history of
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were to marry, she was expected to resign if she could be replaced
with an unmarried nurse. Other strict rules governed the activities
of all nurses living in the Nurses® Home, including a tén o'clock
curfew unles special permission had been granted.

Miss R. Karleen Ingersoll replaced Miss Rice as assistant super-
intendent on August 1, 1941, but she wes guickly promoted to the
position of superiniendent and a salary of §180 a month when
Miss Margaret Watson resigned on April 15, 1942, This marked
the beginning of Miss Ingersoll's tenure of twenty-five year, frst
as superintendent and then administrator of the hespital. She had
come to Crippled Children’s Hospital after fourteen years of service
at the Shriners Hospital in Springfield, Massachusetts. Miss Inger-
soll set about establishing a closer working relationship with the
Board of Managers, and in October she was Invited to attend one
meeting per month of its Executive Board so that she could present
perzonzlly her requests for purchases.

Mizs Ingersoll alsp immediately took steps toward having the
hospital join the American Hospital Association and acquire official
accreditation. In o report written much later, she wrote:

"In 1923, after I became superintendent, 1 asked Dr, Willlam Tate
Graham, who was ill, if T could request a formal inspection of the

hoepital far 4 national rating, We had alwaw baen comgidered o Grade
A hospital, but being & specialized one, had never had formal inspec-
tion and rating, according o former superintendents, 1 filled ows the
papers from Chicago, and we had the inspection some months later.
D, Graham was well enough to meet the inspectar with me when he
came, The hospital pased the requirements which gave us 2 aational
rating and listing.”

The occupational therapy program at that tme was totally in-
adequate to meet the need. The small solarum at the end of the
main corridor was equipped as a workshop, and there was a part-
time therapist, Miss Sue Hurt, who was a gradoate of the Phila-
delphia School of Occupational Therapy. She resigned to organize
and develop an occupational therapy deparmment at the Richmond
Professional Institute {now the Academic Division of Virginia
Commonwealith University), but before leaving, she urged that a
full-time oceupational therapist be employed. For an interim period
in 1941, Mis Hurt returned to the hespital and gave her tme
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without payment from nine to twelve each morning ta help fill the
gap until a permanent eecupational therapist could be found. The
Beard of Managers attempted to give her a gift of meoney. When
sht would not accept it, the money was wed to purchase a bicycle
saw for the worlshop,

For tle Board of Managers many things remained the same, but
there was alo progress and change. M. Moon was aothorized
in 1941 by the Beard of Manngm to have printed 2,000 annual

FEmOrs fre dlprrihasiom o slhnns daslooard sl o 'I:I'___I el da_al-_
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this was the first time that annval reporss had been printed or
circulated in any quantity. The geal for Donation Day was 36,000,
It was considered significant progres when M, B, Dan Jones of
the Board contacted counties for assistance, resulting in contribu-
tions totaling §1,175.

I'n December, 15941 it was anmounced that the National Founda-
tion for Infantile Paralyss planned to organize chapters throughout
the country to implement the President's Birthday Ballk and the
March of Dimes. Proceeds from the losal Ball would be retained
by the local chapter to aid infantile paralysie victime, The Board
of Managers again cooperated in sponsoring the Ball in 1942, as
they had since 1936, The Junior Board =ent out all the invitations
for the Ball and placed donation boxes im stores and banks for the
March of Dimes. In April, 1942 Mrs. Moon reported that the hos-
pital had received 35,580 from the Richmond Chapter of the
Foundation for Infantile Paralysis, In subtequent years, the Boards
helped with the March of Dimes, stationing members in a donation
booth in Miller and Rhoads Department Store for two weeks until
this practice was replaced in 1953 with *The Mothers® March".

For many years, an enormous inventory of clothing was required
for patients in the hospital. It was also the practice to furnish the
children with complete outfits upon digcharge, because their families
often were unable to provide adequate elothing. Wear and tear in
the hospital and frequent laundering contributed o the need for
clothing in great quantity, At one time, Miss Ingersoll requested
300 beys shirts per year. Many dresses were also needed as well as
hespital gowns, The most economical means of furnishing this
clothing was to buy material wholesale, cut out the garments, and
have them made by volunteer groups. Women of the First English
Lutheran Church made 166 hospital gowns in 1941, As early as
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15951, they were sewing for the hospital, and at this writing, they
arc still continuing. Mrm. George 5 Kemp was in charge of pro-
viding dresses, foliowed by Ms. Neil D Sills. Mrs. Kemp became
chairman of gowns, cutting them out by the hundreds.

Many changes were precipitated by World War II. During the
summer of 1941, the resident doctor was called into the army and
coiild not be replaced. As a consequence, the stalf doctors per-
formed fewer operations, and the avernge census went down to 78
However, Dr. Harry J. Warthen, Jr. did “quite a number™ of hare
lip and cleft palate operations during this time, Tn 1943 Dr, Leroy
Smith, plastic surgeon, joined the active stafl and began his long,
continuous and valuable association with the hespital. {He had
studied under Dr. J. Shelton Horsley, Jr. and served a rotating
internship in 1937 and a vear's residency in 1938-39 ar Crippled
Children's Hospital. )

It was necessary to have auxiliary lighting for use in air raid
practice alert “black-outs™ when use of electric lights was pro-
hibited. Dark window coverings were reguired =o that from the
outside, light from candles and oil lamps would be obscured. Kero-
sene lamps were purchased for the wards, and Mr, Childrey Scott
offered in the event of an actual air raid to have three Boy Scotts
come to help at the hospital, Because of gesoline rationing and
the priority on tires, the Executive Board of the Board of Managers
began meecting bimonthly instead of weekly, Wages and salaries
were ncreased repeatedly to prevent persomnel from leaving for
higher pay elsewhere. In the spirit of the times, the Junior Beard
raiged §134 by raffling off a $25 Defense Bond. In view of rising
eosts, it was fortunate thae Me, N, W. Martin repaired the roof
free of charge, a benevolence that became a habit with him and a
continued blessing to the hospital.

The Sunshine Circle of the King's Daughters continued its usual
support, furnishing all needs for the Nurses' Home. In 1945 the
Circle decided to make Crippled Children’s Hospital its sole con-
cern and changed ite name to the Sunshine Circle of Crippled
Children’s Hospital, This group alse re-equipped the dental clinic,
the original equipment having been donated by Kappa Delia
Sorority in 1929,

Miss Bess Cowley, the Kappa Delta who was ¢lected to mem-
bership in the Woman's Auxiliary in 1922, had served as the
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sorority’s represeniative to the Auxiliary from 1921-192%, Hannah
Paxton Steele had served as Kappa Delia representative to the
Board of Managers from 1930-1037, succeeded by M D, A,
Dutrow from 1537-1941. In [941 Mm. R. Harrison Marks, Jr.
was appointed to fill this post, serving until 1946, when the author
of this hiktory, Mrs. Edward Beeves Adams, became Kappa Delta's
representative. She held the post from 1946-1953. Mre. Adams
was elected to membership on the Board of Managers in Septem-
ber, 1548 and continued to serve as the sorority's representative
until relinquishing the poer to hecome president of the Board in
1953,

Ameng other groups and individuals whe were active in “the
forties” was the Ginter Park Garden Club, which tosk the formal
garden as its project during the decade. Dwarl boxwoods were
donated by Mrs. Witcher Dudley of the Board of Managers.

On the professional level, in order to comply with requirements
of the American Hospital Asociation for hospitals with an A-1
rating, the bylaws covering the medical staff were amended,
stating in black amd white the exclusive authority of the profes-
sional staff in matters “of admitting and discharging patients,
students’ instruetion . . . and any and all things connected with
the operating rooms, Xe-ray Department, and Pathelogical De-
partment.” It was also stated that “the profesional stafl of the
hespital shall recommend to the Board of Managers the employ-
ment and discharge of all officers and employees serving in such
Department, and the purchase of all apparates and supplies used
therein.”

The year 1944 was marked by the deaths of both the president
of the Board of Trustees and the president of the Board of Man-
agers. Mrs. J. Luther Moon died in March ending twenty-five
years of devoted service to crippled children, She had been present
at the At meeting of concermed citizens in 1919, had served on
the Board of Trustees since its inception, had organized the Sun-
shine Circle, and had held the office of president of the Woman's
Auxiliary and its succesor, the Board of Managers, for eighteen
years. “Her kindly manner and interest in all that pertained to the
hespital were an inspiration to all, Her devetion to its work never
waivered." Later in the year death also claimed Mr. Legh R, Page,
president of the Board of Trostees. A charter member of that
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Board and vice-president from 1922 until he became president in
1333, Mr. Page had given generously of his time and energy in
behall of the hospital, which had depended greatly on his wisdom
wrd leadership, Blue prints of gates to be placed at the entrance of
the hospital in memory of Mrs, Moon and Mr. Page were sub-
mitted several years later to the Trustees, but erection of these gates
was postponed indefinitely.

Mre. James E. Roberts, first vice-president of the Board of Man-
agers, succeeded to the office of president of that Board. Mr, James
M. Ball, Jr. became president of the Board of Trustees and soon
instigated regular monthly meetings of the Finance Committee,
composed of Mr. Ball, Mr. H. Hiter Harris, president of First and
Merchants National Bank, Mr. Harry H. Augustine, Mr. Jacguelin
E. Tayler, Mr. Irving May, Dr. Graham, and M. Roberts. Mr.
Milten Garey was chairman of buildings; Mr. May, of grounds;
and Dr. John Bell Williams, of the Hospital Committee.

The new year, 1945, brought the same old story of continuing
increases in expenses. The Board of Managers had required $96,000
to operate the hospital in 1944, and the need for 1945 was estimated
at $10B,000. In addition, a refrigeration room was considered al-
most & necessity, The Trustees granted 354,000 to operate for the
first half of the year, after which the situation would be reviewed.
The relrigeration room was built in 1945 at & cost of about $8,000.

Meanwhile, there were other developments. A report written by
Miss Ingersoll states, “In 1945, I ashed the Trustees to employ =
teacher in record librarian work. She was employed for a peried
of one year, and we worked together coding charts for that year
and two years previously,” At about the same time a one year
orthopedic residency program was established in cooperation with
the Medical College of Virginia with the understanding that the
resicent doctors would have two years of adult orthopedic trzining
at the College followed by one year in children's orthopedics at
Crippled Children's Hospital. According to Mis Ingemsoll's report,
“Previously, interns and residents had been hired, but they received
no credit for their time at Crippled Children's Heospital.” Because
of this situation, it had been very difficult 1o get applicants,

Dental work was discontineed for a time in 1946, because the
demands of the government on the Dental Department of the
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Medical College of Virginia were so great that the men could not
be spared, but it was resumed in 1947 under D, Robert 1, Miles.

The annual report for 1946 recorded the average number of
patients as 38, with 185 admisions and 180 discharges, New X-ray
equipment had been purchased and the Donation Day appeal had
raised £14,000,

Mrs. H. Estes Dudley {Catherine James Dudley) was elected
president of the Beard of Managers in 1947, The Board assumed
responsibility for securing an adequate supply of blood for the
hospital, a new pamphlet was published, and Miss Ingersoll made
o trhip to the southwestern part of the state, conlacting doctors to
inform them of the facilities available for children in need.

Dr. Graham hecame ill in the spring of 1947, and later fell and
broke his hip so that it was May of 1948 belore he was reported
as attending meetings again. Dunng this peried, the post of ortho-
pedic resident was filled in successon by Dr. William M., Deyerle,
Dy, William E. Daner, and Dr. Eamest B, Carpenter, all of whom
were to become and remain active on the staff of Crippled Chil-
dren’s Hespital, Staff meetings were held once a month. A report
of 1544 stated that twice each month, doctors made formal mounds,
The state Orthopedic Society held its annual meeting in Richmend,
with itz headquarters at Crippled Children’s Hospital in 1948,

By this tdme the demands on the one secretary in the office had
become entively too great. It was necessary to employ an additional
secretary o serve also as receptionist, The coal per patient per day
was running about 3543, not including depreciation, when in
Muy, 1948, the Finance Committee decided that depreciation
should be included as an jtem in the operating cost. In addition,
expensive drugs, a raise in salaries, and meeting the need for a
qualified occupational therapist contributed to Inereased operating
costs. By July, 1948 quarterly costs had risen to §42,000.

The two small solariums that were used for occupational therapy
and physical therapy had become completely inadequate, and re-
modeling the existing space was deemed impractical, Therefore, the
Trustees’ chairman of buildings, Mr. Milton Garey of Baskervill
and Son, was asked to explore the cost of crecting an additon for
these facilities and other propesed improvement. B, May re-
quested that a swimming pool be included in the estimate. Mr.
Garey’s initial plans were considered too elaborate, necessitating his
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preparation of more modest proposals, OF the fve additions pro-
posed, the Board of Managers in consultation with Miss Ingersoll
decided  that three were absolutely necessary—the oceupational
therapy, physical therapy, and recovery rooms. Mr. Landon B
Funsten, who had become a trustee in 1945 and was chairman of
the Grounds Committes, was made chairman of the Building Com-
mittee for the additdons. Mr. William Frazier was appointed cam-
paign chairman to raise the funds.

Other significant events of “the forties” included a demation of
51,000 from the Woman’s Auxiliary to the Richmond Academy
of Medicine, one of many similar contributions to the hospatal
from that organization through the years,

Miss Ingersoll encouraged the celebration of holidays i as
festive 2 manner as posible, Although Kappa Delra Sorority had
given many parties for the children for many years, the Halloween
party in 1242 may have been the first of its kind. Patients were
allowed to stay up until nine o'clock, and there were costumes for
all, elaborate decorations, typical Halloween games and reiresh-
ments, and a variety show. For more than twenty years, the Elinor
Fry School of Dance presented a revue as part of. the Halloween
entertainment sponsored by Kappa Delta, Very young patients had
their party on Graham Woard in the afternoon, These parties be-
cirmne traditional.

In addition to the Easter haskets given by the Elks Club to each
patient on Easter momning, there was a new Easter frock for
each young lady. Easter comsages provided by the Ginter Park
Junior Woman's Club added to the traditions not denied the
patients of Crippled Children’s Hespital. Eggs for the Eagter egp
hunt became an annual donation from Jaseph W, Bliley, Funeral
Directors, which has continued to send donations of food 1o the
hospital on a regular schedule through the years.,

Misz Ingersoll began the tradition of invitng the governor and
his wile to the Christmas party and instigated the annual Christ-
mas pageant. In 1947 the Kiwanis Club gave $775 for Christras
presents for the children, and Misz Ingersoll was authorized fo
buy presents and clothing which paticnes could take home, Any
money Jeft over was to he set aside in a speeial fund, The Kiwanis
Club's wery generous annual Christmas denations have continued
to make Christmas “extra special” at Crippled Children's Hespital.
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For many years napkins were made at the City Jadl from ma-
terigl purchesed by the Linen Committee of the Board of Man-
agers, and Kappa Deltas all over the nation made tray covers with
attractive appliqués for the children’s trays. Large inventories and
much laundering were required until the advent of paper dispos-
able jiems.

Air conditioning, installed in the operating room in 15346, was
pronounced satisfactory in 1947 after adjustments. The Northside
Lionz provided the funds to purchase new sterilizing equipment for
the operating room. Through the years, this organization has made
substantial donations to the hospital for many other improvements
too numerous to record here. Alsy in 1947, Kappa Dela's annual
gilt, which had remained at a level of $3,000 since 1931, was in-
creased 1o §3,600.

With increased professional care of patients and Junior Board
activity as well as that of other volunteers, it was no longer neces-
sary for members of the Board of Mamagers to help with the chil-
dren as in former davs, They missed the contact and made a
fiumhber of attemnpts from time te time to involve themselves again
with the patienis, but each of these cfiorts was short lived. How-
ever, Mrs. Henry Fairfax, 2 member of both the Board of Trustees
and the Board of Managers since the early days, “made rounds®
once a week with lolly-pops for everyone. She thus established a
unigue relationship with both patients and staff. Mrs, Fairfax's
visity comtinued decade after decade until she was no longer
physically ahle to come to the hospital.

The library, which was housed in a closet on the corvidor o
Girls Ward, received extensive attention from three members of the
Board of Managers: Mre, Edward H. Gunst, Miss Irene Reee, and
Mrs. Edward Reeves Adams In ensuing years, the Story League,
the Junicr Board, the Brandon Woman's Club, and the New-
comer's Club were to contribute innumerable hours o the library
and to effors to arouse the patients’ interest in reading, The library
was moved to the former occupational therapy area after the addi-
tion of new therapy rooms.

Some new beds and crnbs were bought with funds from the
Junior Board, Kappa Delta, the Virginia Federation of Junior
Woman's Clubs, and the family of Mr, I, J, Marcuse,

Druring this era, the Junior Beard's annual fund raising event
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was & card party, a huge affair yielding approximately $1,000.
Among other projects, the Junior Board continued its work with
the Girl Scout Troop.

Additional funds became available annually when the Crippled
Children's Hespital was fortunate to receive a share of the net
income from the Davenport Memorial Fund, {ollowing the death
of Mr. Isanc Davenport in 1947 at the age of 90 years.

As public relations director, Mrs. Roy C. Flannagan was em-
ployed from February, 1949 undl August, 1950, She put together
2 striking brochure of fine quality with the della Robhia medallion
embosed upon it. Plans were made to send it to all physicians in
the state, editors of publications, trust officers, county superin-
tendents of welfare, lawyers, members of the Boards of Crippled
Children's Hospital, end others whoe would be interested or in-
fluential,

Inevitably, the hospital suffered the lass of a number of dedicated
trustess, One of these, Mr. Henry E. Baskervill, architect of the
hospital, died on MNovember 30, 1946, Tt was said of him that he
had watched over the building of the hospital "as if it were his own
home™ and was ever ready to consider changes regardless of the
time or trouble that this entailed. He had visited other institutions
and drawn upon the experience of others to provide the best for
the Crippled Children’s Hospital. Ako Mr, Isaac J. Marcuse, a
charter member of the Board of Trustees, died August 24, 1948, He
had served as secand vice-president for ten yesrs and was a generous
contributor 35 well a8 chairman of the Finance Committee in its
carly years. And in October, 1948 the Board lost twe additional
charter members: Mr, Jehn M. Miller, Jr., chairman of the Beard
of the First and Merchants National Bank, and Dr, Stuart McGuire,
Meanwhile the Board of Managers recorded the pasing in 19408 of
Mrms. R. C. Wight®, credited with the formation of the Mending
Committee in the early years, This committer compeosed of women
from various churches has continued to function,

Following the death in November, 1948 of Mr. Landon Funsten,
chairman of the Building Committee for the proposed additions,

hire. Wight [Pocaboatas Wilkon Wight) was a direst deseendans af Johp
Rolfe apd the Indian prinesss, Pocshontzs, Her daughies, Vieginia Wight
Lmls (Mrs. A. Wade Lamb, Jr.) costipuss on the Boord haviag served as its
president.
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Mr, Paul E. Miller, & new member of the Board of Trustess, was
appointed to the post, Shortly thereafter, Mr. Miller was also ap-
pointed to the Executive Committee, the former Finance Com-
mittee of that Board. Graham Brothers was awarded the comtract
to build the addition, and ground was broken in May of 1949, Mr,
James M. Ball, Jr. and Dy, John Bell Williams continued in office
aa president and first vice-president respectively; and Mr. Willizm
Frawier, second vice-president, Before the decade was over, they
expected that the new facilities would be completed and fune-
toning,

itH

Chapler TX
“THE FIFTIES”

T was not until March, 1950 that the physical therapy, oceu-
pational therapy, and solation and recovery rooms weré res
ported almeost fimished, The construction cosl was approxi-

mately $60,000. All equipment was donated. The hospital had not
acguired the swimming pool which Mr. Irving May had proposed,
Tang through the generous donation of about §3,000 from the
Junior Board, an Ille Tank was installed i which a patient could
be submerged, limbs exercised, and the water agitated to stimulate
|.1l:i|.[i|'|g.

Dir. Graham was quite ill in St. Luke's Hospital in September,
1949, Although he had improved by the spring of 1550, it was
deerned advisable to name Dr, H. Page Mauck as acting surgeon-
tr=chiel.

[ 1950 the Active Medical Staff was: Ovlhepedic—Drs Wik
Lpgm Tate Graham, [ames T, Tucker, Fl. Page Mauck, fames B.
Dalton, 5r., R. D. Butterworth, Beverley B, Clary, William M.
Deyerle, William E. Daner, Eamest B. Carpenter, Virgl R May,
Jr., and M. |. Hoover; Plastic Surgery—Dr. Leroy Smith; Cerdiee

-Drz. Carolyn MeCue and Hubert T. Dougan; Pathology—Drs.
Gordon Hennigar and Saul Kay; Dentistry—Drs, Robert T. Miles
and John N. Pastore; Eer, Nore, and Throai—Drs. Peter N, Pas-
tore and Douglas Hayden; Pediatries—Dr. Lee E. Sutton, Jr.;
Roertgenology—Drs. T, D, Talley, Jr., and J. Lloyd Tabh; and
Prychietry—Dra. J. Asa Shield and George 5, Fultz. The Consult-
ing Staff included: General Surgery—Drs. ], Raobert Masse, Jr,
I. A, Bigger, and Walter H Buoffey; Newrosurgerp—Drs. John M.
Meredith and Charles E, Troland; Urology—Dr. A 1. Daodson;
Newrolopy—Dirs, R. Tinley Gayle, H. R, Masters, and J. Asa
Shield; Chent Surgical—Dr. 1. A, Bigger; COhes! Medical—Tr,
Dean B. Cole; Eye—Drs. R. H. Courtney and Luther C, Brawner;
end Dermatelogy—Drs. T. W. Murrell and R. Campbell Manson.
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Many of these physicians had year after vear of previous service
to the hospital to their credit, Others oot listed here served hriefly.

The Medicai Stafl organized themselves with bylaws, rules, and
regulations under the name of “The Attending Stalf of the Crip-
pled Children’s Hospital”, meeting semi-monthly to serve the best
interest of the patients through concerted effiort. Among the rules
adopted were: *1. The hospital shall admit and treat all cases
approved by the State Board of Health, or the Crippled Children’s
Bureaw. . . . 11, Acceptance of fees in any guise whatsocver i= for-
bidden. 12. After the approval by the State Board of Health of an
application, admision of patients to the hespital s arranged by
the administrator.” Dr. Louvise Galvin was director of the Crippled
Children’s Bureau of the State Health Department with which the
hospital worked so closely.

The hospital operated at a deficit in 194% and 1950 with income
derived from the interest on the endowment, donations, state
funds, and peyments from the National Foundation for Infantile
Paralysis for care of victims of polic. The need for a brozder base
of support was evident. :

The Executive Committes of the Board of Trustees was defi-
nitely opposed to admitting patients covered by hospital insurance
unles such insurance had been exhausted, However, by 1950 Mrs,
Dudley, president of the Board of Managers, reported to her
Board that personnel policies in industries had advanced wo the
paint that meost large businesses were offering blanket family health
insurance peolicies which partially paid for hespitalization. She
added that the hespital bad revised its policy and was now accept-
ing indigent children with some hospitalization msurance. Any fee
under an insurance policy coverage which would be available for
a surgeon was dopated to the hospital. Dr. Graham did not ap-
prove of this change in policy bat did not oppose it, because every-
one else felt it was necessary from the standpoint of the pationts
as well a2 the hospital.

Additional help was secured early in the decade from the
Nemours Foundation in the amount of a $10,000 annual grant to
be administered by the state, However, M. Dudley pointed out
before retiving from office that the hespital urgently needed more
effective means of raising funds and a system of permanently re-
cording substantia) gifts,
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These were primary objectives when Mr, William Frazier be-
carme president of the Board of Trostess and Mrs, Frank C. Acres,
president of the Board of Managers in 1951, Since the early vears,
there had been various fund mismg efforts including the solicitation
of “memberships”, with hills for dues going out usually in March.
This practice was discentinuwed in 1951 in favor of Donatien Day
s the single annual appeal for donations. Under the direction of
Mrs, Dudley, the files of prospective doners were revised and en-
larged, including the additien of a number of bugines firms to he
soticited. Dionation Day yielded over $54.000 in 1951, and in 1551-
52 the number of contributoss mare than doubled. This increase
helped to meet the operating cosw of $48,000 per quarter.

The superintendent, Miss B Karleen Ingersoll, was formally ac-
cepted as an active member of the American College of Hospital
Administrators on September 15, 1951, having successfully com-
pleted her examination in July, Her title was changed to hospital
administrator. In that same year she wis asked to attend all meet-
ings of the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees,

It wa¢ indeed a shock to evervone connected with the hospital
when Miss Ingersoll resigned, effective January, 1953, and went to
Bowman-Gray Hespital in Winston-Salem, North Carcling to study
anesthesiology, The Board of Trostees did not accept her resignation,
but gave her three months leave of absence without pay, hoping
that she would reconsider in [ever of resuming her position. In the
meantime, Mizs Charlotte Jordan, assistant superintendent, hecame
acting superintendent. She and Mrs, Edward Reeves Adams, the
new president of the Board of Managers, “held the [ort™ until for-
tunately, Mis Ingersoll returned to the post of administrator by
March, 1953, She had been neither content nor well in Nosth
Caroling, and with the offer of a salary more commensurate with
her responsibility, Mr, Frazier had persnaded her to return,

A very special event followed when the Board of Trustees invited
the other Boards of the hospital to its annual meeting in March,
1953, At this meeting a portrait of Dr. William Tate Graham by
the artist, David 3ilvette, was unveiled and formally presented to the
hospital by Dr. Graham's associates {Dirs, James T, Tucker, Beverley
B, Clary, and Earnest B. Carpenter). Dr. Tucker made the presenta-
tion speech, referring to events and accomplishments in Dir, Gra-
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ham’s life with words of high prake and tribote. His address in-
cluded the follawing remarks:

“Dir. Graharn s 2 man of warm personality, a gilted teacher, a devoted
surgeon. Whenever you are given a man of might with a finely trained
mind, disciplined by study, tempered by imaginatien, and & quick
ermotiond] response; one whe has patience, a love of people, a deep
apiritual insight, then you have the chemicals of a great lovable char.
acter, a great humanitarian. To meet Dy, Graham B to be attracted
to him; to be asociated with him is to respeet him; to know him is to
love him, Dir, Graham @ a man of great faith. I could not put into a
single sentence the key to his power, but | suppose one could say that
the Bupreme fashioned his character, governs his thought, anchors his
mind, and iz the source of his strength. He lives richly because he
lives in others.”

Dr. Graham, the moving and guiding spirit in the founding and
development of Crippled Children's Hospital, was able to be present
for this very inspiring occasion honoring him.

Dr. William Tate Graham died on December 13, 1953, at the age
of 80 years. At the meeting on December 17, Mr. Frazier called the
hospital 2 monument 1o this putstanding physician and asked the
members of the Board of Trustess to pay their final respeets to him,
their founder. He alo asked that God give to each of them the
wisdom and strength to continue the operation of the Crippled
Children's HMospital as Dr. Graham would have wished. In Dr.
William Tate Graham, God indeed had raised up a man particularly
equipped to meet ane of the crying needs of his tme. His will pro-
vided that after life ammuities to several beneficiaries, his entire
estate would come to the Crippled Children's Hospital.

Memerial gates were enthusiastically proposed to honor D
Graham. The Boards of the hespital and the Virginia Society of
Orthopedic Surgeons were anxious o contribute, but again, no
gates aterialized. |Some years later when M Adams suggested
that Kappa Delta Sorority might be willing to donate appropriate
gate poss in hosor of the sorority's founders, she was told that im-
provements and re-grading of Brook Road had been projected for
yeers, and that untl these improvements were realized, it was felt
unwise to undertake any permanent entrance structure. Probahbly,
for the same reason, the previously proposed gates had not been
erected.] The Virginia Society of Orthopedic Surgeons, however,
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placed a plague in the hospital to Dr. Graham's memory.

Dy. H. Page Mauck asumed the position of surgeon-in-chicf of
the hospital, but shortly thereafter he was struck by a heart attack,
and though he recovered and served, his term of office was cut short
by his death on January 22, 1955, He was remembered as “a gifted
icacher, exceptional administrator, and devoted practitioner of
medicine.” His original work in the realm of orthopedics was recog-
nized internationally, The tribute written by Dr, Tucker for the
Board of Trstees praised Dr. Mauck for his kindness, generosity,
and enthusizzm. His humility and tact as he gerved as assstant
surpeon-in-chiel under Dr, Graham during the difficelt vears just
belore Dir. Graham’s death were also particularly noted.

Dr. James T. Tucker became surpeon-in-chiefl s of March, ]955
Dr. M. J. Hoover hecame the assistant surgeon-in-chief,

In the mmthme, Dir. William T Sanger, prmdent af the Medi-
Eﬂ.l Lll:l.lll.'.EI: IJI 'l-'!I'E,'.II'IIﬂ, I'IBEI E‘FI'EH-EEI. l'.ﬂ'.'.. I'IL'IE‘EI io 'I.'C"l-'ll:"l'l.I Fll'ﬁ\".l.![ﬂﬂ!i.
of affiliation between the college and Crippled Children®s Hospital.
The provisions were restated, with the hespital called “a teaching
institution of the Medical College of Virginia," but at the same
time, Crippled Children’s Hospital maintained its status as an in-
dependent, non-profit corporation with its separate Boards for
governing and implementing the operation of the hospital, The pro-
visioms, s recarded in the minutes of the annual mesting of the
Board of Trustees on March 18, 1354, were as follows:

TROPOSED PROVIZIONS OF AFFILIATION OF THE
CRIPPLED CHILDREN'S FHOSPITAL WITH THE MEDICAL
COLLEGE OF VIRGINIA

1. That the Crippled Children's Hospital be made a tegching ine
stitution af the Medical College of Virginia for orthopedies and
at times pediatrics and dentiiory;

2, That the medical, surgical, and dental soff of the Crippled Chil-
dren's Hospital, except for the surgeoen-in-chief who, ns in the past,
will be appointed by the Board of Trustess of the Crippled Chil
dren's Hospital, be nomineted from the faculty of the Medical
College of Virginia by the committes provided for in paragraph 5
below, subject first to the approval of the department heads con-
cerfied and the administration of the college, and final approval of
the Board of Visitors of the College and the president and Board
of Trustees of the Crippled Children’s Hospigal;
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3. That in appointing internes the college add to its number sech
internes as the Crippled Children’s Hespital may require during
the year, these to serve at the Crippled Children's Hospital on the
regular plan of rotation followed by the college, sech internes while
on service at the Crippled Children’s Hospital w be given the
usual maintenance and such financial allowanee, il any, =s is paid
by the college when these internes are on duty at the college;

4. That similar student nurses be assigned on rotation by the college
to the Crippled Children's Hospital e be given by the Crippled
Children's Hospital maintenance and sech compensation sz s
provided when on duty &t the college;

3. That a commister to handle routine matters involving the relation
between the Crippled Children's Hospital and the college be
appainted, this committes to be composed of the president of the
Crippled Children's Hospital, the dean of the school af medicine,
Medical Caollege of Vieginia, and the surgeon-in-chisf of the Crip-
pled Children's Hospital.

One of the most exciting developments of the decade was the
realization of & much needed addition. Through the diligence of
Miss Ingersoll, Mrs. Acree, and Mr. Ball, contact had been main-
tained with M, George F, Vose, reported to be 83 years of age.
For some time she had expressed a desire to wse funds from her
husband's estate to add a chapel-anditorium, multi-purpese room
to the hospital during her life tme. Plans were drawn ep by Mr,
Milton Garey, and Mr. Horace A. Gray, Jr., first vice-president of
the Board of Trustees, was made chairman of the Bullding Com-
mittee, Construction began In 1934 and was completed within the
year at a cost of about $46,000. Mrs. Vose had been very explicit
in describing what she wished concemning the new addition, Above
all, it was to be a place of worship, However, she realized that an
auditorium and an area for meetings and entertainment were also
needed ; so, she consented to the design of the multi-purpose room,
provided certain stipulations were met, First, inscribed on the wall
over the pladform or stage shotld be the words, “Suffer the little
children to come unto Me” Second, a bronze plagque should be
placed In the room depicting the scene of Jesus with children
gathered arcund Him and the hible quetation from Mark 10: 14,
the date of construction, and the names of Mr. and Mre, Vess.
Third, pictures selected by Mrs. Veose of herself and Mr, Vose
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werg to be hung in the room. Mrs, Edward Reeves Adams, presi-
dent of the Board of Managers, and Mr. Gray were assisted with
details of the room by Mrs. C. Cecil Arledge, first vice-president of
the Board who assumed the office of presiden: in 1953,

Dedication of the chapel-auditorium was pestponed until April
14, 1955, so that Dr. Alired R. Shands, Jr., Medical Director of
the Alired 1. du Pont Institute of the Nemours Foundation, conld
be present and address the gathering. Mr. James M. Ball, Jr, pre-
sided. Mrs, Frank C. Acree made the presentation on behall of
Mrs. George Franklin Viose, and it was accepted by Mr. Thomas
C. Gordon, Jr., who had become president of the Board of Trus-
tees in 1954, Dedicating the facility was The Reverend Theodore
F. Adams, D.I.. The Reverend A, Putnell Bailey, Dr, Edward E.
Haddock, Mr. Mosten G. Thalhimer, and Col. Joseph H. Wyse
also participated in the ceremonies, which were recorded for Mrs,
Vose, who was not physically able to be present. Thiz devoted
benefactor, Eloize Fauntleroy Vose, died February 9, 1956, She
and Mr. Yose left the hospital the “splendid legrcy™ of their estate
amounting te $234,000.

Another benefactor, the Ford Foundation, provided a grant
tomaling $51,800, half te be received in 1956, and half in 1957,
Thiz gift made possible a large storage room in the former location
of the physical therapy room, an addition of four rooms io the
Nurges' Home, a new partition and fire proof door for a record
roam, explesion proof floors in the operating room, in the sterilizer
room, and in the plaster room, shelves and books Tor the doctors”
library, funding for research, and some modernization of the kitchen,
with additional [unds for the kitchen donated by the Northside
Lions Club,

To meet operating expenses, the amount to be raised by the
Board of Managers through the Denation Day appea) steadily in-
creased. For yesms they had asked for professional assistance, but
this request had been consistently denied by the trustess who felt
that it was not necessary.

In March, 1957 shonly after taking office, Mrs. Edward H.
Gunst, president of the Board of Managers, together with Mrs,
Henry Fairfax, Mre. H. Coleman Baskerville, Mrs. A. Wade Lamb,
Jr, and M. Catherine James Dudley met with the Executive
Committee of the Board of Trustees to ask again for profesional
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help. Even this formidable group failed to convince the trustees.
But, Mrs. Fairfax mentioned another idea which alko had been
discussed in previous years—the employing of n field secretary to
travel throughout the state to stimulate interest in and support for
the hospital. No action waa taken, but the subject was not closed.

In preparation [or television and radio publicity for Denation
Day, Mrs. Baskerville asked for specific information to send to cach
station concerning children from the locality who were patienis of
the Crippled Children’s Hospital. Mre. Catherine Owens, who was
medical records libraran from 1954-1974, gethered the information
to include patients frem 1953 through 1956, In the process, an
astounding and significant set of facts and Ggures was assembled.

Mrs. Gumst, in her annual report of 1957, stated that patients had
come to Crippled Children's Hospital from 87 counties in Virginia
during the four year period, 1953-1956. These BY counties sent
1,352 patients wheo spent & total of 55,3090 hospitalized days at a
cost to the hospital of approximately $884,265. From ameng these
87 counties, 38 sent donations gotaling about 7,000 during the
four year period. At the same time, the dty of Richmond and
Henrico and Chesterfield Ceunties sent 276 children at a cost to
the hospital of $169,214. Singe the Richmend area was the major
source of donations for the hospital’s work while the major portion
of funds was being spent to treat patients from other parts of the
state, these figures presented & convincing case for broadening sup-
pert throughout the state.

Mrs. Mabel H. Erdman was employed in March, 1958 as public
relations  director to teil the Crippled Children's Hespital stery
state-wide, emphasizing the independence of Crippled Children's
Haospital from nationally controlled groups. There was a general
public misunderstanding that confused the hospital with the Vir-
ginia Sociery for Crippled Children and Adults (the Easter Seal
Society) which had heen organized in Virginia in 1944 with head-
quarters in Roanoke, Many people who donated to the Easter Seal
appeal or 1o the Shriners Hospitals for Crippled Children chought
that they were helping the Crippled Childrens Hespital in Rich-
mond, which, of course, was not true, The hospital continues to
labor under these misconceptions.

During 1958 Mrs. Erdman visited the governing bodies or of-
Reials of 94 Virginia countes and 16 cities, apprared before 42
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organizations, and contacted a number of individuals, Results were
gratifying, but she was disappointed in not gaining suppert from the
titics, since thirty percent of the patients actually lived in cities.
She published a small falder, "Facts”, to present accurate informa-
tion about the hospital. Mrs. Erdman ako published a quarterly
printed page called “Step by Step™ as a report wo friends of the
hospital, It was underwritten by Kappa Delta Sorority, the first is-
sue appearing in Januwary, 1959, It ako served to stimulate dona-
tiong. She pursued support from charitable trusts and foundations
and generally assisted with the Donatien Day appeal. Mrs. Erd-
man resigned in the fall of 1962,

Of the many other events and developments of “the flties™,
probably the most sigmificant was the perfection of a vaccine against
pelio by Dr. Jonzs Edward Salk of the University of Pittsburgh. The
vaccine was pronounced safe and effective in April, 1955, To Crip-
pled Children's Hospital this would mean eventual disappearance of
patients crippled by poliomyelitis,

Quarterly clinics continued as wsual with as many as 148 patients
attending an orthopedic clinic and 100 attending a plastic dinie in
1955, In July, 1957 through the cooperative efforts of Dr. Louisc
Galvin, director of the Crippled Children’s Bureau of the Virginia
State Department of Health; Dr. Leroy Smith, plastic surgeon; and
the Department ef Dentistry of the Medical College of Virginia, a
facial deformities clinic was started, sponsored by the Burean and
directed by Dr. Smith. This clinfe was soon established on the
second floor of the Crippled Children’s Hespital, In addition, a new
service, the removing of cataracts, was started by Dr. William Zim-
merman, [IT in 19559,

On an average, the hospital census hovered at about B8 patients.
The average length of stay per patient wag almost three months,
and this contributed to the high census. At times there were as
many as 97 patients in the hospital. Naturally, when the weather
wes pleasant, they spilied out onto the terraces and grounds.
Beds were rolled into the sunlight, and there were swings and
other play equipment outside each ward for ambulatory patients.
Children congregated on the center front lawn where there were
large wooden double-seat gliders. The only fences were on the
perirmeter of the property. In 1951 Mer. and Mm. Ira Stern gave a
drinking fountain and stone benches for this area in memory of
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their S0, Wialton Marcuze Stern,

In all these years, there had been no sign to designate the hos-
pital undil Mrs, M. L Binswanger of the Board of Managers sug-
gested one in 1954, Eventually, the matter was left up to Mr.
D. W. Mallory, the trustees’ chairman of groonds. A very nice
wooden sign was erected, the gift of the General Ouidoor Ad-
vertising Company.

The Windsor Farms Garden Club adopied as itz project the
grounds and garden of Crppled Children's Hespital beginning
in January, 1935, and a representative was appointed from the
club to the Board of Managers, who were more than grateful
for this valuahle assistanrce. This may have [:l'-r:lrr||'|'.|‘:|:| 1Eue 1'!::|‘:|'|:'|.|"~|‘.-
ment of the old wire fence around the property with a new Cyclone
fenice in the summer of 1955,

A new Finance Committes, a sub-commitiee of the Executive
Commitiee of the Board of Trustees, was created in 1955 (o
have general supervision over the hospital's investments. Messrs,
James M. Ball, Jr., William Frazier, and Thomas C. Gorden, Jr.
were appointed and authorized to buy the zix lots north of
the hospital property for not more than §$12,000 ($2,000 per lot).
The dilapidated frame house on the property was demolished to
improve the appearance az well as to aveid a tax,

The main water lines were replaced with copper pipes in
1958. Thia work was done by Mr. James . Cogle who had been
employed as of May, 1950 to take charge of maintcnance. He
was & very valuable asset to the hospital in many ways, capahble
of doing repairs that normally would have required outside con-
tractors, and there were always many things which needed and
received his expert atiention,

Another addition, a separate storage building for lawn eguip-
ment and related supplies was acquired with the help of donations
from several companies and volunteer [abor provided by the
local WNeval Reserve Construction Battalion [the Sea Bees Re-
gerve ] which completed the construction in 1960, This group
also cleared an area for a new parking lot.

The cost of operating the hospital continued to rise during
the decade, [argely due to salary and wage Increases which
were necessary to keep registered nuries and competent help. The
Donation Day goal went from $65,000 in 1954 to $140,000 in
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195%. The prospective donor files were continually updated and
enlarged. In 1954, through the efforts of Mrs, Acree, 350 redidents
of ather parts af the state had been added and by early December,
817,500 had bren received from these sources. At the same time,
the Jumier Board began sending canisters and posters to co-
opeqating Junior Women's Clubs throughout the state for place-
ment o receive donations in seores and business establishments in
their respective communities, About 52,000 was collected In
addition to the over 32,000 received in canisters in the Richmond
aren, New canisters were put out in Richmond, but discontinued
in other parts of the state in 1958,

Dher assstance included o SL,000 gift in 1953 from the
Endowment Fund of the First Baptint Church, Richmond—an
annual denatien which has since Increased. In 1554 the Virginia
Highway Users Association began transporting to the hespital
the donations of food given by the students from area schools.
This valuable help also continues, An addrestograph machine
and filing cabinets for the address plates were given by Mra
Alired Smith in 1957, and through the years, the trusteps az-
sisted by personal solicitation.

By 1958 the goal for Dosation Day was so high and the
committes organization =0 complex that instead of having a Do-
nation Day chairman, the responsibility for the Domation Day
committess was divided between the three vice-presidents of the
Board of L-Ia.nagﬂ's The gua[ of ﬁlﬂiﬂ]ﬂ would not have been

reached if it had not been for a December 15-25 appeal in behaif
of Crippled Children’s Hospital made by the Richmond radie
station, WRVA. This radio appeal, known as “A Green Christmas,
1958 for Crippled Children's Hospital," boosted donations by
m:ﬂl‘

Also in 1958, the Trostees decided to bill Medicare and Blue
Shield for professional fees, the funds from these sources going to the
hospital to help meet operating costs, rather than to the physicians
wihoge services were donated,

During “the fifties” the Junior Board obligated itseifl to pay
for a number of very costly improvements and pieces of qquip-
ment, To complete these projects, the Board borrowed funds
from the Board of Trustees and repaid them as foon as posmsible
with proceeds from an annual card party and other fund raising
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activitics. 'The Junior Board gave a “walk-in"' deep freezer, had
the elevator converted to automatic, pave a new X-ray table, and
the Tlle tank, and paid fer the removal of the steps and elevated
nurses’ station in the center of Graham Ward,

Funds and services were also coming from other orranizations
and firms. Miss Ingersoll was trying to replace all of the old
beds and cribs. Funds for this purpose had been given by the
Junior Board, the family of I. J. Marcuse, the Junier Women's
Clubs, and Kappa Delta. Mrs, Edward Reeves Adams attended
the national convention of Kappa Delta Sorority in Bileod, Missis-
sippi fn 1953, and came home with the good news that Kappa
Delta would give the remainder of the new beds and cribs needed
and would increase its annual donation fram $3,600 te £6 000,
Among additional Kappa Delta gifts were $11,000 in 1955 for
air-conditioning the occupational and physical therapy depart-
ments and the installation of wiring to increase the electrical
capacity necessary for this and future electrical requirements, and
$15,000 in 1959 for beilers, three dental units, and other equip-
ment. Mrs. Robert J. Leahy had been appointed Kappa Delta
representative to the Board of Managers in 1053, when Mrs
Adams assumed the presidency of the Board of Managers. Mez,
. Edward Wance succeeded Mrs, Leahy in 1956 and served until
1960, Later she was elected to the Board of Managers.

Mzny firms in “the filds" began conmibuting to the hespital
instead of sending Christmas gifts to asseciates and clients. Among
thes: was the Central Virginia Automotive Asociation. The firms
were provided with lovely “della Robbia” cards stating that a
gift had been made to Crippled Children's Hospital in haner
ol the recipient.

Ome of the medallions on the hospital facade was also the in-
spiration in 1953 for the first note paper produced by the Board
of Mznagers.

The Christian Wemen's Fellowship of the Seventh Street
Christian Church donated in 1933 a complete wardrobe of cos-
tumes made especially for the hospital’s annual Christmas Pageant.
In the same year, the local chapter of the American Institute of
Decorators gave the proceeds from their auction to the hospital.

The Newcomers' Club evidenced so much interest and activity
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in behalf of the hospital that they were invited to be represented
on the Board of Managers.

The Scoui Troops at Crippled Children's Hospital were very
active. The Girl Scout Troop was led for twenty years, from the
mid-1950s to the mid-1970s by Mrs. Virginia {Bonnie) Bonesch,
There were also Cub Scouts with Mrs. Franklin Hancock and
Mrs, J. B. Broughton scrving a3 den mothers. Boy Scout leaders
were Mr, Lucien W, (Jack) Bingham, Jr., Mr. Charles Weaver,
and Mr. R. E. Bryant. Boy Scout activities continued until 1968, at
which time Mr. Bingham was honored for his many vears of
seTViCe.

To keep the public informed and to stimulate interest and aid
in the work, & new brochure with & blue and white triangular
design on the cover was printed in 1956, and through the generes-
ity of Mr. W. M. Havens and television station WTVR, a new
movig of the hospital was made in 1959,

*“The fifties” alse saw several changes in the hospital staff.
Dorothy Dame Hughes, who as Mee. N, Randolph Wartt had be-
come executive secretary-treasurer of the hospital in 1926, became
ill and died in April, 1954, She had served the hospital for 28
years. The Board of Managers placed a plague in the hospital in
her memory. Mrs. Frances W. Dodd had been employed as recep-
tionist and secretary in February, 1933, Upon the death of Mrs
Hughes, Mrs. Dodd became acting secretary-treasurer, and in
June, 1954 she assumed the position on a permanent basis, serving
until her retirerent in 1972,

Migs Charlotte Jordan resigned as assistant to the administrator
in 1959, but accepted the position of supervisor of Graham Ward
until her retirement in 1962 after 16 years of service. She died
in November, 1960,

Miss Mary Elizabeth Blayney-joined the hospital staff in April,
1950 as registered ocenpational therapist. She was also in charge
of recreational therapy. Several other full time occupational
therapists had preceded her. Sinee the hospital was filled almost
to capacity, her job was a tremendous ane, even with the help
of volunteers and occupational therapy students from Richmond
Professional Institute {Jater Virginia Commonwealth University).
Miss Blayney served through 1967,

Meanwhile, death claimed some of the faithful members of the
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Board of Trustees. Mra. Wilkine Claona Williams, wife of Adelph
D, Williams, and a member of the Board of Trustees since 15928,
died in January, 1550, She and Mr. Wiillams were generous in
their support of the hospital. Mr. H. Hiter Harris, elected 1o the
Board of Trustees and its Executive Commities in 1943, died
suddenly in January, 1952, M= Henry E. Baskervill died in
March, 1357, She had given over thirty years of service to both
Boards of the hospital. Mr. Horace A. Gray, Jr. and most of bis
family perished in the tragic fire which burned their home at
Chriztimas time in 1953, The Board was also stunned when
Mr. I. Walton Mallory died in the summer of 1959, He had
become & member of the Board in 1948, and had been invaluable
as chairman of the Grounds Committee, All of these were men and
women of sound judgment whose advice was sought and followed.
They had served well and would be greatly missed.

The decade ended with an anniversary celebration on September
30, 1959, instigated by the president of the Board of Managers,
Mrs. A. Wade Lamb, Jr., with the assistance of the trustces and
their president, Mr. A, Churchill Young, Jr., and the Junior
Board. It commemorated 30 years (1928-1953) of the hospiral
at the present location and almaost 1 years of operation. Actually,
it was 39 vears and 5 months. A mistake made at some previous
time, giving the date of the incorporation of the hospital as 1919,
was picked up and repeated over and over again in official publica-
tions of the hospital, It was 1917, not 1919, when Dr. Graham
gtarted the first free clinic for crippled children, and though a
group of interested citizens met in 1919, it was 1920 before they
officially organized the Crippled Children's Hospital. At any rate,
the time was appropriate for such an anniversary celebration. A
guest list of 500 waz drawn up and fent handwritten invirations,
a formidable task in itself, Mr. Paul Miller of the trustess furnished
a thirty pound cake, and Mr. Beaitie Luck furnished the Clover
Room ice cream. It was a very speciel occasion with about 150
persons in attendance.



Chapter X
“THE SIXTIES”

Hospital had been considerably enlarged. Dr. James T.
Tucker continued as surgeon-in-chief with Dr. M. J.
Hoover as assistant surgeon-in-chief. The other orthopedists con-
tinuing to serve were Drs. Beverley B. Clary, Earnest B. Carpenter,
William M. Deyerle, William E. Daner, Virgil R. May, Jr., James
B. Dalton, Jr, and R. D. Butterworth. During the 1950s Drs.
Herman M. Nachman, John F. Butterworth, III and Robert H.
Mauck had joined this group. Dr. Edwin W. Hakala was ap-
pointed to the staff in 1960. All together, the orthopedic staff
in 1960 hid grown to include thirteen physicians. In addition, Dr.
Hunter Jackson had joined Dr. Leroy Smith on the staff for
plastic surgery in 1954 and service in this field continued to grow.
Other changes in the active staff had also occurred including the
death of Dr. J. Lloyd Tabb in 1954. By 1960 physicians listed in
addition to the orthopedic and plastic staff were: Pediatrics—Dr.
Carolyn McCue; Surgery—Drs. J. Robert Massie, John H. Reed,
Jr., and Walter H. Buffey; Eye—Drs. Luther C. Brawner and
William Zimmerman, IIT; Dermatology—Drs. R. Campbell Man-
son and Carl 5. Lingamfelter; Pathology—Dr. Saul Kay; Labora-
tory—Dr. Henry G. Kupfer; Ear, Nose and Throat—Drs. P. N.
Pastore and Douglas Hayden; Roenigenology—Drs. D. D. Talley,
ITI, Willard M. Fitch, and Lilburn T. Talley; Urology—Drs. A, 1.
Dodson, Jr. and J. Edward Hill; Neurosurgery—Drs. Charles E.
Troland and Joseph F. Kell, Jr.; Neuropsychiatry--Dr. George S.
Fultz and Weir M. Tucker; Neurology—Dr. Weir M. Tucker;
Medicine—Dr. Elam C. Toone, Jr.; and Dentisiry—Drs. 5. Elmer
Bear, Charles Vincent, Max Dale Largent, and J. B. Bragassa, Jr.
(Omitted are the consulting staff and those serving briefly.)

BY 1960 the active medical staff of the Crippled Children’s

In 1966 and subsequently, only those physicians serving in the
orthopedic, ophthalmelogic, plastic, and dentistry departments
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were designated as attending (or active) staff. This staff by the
end of the decade, in addition to those already listed above for
orthopedics, included Drs. Thomas R. Butterworth, Jr., Ernest
L. Clements, Jr., Stanley M. Elmore, Bernard A. Lublin, Charles
L. McDowell, William R. Mauck, Robert M. Pilcher, Jr., Frank-
lin P. Watkins, and Henry A. Yancey, Jr. Ophthalmology was
covered by Dr. William Zimmerman, I1I and Dr. Walter Mayer.
Dr, J. Latane Ware joined Drs. Leroy Smith and Hunter Jacksen on
the plastic staff, and the dentistry staff included Drs. J. B. Bragassa,
Jr., Max D. Largent, Charles L. Eubank, J. Robert Eshleman, P. B.
Peters, and James E. Mclver, The assistant surgeon-in-chief was
Dr. R. D. Butterworth,

A major development which marked the decade was the veritable
mushrooming of clinic activity. By 1962 the facial deformities
clinic was offering complete rehabilitation to all cleft palate and/or
cleft lip patients. Treatment consisted of plastic surgery, dental
work, speech therapy, audiological services, ear, nose, and throat
services, or any combination of these as necessary. Speech therapy
had been added to the hospital’s services in March, 1961. The an-
nual salary of $5,000 for the speech therapist was provided by
Kappa Delta Sorority for two years until it could be assumed by
the Virginia Department of Education, Special Education Division.
By February, 1962 a special speech therapy room was completed
off the corridor to the Nurses’ Home. This facility was made pos-
sible by an anonymous donation of over $14,000 and was given
in honor of Dr. Leroy Smith. At this same time Dr. Smith was
elected to the Board of Trustees.

At a meeting in the following year, Dr. Smith expressed appre-
ciation for the hospital’s support of the facial deformities clinic
and reported that it was considered one of the most complete
clinics of its kind in the country. By 1966 the clinic, held monthly,
had grown to an average of 20 patients including many new born
babies. Dental evaluations were being done by Dr. J. B. Bragassa,
Jr. with Dr. Alden Mayer as attending pediatrician at the clinics.
Regular quarterly plastic clinics under the direction of Dr. Smith
and Dr. Hunter Jackson continued to be held throughout “the
sixties”, averaging about 75 patients each. In addition, Dr. Jackson
conducted a monthly plastic clinic which averaged about 20
patients.
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Eye clinic patienis and parents

In the meantime, Dr. Willlam Zimmerman, III was doing eye
surgery on a regular schedule. He was joined in this service by
Dr. Walter Mayer. Of special interest was a corneal transplant
performed in June, 1966. The cornea, taken from a 36 year old
woman who died in New York, was transported to Richmond
within 24 hours. Dr. Zimmerman met the plane, and he and
Dr. Mayer performed the operation from 11:00 p.m. to 1:00 a.m.
on a child who had been born with no eye on one side and a
cataract on the other. The administrator’s annual report for
1967 reported ophthalmology clinics and eye surgery scheduled
on every Wednesday. Dr. Zimmerman and Dr. Mayer alternated
their services, the physician not in surgery conducting the clinic
with the assistance of two ophthalmology residents from the
McGuire Veterans Administration Hospital,

The regular schedule of guarterly orthopedic clinics established
early in the hospital’s history was still being maintained on a
Sunday in January, April, July, and October. These clinics were
held in cooperation with the Crippled Children’s Bureau of the
State Health Department and averaged about 100 patients return-
ing for periodic examination and evaluation, as well as new referrals,
Outpatient service was available between clinics,

Increases in both the recognition of congenital deformities and
the referral of patients with these abnormalities contributed to the
need for specialty orthopedic clinics. By May, 1968 Dr. Thomas
R. Butterworth, Jr., Dr. William R. Mauck, and Dr. Virgil R,

‘May, Jr. began conducting a scoliosis {curvature of the spine)

clinic on the second and fourth Tuesday of each month. Shortly
thereafter Dr. William Deyerle started a foot clinic on the second
and fourth Wednesday, and Dr. Charles McDowell initiated
an upper extremity clinic on the second and fourth Friday.

Because of all this clinic activity during the week, Dr. Tucker re-
ported in March, 1969 that the Sunday quarterly orthopedic clinics
would be discontinued after April 13. Later that year clinics
were scheduled for cerebral palsy, hip, and spina bifida patients.
The total number of patients attending specialty clinics in 1969
was 3,648, with 16 clinics being conducted each month,

The other major development came in mid-decade following
the passage by Congress of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Mr. Jack
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H. Baskerville, president of the Board of Trustees, brought to the
Board the question of whether or not the hospital would sign a
Certificate of Assurance of Compliance with the Department of
Health, Education, and Welfare regulation under Title VI of the
Civil Rights Act, which would extend the services of the hospital
to all those eligible, regardless of race, color, or national origin.
The civil rights movement was the source of much controversy,
often on an emotional rather than an intellectual level, as it
chalienged established tradition in institutions throughout the
nation, pushing for change which rarely comes easily.

Actually, for Crippled Children’s Hospital, the decision was
not whether or not the Certificate of Compliance would be signed
and black patients admitted, but rather whether or not Crippled
Children’s Hospital would continue to exist. If it did not sign,
$132,000 a year in funds and commodities from state and federal
agencies would be lost. In addition, Dr. Galvin of the Crippled
Children’s Burecau stated that she could refer no patients to
Crippled. Children’s Hospital if the hospital did not comply with
the ruling. With seventy-five percent of the hospital’s patients
being referred from that Bureau of the State Department of
Health, it was obvious that the entire program and purpose of
the hospital was threatened.

Every aspect of the matter was examined. The Board recognized
that support {rom those who opposed integration would be lost
if the Certificate were signed. At the same time, they also realized
that the hospital would soon come under the Employment Practices
Regulation which would bring about changes, whether or not the
Title VI compliance were signed. The decision was made at the
annual meeting of the Board of Trustees in March, 1965, and
on March 29, 1965 Mr. A. C. Epps, the new president of the
Board, signed the Certificate of Assurance of Compliance,

Caring for black children was not a new experience for Crip-
pled Children’s Hospital. Children, both black and white, had been
brought to Dr. Graham’s clinic from its beginning in 1917, and
as late as 1930, it is recorded in the minutes that Crippled Chil-
dren’s Hospital was still providing funds to care for some black
children at St. Philip Hospital. Integrating the hospital on Brook
Road, however, would be 2 new experience.
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Changes in medical procedures as well as rising costs are re-
flected in figures from the early 1960s as compared with those
of the end of the decade:

1962 1969
Number of admissions ... 414 862
Average number of patients per day ... 85 80
Average length of stay per patient ... 79 days 38 days
Total number of operative procedures .. 585 898
Cost teo hospital per patient per day ... $13.76 $24.35
Donatian Day goal ... $145,000 $180,000
Total operating cost ... $411,391 $710,668

To meet the need, the Board of Managers in 1960 requested that
the Board of Trustees help with Donation Day by more organized
personal solicitation, This proved effective and was continued.

But the greatest help came from the Crippled Children’s Bureau
when Dr. Louise Galvin announced that the Bureau would increase
its support from $75,000 in 1966 to $100,000 in 1967 and 1968.
Missionary work by the professional staff of the hospital was
credited with this increase in aid.

Dr, Willard R. Ferguson became the Director of the Bureau
when Dr. Galvin retired in 1967. By 1969 he announced that
because the hospital was serving more patients, the Bureau would
increase its support to $115,000 and would also reimburse the
hospital for some X-rays and other procedures.

Increasing operating expenses continued due in large measure to
salaries and wages keeping pace with those offered eclsewhere.
Wages had traditionally been paid in cash at the end of each
week. In 1961 Mrs. Samuel R, Rose, Jr., president of the Board
of Managers, pressed for bi-weekly pay by check as an efficiency
and safety measure.

Also to increase efficiency, paging systems were investigated by
Mrs. Adams, primarily to aid the overburdened front office. How-
ever, Miss Ingersoll opposed the installation of any such equipment.
She maintained that the physicians appreciated the quiet and the
fact that they were relatively incommunicado when at Crippled
Children’s Hospital and she did not wish to alter these conditions.
Without her support, the issue was dropped.
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In 1962 Mrs. George G. Osborne, president of the Board of
Managers, approached the Trustees’ Executive Committee con-
cerning a retirement plan for employees. This was considered a
necessity, especially for the employment of future key personnel.
In due course, a committee composed of Mr, Richard W, Wiltshire,
chairman, Mr. E. Ross Millhiser, and Mr. William R. Preston was
appointed, and a plan was approved in 1964 with a pension
trust agreement with the First and Merchants National Bank.

In 1962 there were 112 people on the payroll. The following
year, the Sunshine Circle decided to recognize those members of
the stall who had served the hospital for 20 years or more and to
present each with $100. Thoze so honored were Miss Karleen
Ingersoll, administrator; Mrs. Mozelle H. Burton, assistant ad-
ministrator; Mrs. Lucy J. Leedy, ward supervisor; Miss Josephine
Sherrard, night supervisor; Miss Laura Hyde, housekeeper and
assistant dietician; and Miss Dorothy Graves, physical therapist.

“The sixties” might well be called the time for “the changing
of the guard.” Miss Graves retired July 1, 1967 after 43 years of
service. Miss Ingersoll, plagued with health problems, resigned
effective February 1, 1968, having served the hospital for 26 years.

Mrs. Mozelle Burtan, on the staff since 1942, became acting ad-.

ministrator, and Miss Geneva Quarles became her assistant, filling
the post of nursing instructor and director of wards left vacant
when Mrs. Doris McMillian resigned.

During 1968 the following also retired: Miss Sherrard, after 34
years of service; Mrs. Elizabeth Crouch, ward supervisor, after 24
years; Miss Hyde, aged 80, after 36 years; and in 1969, Mis.
Leedy, after 26 years of service. They were all given pensions as
if they had worked under the pension plan.

For many years Miss Gertrude Seymour, dietician, had provided
the hospital with excellent food at minimum cost. She married Mr,
James Cogle, maintenance superintendent, in March, 1968, and
they retired in October, 1969. They were succeeded by Mis.
"Theresa Lochr and Mr. William B. Loving, Jr.

The entire hospital was saddened by the death of Mrs. Adele
Mosely, the hospital’s cook for 38 years.

Miss Mary Beth Blayney, occupational therapist, resigned in
1967 to take another position, and it was necessary to hire two
people to take her place, testifying to the impossible work load she
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had been carrying. Richmond Professional Institute refused to
recommend anyone to replace her unless the haspital made pro-
visions for both an occupational therapist and a recreational thera-
pist. A year earlier, a new law requiring that a pharmacist dispense
all drugs had necessitated the part-time employment of a pharma-
cist. In addition, Mrs. Jacqueline T. Bell was employed, first on
a part-time and then on a permanent basis, as Mrs. Dodd’s as-
sistant in the financial office. This was the beginning of an ava-
lanche of additional specialized personnel required by the steady
increase in services and record keeping, both medical and financial.
The “old guard” had retired and a new era was emerging.

The Board of Trustees was also undergoing a “changing of the
guard.” Mr. ¥. Milton Garey died and was succeeded by Mr. Carl
A. Lindgren, Jr., carrying on the line of architects from Baskervill
and Son serving on the Board of Crippled Children’s Hospital.
Miss Hattie Bell Gresham died in 1964; and Mrs. Henry Fairfax,
in 1966. Mr. Irving May resigned in 1962 because of ill health
and died in 1964. The Board also lost Mr. Childrey Scott in 1962
and Mr. Walter Bishop in 1963. Dr. John Bell Williams resigned
from the Board in 1965, and he and Mr. Paul E. Miller died in
1970. All of these had devoted much of themselves to the Crippled
Children’s Hospital, serving faithfully and well over many years. To
fill these and other vacancies and to aid in guiding the hospital into
its new era of expansion and accelerated activity came a new group

of leaders.
Meanwhile, the Board of Managers also acquired many new

. members, and with most of the administrative details being handled

by Miss Ingersoll, this Board devoted more of its time to meeting
the ever increasing need for funds.

In 1962 Mesdames James Dudley, Charles M. Caravati, Douglas
W. Laird, and Francis L. Johnson, joined later by Mrs. H. Godwin
Jones and Mrs. Wellford R. Sutherland, Jr., established a schedule
of working on the donors files every Monday, adding names and up-
dating the files generally. This work by members of the Board of
Managers has continued and increased greatly. There were about
9,000 names for the regular solicitation on addressograph plates at
that time, plus organizations, firms, and other special classifications.
Other activities in conneciion with the promotion of Donation Day
and the receiving of donations spread across a greater part of the
year.
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Note paper was redesigned and again offered for sale in 1966,
but more as a convenience to Board members than as a real money
making project.

The Junior Board performed superbly during the decade. In ad-
dition to spending many volunteer hours with the children, the
Board members increased their responsibilities to such a degree
that in 1961 the Junior Board president was invited to attend the
meetings of the Board of Trustees, including those of the Trustees’
Executive Committee. This had been suggested by Mrs. A, Wade
Lamb, Jr., president of the Board of Managers, who had been a
member of the Junior Board. The policy proved so advantageous
that it became established practice.

In 1961 the Junior Board sponsored a gala fashion show by
Thalhimers which netted §1,940. They also began selling Christmas
cards especially designed for the hospital. The first year, the 10,000
cards ordered were sold for a profit of $700. The 1962 fashion show
netted $2,624, and the Junior Board also received $3,000 as pro-
ceeds from the Tobacco Festival Ball sponsored by the Junior
Women’s Clubs of the area. Funds from the Junior Board made
possible a new incinerator and a fence for the girls ward to match
the one for boys given by Mr. D. Walton Mallory, Jr. in memory
of his father. The Junior Board also provided ten sets of tables and
chairs for the dining room, operating room instruments, and a new
heating system and acoustical ceiling for Graham Ward.

In 1964 and 1965 with the aid of Thalhimers, the Junior Board

sponsored an Ambassador’s Ball. These were magnificent affairs
which cleared about $13,000 and $14,000 respectively. The Junior
Board also benefitted from events held by the Deep Run Hunt Club
Association and the Richmond Tennis Patrons Association. They
gave $3,000 toward the building of a formula room and built class-
rooms costing about $53,000. Junior Board funds were supple-
mented by a grant of $15,000 from the Seay Foundation which has
contributed varying amaunts to the hospital from time to time for
buildings and equipment.

The Crippled Children’s Hospital Ball launched by the Junior
Board exclusively in 1966 has continued as its annual fund raising
event. During “the sixties”, proceeds from the balls averaged over
$13,000 each year until 1969 when the profit rose to over $16,000.
Since a number of children’s clinics formerly located at the Medical
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College of Virginia had been moved to Crippled Children’s Hos-
pital, additional clinic space was an urgent need. The former linen
and sewing room was remodeled to accommodate the outpatient
clinics, and a new linen room was built. The Junior Board con-
tributed substantially to make these improvements possible.

Assisted by several Junior Women’s Clubs, the Junior Board
continued to help with Donation Day, having charge of the dis-
tribution of canisters in the Richmond area to receive donations in
business locations. However, this was discontinued in 1967 because
of theft and diminishing results.

In “the sixties” the heartwarming generosity of many other
groups and individuals continued. Another auction held in 1960 by
the members of the Virginia District Chapter of the American In-
stitute of Decorators brought in $1,500. Through the efforts of Mr.
Gilbert R. Spector of General Outdoor Advertising {later Turner
Outdoor Advertising), donations of ten, then twenty, and in 1970,
thirty biltboards throughout the state were made, the hospital pay-
ing only a nominal charge for materials.

The Brandon Woman’s Club contributed generously and took
over the operation of the library, with assistance from the Junior
Board. The president of the club was Mrs. George R. Talcott, niece
of Mis. J. Luther Moon. This club continued to serve faithfully until
1967 when respansibility for the library shifted to the Newcomers’
Club, already involved in sewing for the hospital as well as giving
financial support.

Mr. and Mrs. Bruce Dunston gave a real estate property, sold for
$100,000 in 1962, and asked that a plague be placed in the hospital
in memary of Samuel B. Dunston.

The Richmond Academy of Medicine Auxiliary held its first
benefit Antique Show and Sale in 1963 and donated to Crippled
Children’s Hospital $3,000 of the proceeds. The hospital continued
to receive $3,000-$4,000 from this source annually through 1969.
(The Auxiliary resumed its aid to the hospital in 1978.)

In 1965 WTVR taped a one-half hour program which brought
in thousands of dollars, according to a report of the Board of Man-
agers president, Mrs. R. Meade Christian.

Kappa Delta Sorority increased its contribution from $6,000 to
$10,000 annually in 1961, In 1962 the sorority provided §1,256
for an acoustical tile ceiling and new lighting for the operating
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room and over $1,000 for stainless steel equipment to replace the
old enamelware used on the wards.

Another of Kappa Delta’s special gifts was an emergency power
system, required by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hos-
pitals in the United States. This was completed in March, 1966 at
a final cost of $13,076. The following June, Miss Ingersoll reported
that a power outage had occurred when someone struck a utility
pole on Brook Road. However, the hospital had power from its
new diesel electric generator within thirty seconds.

Among other donations from Kappa Delta were $10,000 to
remodel bathrooms in 1967 and $15,000 in 1969. Of this latter
sum, two-thirds was contributed toward the cost of converting the
former sewing room into the clinic area, and the remainder was
used to meet miscellaneous needs.

Lambda Chi Omega Sorority increased its annual donation from
$600 to $1,000 in 1966, and the Richmond Rotary Club gave
$2,700 to replace the old operating table. Through the years, the
Richmond Ghapter of the Needlework Guild of America contributed
clothing and other helpful items. :

Employees of the Safety Responsibility and Data Processing De-
partments of the Division of Motor Vehicles presented the hospital
with a substantial check in 1968 as their Christmas gift. This has
grown into an annual outpouring of generosity from personnel in
the Virginia Division of Motor Vehicles and the Department of
Computer Services.

Others gave and continue to give goods or services, such as the
Richmond Times-Dispatch and News Leader, Cosby Transfer,
Taylor and Sledd, Whittet and Shepperson, Rockingham Poultry,
High’s Ice Cream, Thalhimers, Lukhard’s, Safeway, and A&P.

The Yellow Cab Company, which had given free service to the
hospital since 1925, was forced by spiraling costs to charge a dis-
counted rate in 1957 and then to discontinue this aid in 1962 after
37 years. The Red Cross and the Junior Board stepped in to help

with transportation. Likewise, the Chesapeake and Potomac Tele- .

phone Company in 1968 had to discontinue the discount it had
given the hospital since it opened in 1928.

Year after year, the Junior Board decorated Christmas trees
given by Mr. and Mrs. Alfred T. Smith, and the Windsor Farms
Garden Club decorated the hespital each Christmas. The club
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continues to help prepare the hospital for the holiday season. Mr.
John D. Blair gave 240 pounds of turkey at Christmas for many
years and the Woman's Club of the Defense General Supply Center
gave the Easter Egg Hunt during “the sixties”.

Miss Helen Monsell, a member of the administrative staff of the
University of Richmond as well as a scholar and author of children’s
books, rounded out 30 years of weekly visits to the hospital. She
came every Thursday night to read to the children.

These and other generous friends helped to make the hospital not
only a place for physical healing, but a happy place as well.

Outstanding legacies were received during “the sixties” from Mrs.
Edward A. Macon, Juliet Montgomery Winans, Mrs. L. C. Clark,
Mrs. Carrie S. Freydeck, Mr. William A. Willingham, and Mrs.
Janet Stuart Durham. Funds realized from the interest derived from
these and other bequests, both large and small, were and have con-
tinued to be vital to the hospital’s operation.

The improvement of Brook Road led to the erection of the gate
posts so long considered, The city’s plan to widen the street involved
the dedication to the city in 1966 of a narrow strip of land some 730
feet along the frontage on Brook Road. In return for the land, the
city agreed to repair damage to the hospital’s driveways during the
project and regrade the land disturbed. Improving the hospital en-
trance was adopted as a project of the Windsor Farms Garden Club
under the direction of Mrs. Virgil R. Goode, the club’s civic chair-
man and member of the Board of Managers as well as a former
Junior Board president. The president of the Board of Managers
was Mrs. L. Howard Jenkins, Jr., also a member of the club and
former member of the Junior Board. The gates, designed by Mr.
Carl A. Lindgren, Jr.,, were erected in 1967 in memory of Mr.
Warren Randolph Pollard whose widow was a former president of
both the Windsor Farms Garden Club and the Sunshine Circle of
Crippled Children’s Hospital. Two of the pillars were given by Mr.
and Mrs. F. D. Gattwald; and twe, by associates of Mr. Pollard
from the Virginia Transit Company and the Central National Bank.
A new sign was erected through the efforts of Mr. Gilbert Spector.
This entire project, including landscaping, was instigated and co-
ordinated by the Windsor Farms Garden Club and completed in
1968. For their efforts in this endeavor, the club received first prize
in the “HANDS Civic Improvement Contest” sponsored by Sears
Roebuck and Company.
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A significant improvement to the hospital in 1967 was the con-
version of the heating system from coal to oil. Although oil was more
expensive than coal, it was more economical because an oil heating
system required less in Iabor and maintenance. Improvements in
1968 provided an efficient drug room and oxygen piped into the
operating and recovery rooms.

Before retiring from the office of president of the Board of Trus-
tees, Mr. A. C. Epps in March, 1967 was authorized by the Execu-
tive Committee to appoint a Planning Committee for the purpose
of securing some outside help in evaluating the hospital’s position,
in the light of new developments, and recommending possibilities
for expansion. Justice Thomas C. Gordon, Jr. was named chairman
of the committee which secured the services of Dr. Alfred R, Shands,
Jr., Medical Director of the Alfred I. du Pont Institute of the
Nemours Foundation and Dr, Burr H. Curtis, Medical Director of
the Newington Hospital for Crippled Children in Newington, Con-
necticut. ,

Dr. Shands and Dr. Curtis visited the hospital and reported that
they had never seen a more beautifully kept facility. Their two
primary recommendations were that a medical director be secured
and that means be found for raising more money to finance the
work. They also suggested accepting some private patients, but this
idea was rejected by the medical staff and the Board of Trustees.

The decision to obtain a medical director and improve outpatient
facilities was evidenced by remodeling that took place at the time.
A laboratory was moved to the second floor to make room for the
proposed medical director’s office and completion of this office and
the outpatient clinic, which was set up in the former linen and sew-
ing room, was announced in September, 1969.

The trustees renewed their efforts at personal solicitation by con-
tacting 100 firms, and with almost every contact, the donation was
increased. :

With Mrs, Burton as acting administrator, Mr. Henry Lee
Valentine, II as president of the Board of Trustees, and Mrs. H.
Godwin Jonés as president of the Board of Managers, the hospital
operated smoothly while awaiting an administrator and a medical

director, but not without a feeling of suspense and expectation as
the decade ended.
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Chapter X1
“THE SEVENTIES”

"RHE year 1970 marked the golden anniversary of the actual
incorporation of the association known as Crippled Chil-
dren’s Hospital, It also marked quite definitely the end of
one era and the beginning of another.

The Board of Trustees, at its annual meeting in March, 1970,
honored Dr. James T. Tucker with the title of surgeon-in-chief
emeritus, “in recognition of life long service.” A 1927 graduate
of the Medical College of Virginia, Dr. Tucker had gained ex-
perience as a young orthopedic surgeon under Dr. Graham and,
except for periods of additional study in Bosten and in Europe, he
had served on the staff of the Crippled Children’s Hospital continu-
ously. As surgeon-in-chief for fifteen vears, he had been a zealous
guard and guide of the work of the hospital. Mr. Henry Lee Valen-
tine, II, retiring president of the Board of Trustees expressed the
deep gratitude of the Board for Dr. Tucker’s many vears of dedicated
service. He declared Dr. Tucker second only to Dr. Graham in his
importance to the hospital through the years,

Dr. Beverley B. Clary became surgeon-in-chief, Dr. Earnest B.
Carpenter, assistant surgeon-in-chief, and Mr. Richard W. Wiltshire,
president of the Board of Trustees.

The attending stafl for orthopedics as of 1970 continued with
Drs. Earnest B. Carpenter, Beverley B. Clary, Ernest L. Clements,
Jr., James B. Dalton, Jr., William E. Daner, William M. Deyerle,
Stantey M. Elmore, Edwin W. Hakala, M. J. Hoover, Bernard A.
Lublin, Charles L. McDowell, Virgil R. May, Jr., Herman M.
Nachman, Robert M. Pilcher, Jr., James T. Tucker, Franklin P.
Watkins, Henry A. Yancey, Jr.,, Willlam R. Mauck, R. D. Butter-
worth, and Thomas R. Butterworth, Jr. and also included Drs. John
F. Butterworth, I1I, Charles M. James, and William T. Johnstone.
The continuing stafl members in ophthalmology were Drs. Wiltiam
Zimmerman, III and Walter Mayer. Drs. Hunter Jackson, Leroy
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Smith, and J. Latane Ware continued their service in plastics. The
dentistry stafl remained the same with Drs. J. B. Bragassa, Jr.,
Charles L. Eubank, J. Robert Eshleman, Max D. Largent, P. B.
Peters, and James E. McIver.

In 1970 physicians on the consulting staff, most of whom had
served for many years in this capacity, were: Surgery—Drs, H.
Fairfax Conquest, David M. Hume, John H. Reed, Jr., and Car-
rington Williams, Jr.; Urology—Drs. A. 1. Dodson, Jr. and ]J.
Edward Hill; Dermatology—Drs. R. Campbell Manson, Thomas
W. Murrell, Jr,, and Francis H. McMullan; Neurology and Psy-
chiatry—Drs, Gerald W. Atkinson, George S. Fultz, Weir M.
Tucker, and J. Asa Shield; Medicine—Drs. Elam C. Toone, Jr.
and Dean B. Cole; Otolaryngology—Drs. G. Douglas Hayden,
Peter N. Pastore, and William T. Clarke; Anesthesia—Dr. Williams
E. Pembleton; Pediatrics—Drs. William E. Laupus, Carolyn M.
McCue, and Alden B. Mayer; Pathology-—Dr. Saul Kay; Neuro-
surgery—Drs. Joseph F. Kell, Jr., Robert P. Singer, Charles L.
Troland, and Anthony G. Velo; Roentgenology~-Dr. Talmadge R.
Howell; and Laboratory—Dr. Lyman M. Fisher. Subsequent addi-
tions and changes in the medical staff are listed in the appendix.

Acquiring a medical director for Crippled Children’s Hospital
became more feasible when the Nemours Foundation, which ad-
ministers the estate of the late Mr. A. 1. du Pont, became interested
in making an annual grant to establish a professorship at the
Medical College of Virginia in memory of his wife, Mrs. Jessie
Ball du Pont. The holder of this professorship would serve as
the medical director of Crippled Children’s Hospital, jointly re-
sponsible to the Board of Trustees of this hospital and to the Medi-
cal College of Virginia School of Medicine.

While awaltmg developments in this direction, progress was
being made in other areas. The resident training program in
orthopedic surgery was pronounced approved by the Residency
Review Committee for Orthopedic Surgery and the Council on
Medical Education, and a closer working relationship with the
Medical College of Virginia was achieved. Much of the credit for
this was attributed to the diligence of Dr. Clary who met with
residents three time a week to discuss patlents in addition to regu-
lar staff conferences. Mr. Wiltshire, in his annual report, ex-
pressed amazement at the time and effort given to the work by
Dr. Clary. The average length of stay for patients was shortened
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- constderably, and clinic activity continued to increase.

With Dr. Ernest L. Clements, Jr. in charge, clinics for patients
suffering with spina bifida and meningomyelocele were initiated.
Dr. Clements was assisted by Dr, Robert P. Singer and Dr. An-
thony G. Velo, both neurosurgeons. Formerly, almost nothing
could be done for victims of these spinal abnormalities, but by
1970 successful operations were being performed. Dr. Wilton Bunch
of the University of Virginia, an orthopedic surgeon pioneering
in this work, helped to establish guide lines for treatment of these
patients at Crippled Children’s Hospital.

Drs. Willard M. Fitch, D. D. Talley, III, Charles W. Massey,
and C. P. Winkler, roentgenologists, who had given their services
to the hospital, found it impossible to continue to handle the
tremendous increase in the number of X-rays taken at Crippled
Children’s Hospital in addition to increased pressure in their
private practice. Following their withdrawal, the roentgenclogy
department came under the direction of Dr. Talmadge R. Howell,
professor of pediatric radiology at the Medical College of Virginia.
Dr. Howell was assisted by two residents from the college. Mrs.
Anne W. Clements, X-ray technician since 1949, continued in that
capacity. In 1971 Dr. Harold L. Floyd, roentgenologist, was added
to the attending staff to insure continuity of supervision of radiol-
ogy residents from the college.

Dr. Gerald W. Atkinson, neurologist, began doing most of the
electro-encephalographs for Crippled Children’s Hospital free of
charge, a service formerly done by Medical College of Virginia for
which the hospital was billed.

A program established in 1969 for second year nursing students
from John Tyler Community College was continued, and in
February 1970 student nurses {from Johnston-Willis Hospital began
a five week rotation schedule offering them clinical experience in
pediatrics as well as knowledge of physical, occupational, recrea-
tional, and speech therapies. Twelve years had elapsed since there
had been student nurses at Crippled Children’s Hospital.

But obtaining a medical director was considered the outstanding
event of the year. It was announced on December 3, 1970 that
Dr. Ralph Ownby had been selected for the post and that he
would also be the Jesse Ball du Pont professor in the Department
of Pediatrics at the Medical College of Virginia, which had become
the Health Sciences Division of Virginia Commonwealth Univer-
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sity. He would be the first to hold these two newly created and
inter-dependent positions, beginning officially on January 1, 1971,
Mr. A. C. Epps contributed generously of his time in making satis-
factory arrangements to secure Dr. Ownby who for eight years had
been a professor of pediatrics at the Medical College. Dr. Ownby
was considered highly qualified, and he quickly won the respect
and admiration of all at Crippled Children’s Hospital.

The current trend in children’s hospitals is to provide complete
service. Therefore, Dr. Ownby’s goal was to build on the work
being done, extending services to a more comprehensive care of
children with various handicaps.

However, the search for an administrator was given top priority,
and Dr. Clary, Dr. Ownby, and Mr. Carl A. Lindgren, Jr. were
assigned this task, Mr. Clarence Floyd Cauble was named admini-
strator of Crippled Children’s Hospital as of July 1, 1971, coming
to the hospital with more than twenty-five years experience in
the field of health care. Among his previous posts, Mr. Cauble
had served in administrative officer positions at the Medical College
of Virginia and, most recently, at the University of North Carolina
Memorial Hospital in Chapel Hill, North Carolina. He lost no
time in getting acquainted with all the personnel as well as with
the Boards of the hospital and instituted a monthly administrative
conference of key personnel. Persannel files were up-dated as well
as many other administrative procedures.

It was not leng before Mr. Cauble began what came to be
called his “checkerboard game”, moving offices and work areas
first to one place and then another in a continuing quest to provide
space for additional specialized personnel and services.

At the annual meeting of the Board of Trustees when the events
of 1971 were reviewed, Mr. Wiltshire tock note of the almost
unbelievable amount of time and effort given to the work by the
surgeon-in-chief, Dr. Clary; Dr. Ownby’s work and dedication
as medical director, which had exceeded all expectations; and Mr.
Cauble’s acceptance of the reins of administration, which was
considered the highlight of 1971. Mr. Wiltshire was very optimistic
for the future of the hospital as he relinquished the office of
president of the Board of Trustees to Mr. Carl A. Lindgren, Jr.

Developments in 1971 included a full-time pediatric residency
program in cooperation with the Medical College of Virginia;
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plans for a “combined” {multi-specialty) juvenile rheumatoid ar-
thritis program, broadening the service available to victims of this
condition; a program of affiliation. for student physical therapists
from the Medical College of Virginia; new laboratory diagnostic
bacteriologic capability; in service training programs for professional
and auxiliary hospital staff, including team approaches to re-
habilitation of the handicapped; and significant additions to the
medical library.

The first “combined clinic” for rheumatoid arthritis patients
was held on February 4, 1972 with participation by specialists
in rheumatology, pediatrics, and orthopedics. With their involve-
ment in the rheumatoid arthritis clinic, Drs. Charles L. Cooke,
Robert Irby, and Duncan S. Owen, Jr. were added to the con-
sulting stafl.

From the early collaboration of Dr. Graham and Health
Commissioner Dr. Ennion G. Williams, Crippled Children’s
Hospital had maintained a close working relationship with the
Virginia Health Department. Dr. Williams was the commissioner
from 1908-1931. Another commissioner of long tenure was Dr.
Mack I. Shanholtz, who served from 1951-1976 and under
whose guidance much expansion occurred in the field of public
health.

In cooperation with the Bureau of Crippled Children (formerly
the Crippled Children’s Bureau) of the Virginia State Health
Department, the juvenile amputee program was transferred from
the Medical College of Virginia to Crippled Children’s Hospital
in 1972, In addition, a delective hearing clinic was established
under the leadership of Dr. G. Douglas Hayden, with Dr. William
L. Wilkes as full-time fellow in otology. Another new service
at Crippled Children’s Hospital, beginning in July of 1972, was
a combined program for children with hcmaphlha and associated
bone and joint problems.

In 197}, Dr. Max D. Largent, head of pediatric dentistry
at Medical College of Virginia, had expressed interest in develop-
ing the dental services at Crippled Children’s Hospital. Pending
progress in this area, a Dr. Edwards, army dentist at Fort Lee,
volunteered his services twice a week. By January, 1972 a tentative
program for therapeutic and preventive dentistry was initiated
with the assistance of Drs. Ray White and Wilson Harper of the
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Medical College of Virginia. The preventive dentistry clinic
evolved, opening officially in November, 1972, with Dr. Thomas
Pribisco, director. Through this clinic, comprehensive dental treat-
ment, emphasizing prevention, restorative dentistry, and inter-
ceptive orthodontics, was made available to all patients of Crippled
Children’s Hospital. With elective rotations by senior dental and
dental hygiene students of the Medical College of Virginia, Vir-
ginia Commonwealth University School of Dentistry, clinical
training and understanding in the treatment of handicapped chil-
dren was provided for these future dentists and hygienists.

Service was broadened by offering occupational and physical
therapies on an outpatient basis. In 1973 a social service director
was added to the staff and a weekly team conference was initiated.
Although general surgery had been performed as needed for
children in Crippled Children’s Hospital, it was not until 1974,
under the Bureau of Crippled Children, that a formal referral
program began sending patients to this hospital for elective general
pediatric surgery.

During ““the seventies” Crippled Children’s Hospital’s role as a
teaching institution became another major area of expansion.
In 1973 a program for third year medical students assipned these
students to short periods of time at Crippled Children’s Hospital
for learning and observing only. After the retirement in 1974 of
Mrs. Garnett Blythe, the hospital’s anesthetist for 22 years, a pro-
gram for the affiliation of nurse anesthesia students from the
Medical College of Virginia was developed with one professor to
each two students, Affiliations from the schools of nursing at J.
Sargeant Reynolds Community College and Richmond Memorial
Hospital were added in 1975, and the bylaws of Crippled Chil-
dren’s Hospital were revised to allow staff members to affiliate
from the University of Virginia and the new Eastern Virginia
Medical School in Norfolk as well as from the Medical College.
By spring, the first orthopedic affiliate from Eastern Virginia was
in residence for three months.

Also in 1975, a post-residency fellow in plastic surgery was
appointed, and following the addition of Dr, Ernest R. Griffith
to the staff, assignment of rotation residents in physical medicine
began. Dr. Zimmerman’s arrangement at Crippled Children’s
Hospital, using Veterans Administration residents in ophthalmology
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on rotation from the Medical College, ceased with his death in
1974. But. an ophthalmology resident program was resumed in
1976, this time by direct assignment from the college.

Innovations in medical treatment led to the opening of the
neuromuscular evaluation clinic in February, 1975. This new pro-
gram provided the opportunity for children with muscular and
nervous system disorders to receive evaluation of their conditions
in a combined way by neurological and orthopedic stafl. As the
result of long term planning involving the hospital, the Health
Department of Richmond, and the Departments of Pediatrics and
Pharmacology at the Medical College, a five day treatment was
developed to remove lead from the blood and bones of children
located by the Health Department’s screening program for de-
tection of lead poisoning. During the first vear of this detoxification
program, 94 patients were treated for chronic lead poisoning. An-
other new development was the first program in Virginia for
children with sensori-neural hearing loss.

The year-71975 also marked the beginning of psychological
services at’ Crippled Children’s Hospital, and the first edition of
“CC-H-I-L-D”, Crippled Children’s Hospital Informational Letter
for Doctors.

Work at Crippled Children’s Hospital has been the basis through
the years for development of new techniques and papers presented

from time to time by members of the medical staff. As the areas

of service broadened under the direction of Dr. Ownby, a vast
amount of useful clinical and laboratory data accumulated, par-
ticularly in regard to juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and hemophilia.
By 1974, the use of human histocompatibility antigen in the diag-
nosis of connective tissue diseases was developed. Dr. Ownby
reported this “a new and potentially very significant laboratory
marker in the diagnosis of rheumatic diseases.” With hemophilia
patients, emphasis has been concentrated on prevention and re-
habilitation of joint problems including the establishment of a
program for administering in the home a concentrated form of the
deficient clotting factor.

The hospital’s hemophilia program served as a core and impetus
for the establishment of the Virginia Chapter of the National
Hemophilia Foundation, essentially a parents group, formally
organized in March, 1975. Crippled Children’s Hospital is now
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designated as a national hemophilia center.

An organization for parents of children suffering with spina
bifida has also been formed.

A developmental stimulation group, created as a joint venture
of the therapy departments, has fostered another parents associa-
tion which meets to discuss problems and possible solutions to their
particular situations.

Crippled Children’s Hospital received prominent exposure in
1977 through “The Charles W. Thomas Lecture”, a major annual
meeting on arthritis at the Medical College of Virginia. The topic
for the program was juvenile rheumatoid arthritis, and one of the
hospital’s patients was presented to pediatric grand rounds. Dr.
Sydney Stillman of the Robert Bent Brigham Hospital in Boston,
part of Harvard Medical School, was the Thomas Lecturer, He
and Mrs, Thomas also visited Crippled Children’s Hospital,
where Dr. Stillman participated in a clinic arranged especially for
his visit.

In the same year, the hospital participated in a program
sponsored by the Virginia Orthopedic Society to screen pre-
adolescent and adolescent children throughout the state for scoliosis
or lateral curvature of the spine. Early recognition and treatment
diminishes the necessity for major spinal surgery. Crippled Chil-
dren’s Hospital accepted and treated many patients identified in
this program.

With changes in the state laws, broadening the responsibility
of hospital, medical, and other professional people in the area
of “child abuse” and “child neglect”, guidelines were established
for evaluation and reporting of apparent cases seen in the course
of inpatient and outpatient services.

Consistent with the hospital’s goal to consider the whole child,
the education of patients has continued an important part of the
care offered at Crippled Children’s Hospital. This proceeded
through the Virginia Department of Education until the late 1950s
or early 1960s when the responsibility for employing teachers for

-the hospital was shifted to the Richmond Public Schools system, re-~

imbursed by the Commonwealth of Virginia. The State Depart-
ment of Bducation, Special Education Division, in conjunction with
the Richmond Public Schools, operates a complete educational
program with four special education teachers and one clinic edu-
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cational consultant for patients at Crippled Children’s Hospital. A
federal grant under public law 89-313, administered by the state,
provides instructional material, equipment, and supplies at this
time. This phase of care is under the supervision of Mr. Cabell
Luck, Jr., who in 1974 became the director of the Richmond
Hospital Educational Program, providing services for inpatients
and outpatients of Crippled Children’s Hospital, Medical College
of Virginia, and various State Health Department clinics. Acting
as a liaison between the medical setting and the child’s home
school, the program includes tutoring, diagnostic educational ser-
vices, and follow-up. These services are offered to all hospitalized
children beginning as early as two years of age. For outpatients, an
education consultant is assigned to selected clinics.

A preschool pilot program for physically handicapped children
was initiated in 1972, opening officially in 1973. The program was
sponsored for three years by the Richmond Section of the National
Council of Jewish Women, with Mrs. Margaret Huber followed
by Mrs. Betty Lewis as directors. It proved of such value to the
children enrolled that it was continued as a service offered at
Crippled Children’s Hospital until June I, 1978 when new federal
legislation made it unwise to continue this program at Crippled
Children’s Hospital. For their work in establishing the preschogl
program at the hospital, the Richmond Section of the National
Council of Jewish Women received a citation from the National
Center for Voluntary Action.

Mr. Clarence Cauble met the demands created by all of this
increased activity and the growing complexities of - hospital ad-
ministration with measures which were innovative when compared
with the ultra-conservative approach traditionally employed by
Crippled Children’s Hospital. Scon after his arrival in 1971, a
persannel handbook was published and job descriptions and eval-
uation performance ratings were established for all employees. In
1972 the DELLA ROBBIA NEWS, an “in house” publication,
made its first appearance.

Also new on the scene in 1972, four graduate students affiliated
with the School of Hospital Administration began working on an
up-to-date accounting svstem for the hospital. In 1976 a pre-
residency program in hospital administration was established at
Crippled Children’s Hospital under the preceptorship of Mr.
Cauble.
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The first annual service awards ceremony was held in the
Vose Auditorium on April 28, 1972. Pins, donated by Mr. Charles
G. Motley of the Board of Trustees, were given to hospital em-
ployees with five, ten, fifteen, and twenty years of service. In
addition, one pin for thirty years of service was given to Mrs.
Mozelle Hawkins Burton, assistant administrator and personnel
director; and one thirty-five year pin, to Mrs. Evelyn Gowin, linen
department supervisor, who retired in 1976. Other personnel
of long standing were Miss Ivery Walton, operating room super-

visor, who retired in 1973 after twenty-four vyears of service

and Mr. Berkley Skelton, night watchman and general helper,
who died in 1971 having served since 1950, In addition to Mrs.
Burton, several other employees with long service records who con-
tinue their work at Crippled Children’s Hospital include: Mrs.
Anne W. Clements, X-ray technician since 1949, Mrs. Blanche
Wilson, laboratory technician since 1950, and Mr. Clarence
Cumber, semi-retired, former assistant maintenance engineer, em-
ployed in 1956. '

Mr. Jimmy Dale Pearce was named controller as of September,
1972 following the retirement of Mrs. Frances W. Dodd, secretary-
treasurer, after 19 years of service. Through the diligence of Mr.
Cauble, an application was filed for Medicaid funds which were
approved in November, 1972, and the Bureau of Crippled Children
increased the hospital’'s annual allotment from $157,500 to
$185,500. With the cooperation of the medical staff, the medical
records department with Mrs, Mary Gene Kent, supervicor, and
Mr. Pearce and his staff, Mr. Cauble impraved the procedures
to secure the urgently needed financial assistance available through
patients of parents with some form of insurance coverage (third
party reimbursement).

As outpatient clinic activity expanded, existing clinic areas be-
came quite inadequate. Fortunately the solution to this problem
stood ready and waiting in the Nurses’ Home which had seen
gradually decreasing utilization.

When Mr, Cauble approached the Sunshine Circle with the
plan to convert the Nurses’ Home into a well organized outpatient
facility, this group which had maintained the building through the
years, offered its enthusiastic cooperation. Gradually the appropri-
ately named Sunshine Clinic became a reality, offering brighter
futures to all within its care. The official opening of the clinic was
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in January, 1973. The cost of conversion was approximately
$15,000; the Sunshine Circle, the Junior Board, and Kappa Delta
Sorority each contributing $5,000.

Through the Sunshine Circle, memorial contributions made pos-
sible & number of additional improvements. A room was furnished
as a doctors’ lounge in memory of Charles E. Wilkinson, Jr., hus-
band of a former president of the Sunshine Circle. Later, at the
death of Mrs. Wilkinson, memorial donations benefitted the medi-
cal library. Two della Robbia medallions at the entrance to the
Sunshine Clinic were given in memory of Edward Hooker Boisseau
by his mother, Mrs. Edward R. Boisseau, a president of the Circle,
and his grandmother, Mrs. H. Lester Hooker, also a Circle member.
The Sunshine Circle erected a bronze plaque to dedicate this
memarial, At Mrs. Hooker’s death, closed circuit television was
provided for the clinic area in her memory.

A sun dial was erected in memory of another Sunshine Circle
president, Mrs. Blake Meador, with landscaping in memory of
Warren Randolph Pollard, Jr. Lamp posts were given in memory
of Mrs. Ernest Mayo and Mrs. Robert N. Powell, and a book for
the recording of memorials was dedicated to the memory of Mrs.
Joseph Carter.

Many volunteers and staff members assisted in preparing the
building for use as a clinic. The large parlor, converted into a con-
ference room, was furnished by the Sunshine Circle and later, the
Circle redecorated rooms on the second floor for offices of the
medical director and administrator,

Increased services and personnel made better communications
mandatory. To meet this need, a new PBX telephone system was
installed, and Kappa Delta donated funds for the long needed
paging system.

Mr. Cauble decided to embark on another innovation in 1973
when a committee of five members of the Newcomers’ Club ap-
proached him, expressing the opinion that the hospital looked drab
and cheerless with its completely neutral institutional color scheme.
With their chairman, Mrs. Karen Karvelis, who was quite knowl-
edgeable in the psychological effect of interior color design, the
committee suggested a completely new contemporary color treat-
ment,

Realizing the usual resistance to change, a great deal of planning
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took place before two students of the Department of Interior De-
sign of Virginia Commonwealth University, under faculty super-
vision, developed the project as their major thesis. The Newcomers’
Club made hundreds of items which were then sold at a series of
bazaars to raise the money for the paint. The maintenance staff
provided the labor. But before any painting was done, final ap-
proval was obtained from the club’s project committee chairman,
the faculty advisor consultant, and the administrator, along with
the cooperation of the department head of each particular area and
the consent of the governing authorities. Needless to say, to achieve
all this, compromises were necessary before the project was com-
pleted in 1974, The striking change was generally well received
except for the circus tent effect of five primary colors inspired by
the confluence of the arched hallways in the entrance hall. This
proved objectionable to the conservative tastes of some Board mem-
bers, staff, and parents, and the color scheme was altered here to
create a more dignified reception area. In the end, the Newcomers’
goal of transforming the uninteresting decor into a bright and wel-
coming atmosphere appealing to children, was accomplished,

The “new look™ was also indicative of the other metamorphoses
taking place within Crippled Children’s Hospital.

A {ew statistics comparing 1966 with 1977 show clearly some
transitions.

1966 1877
Number of Admissions ... 654 846
Number of Discharges ..o 599 858
Average Length of Stay .. . 54 12.5
Inpatient Days of Care ... . 31,330 8,388
Outpatient VISITS ... 1,540 18,500

The decreasing average length of stay and the resulting fast turn
over of inpatients has produced a paradox; the number of admis-
sions has increased while the inpatient days of care have decreased
dramatically. However, given the sharp rise in outpatient visits, on
almost any day in 1977 there would have been over 100 children
receiving care at Crippled Children’s Hospital.

Financial comparisons can only be approximate due to changes
in the accounting procedures. The total operating cost in 1966 was
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recorded at $502,537.67. Total operating expenses for fiscal year
1977-78 were $1,657,043. Obviously, the administration has been
forced to meet the cost of increased activity in the face of inflation
in the general economy.

Up-dated office procedures, including a mini-computer acguired
in 1974 in the controller’s office, have helped the hospital to pursue
available funds and improve its accounting system. In 1976 the
Board of Trustees and Board of Managers operating accounts were
combined; and the method of check signing, automated—a far cry
from “the old days” when the president of the Board of Managers
made sporadic trips to the hospital to sign checks,

In 1976 The National Association of Children’s Hospitals and
Related Institutions commended Crippled Children’s Hospital,
Richmond, Virginia on its cost program and published an article
written by the hospital’s administrative assistant, ], Randolph
Fowler, noting the increase in service, the decrease in length of
stay, and the physical improvements to the then almaost fifty year
old buildings. Mr. Fowler observed: ‘“Testing for the typical patient
takes several days. Confining this initia} evaluatmn (when practical)
to outpatient services has reduced costs by cutting that time from
required hospitalization,” Long term patients are put in intermediate
care facilities when possible, a practice encouraged by Medicaid of
Virginia which provides longer reimbursement under these less
costly conditions. A week-end pass system which allows some recu-
perating patients to leave the hospital without the expense involved
in being discharged and readmitted also permlts a reduced staff
on week-ends.

As a special Christmas present, the hospital was even emptied
and closed except for a watchman in 1974. This has become a tra-
dition, with all patients going home or being taken into local homes
for Christmas day. In 1976 for the first time, a four day holiday
was achieved with stafl on call if needed.

Keeping the hospital up-to-date in every way has required much
work as well as expense. During the early 1970s a new fire alarm
system and fire doors were necessary to meet hospital accreditation
standards and insurance company requirements. The Marietta M.
and Samuel T. Morgan, Jr. Memorial Trust Fund provided
$25,000 for this work which was done by Taylor and Parrish at
cost. A new X-ray machine acquired in June, 1976 cost $64,500
plus $10,500 for installation and remodeling of the department, A
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large storage huilding was erected at a cost of $19,318, and Gra-
ham Ward was completely remodeled to become the educational
department with the preschool area, school rooms, offices, testing
areas, and an “activity of daily living” area. These facilities were
completed in 1977,

Through the years, many of the duties of the Board of Managers
had gradually been assumed by the administrator. With the advent
of the medical director and the new administrator, the Board’s role
became one of assisting as needed while continuing to serve as an
active public relations department and liaison with volunteer
organizations.

The Board of Managers also retained as one of its primary {unc-
tions, the raising of supplementary funds for operating expenses of
the hospital through “Donation Day”, the one annual appeal of
Crippled Children’s Hospital to meet its operating deficit. In 1970
the Donation Day goal was $205,000, increasing to $250,000 by
1977. Donation Day continues on the fourth Tuesday in November,
and has been extended to include contributions credited to the ap-
peal from November first through October thirty-first of the {follow-
ing year. It is truly a cooperative venture with newspapers, radio
and television stations, and business firms such as Miller and Rhoads,
Thalhimers, Neighborhood Theatres, and others giving their as-
sistance with publicity. For years Union Envelope Company has
supplied thousands of envelopes for the appeal. Others donate funds
to help meet the need.

Preparation for the annual appeal has become a year round
project for those members of the Board of Managers who give one
day a week to keep donor files up-to-date. The value of the work
done by the members of these committees cannot be over estimated.
For example, in 1975, ten members worked a total of 1,680 hours
correcting and enlarging the general file. By 1976 the file of firms
was increased twenty times over what it was in 1972. The diligence
of these and all the other Donation Day committees has paid off
year after year as Donation Day goals have been met.

An associate membership status was established in 1972 for mem-
bers of the Board of Managers. Any member desiring this affiliation
must have served as an active member for at least ten years.

Mrs, Frank C. Acree and Mrs. Belle H. Ullman received special
certificates in recognition of fifty years of service on the Board in
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1973. Actually their years of service exceeded half a century, since
both had worked with crippled children as volunteers before joining
in 1923 what was then the Woman’s Auxiliary.

In 1977, recognizing officially the changes in its functions, the
Board of Managers altered its name once more, becoming the
Senior Board of Crippled Children’s Hospital.

The Junior Board continued its annual Ball and Christmas card
project. In 1970 the Board netted over $13,000 from the Ball and
almost $2,500 from the sale of 28,000 cards. Tn 1971, the Ball
vielded approximately $14,000 and the cards, $5,000, with profits
of $14,500 and $4,000 respectively in 1972, The major portion of
these funds were used to air condition the Graham wing and the
dietary department, including the kitchen, caleteria, and dining
room at a cost of $4.3,564.80.

From 1973 through 1977, proceeds from the Ball averaged
$20,000 per year. These funds made possible a $15,000 contribution
to equip the former “cast” room for a second operating room, dedi-
cated Octobier 24, 1974. They also provided $5,000 toward the
Sunshine Clinic, $25,500 toward ceiling tile and improved lighting
throughout the hospital corridors, $25,000 toward improvement of
bathing and other plumbing facilities on both the girls and boys
units, and $30,200 toward increased electrical capacity to meet
current and future needs. Funds from the Ball in 1978 reached a
record of $26,000.

The Junior Board in 1974 raised $2,631 by conducting a sale
of household items and personal effects from an estate left to the
hospital. Another unusual event of the same year was a party at
“Windsor” honoring the medical and dental staffs, both attending
and consulting, on September 27, 1974. The Junior Board and the
dietary department of the hospital cooperated on the refreshments
for the affair, which was the suggestion of Mr. William A. Forrest,
Jr. of the Board of Trustees. This was the first function held spe-
cifically to recognize these doctors for their vital contributions to
the work of Crippled Children’s Hospital.

The Christmas card project ceased to be a substantial source for
funds and was abandoned by the Junior Board in 1977. However,
the Senior Board, realizing the public relations value of the cards,
assumed responsibility for the project.

The continued support from Kappa Delta Sorority was recog-
nized by the president of the Senior Board, Mrs. Virgil R. Goode,
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when she stated in her 1977 annual report: “There is not a spot in
our hospital that has not been touched by Kappa Delta.” The
sarority, converting into dollars its concern for helping children, has
poured those dollars into the hospital for operating expenses and
major equipment,

Kappa Delta Christmas seals sent to every member continue to
generate the philanthropic funds of the national organization. These
funds provide Kappa Delta’s annual donation and its special bien-
nial convention gifts to the hospital.

The annual donation, standing at $10,000 since 1961, was in-
creased to $12,500 annually in 1874, In 1971 the convention gift
of $10,000 was combined with an additional $10,000 as a special
donation commemorating the fiftieth anniversary of the sorority’s
involvement with Crippled Children’s Hospital. This $20,000 was
used for new hospital beds on both the boys and the girls units and
new curtains for the stage of the Vose auditorium. In 1973 the
$10,000 convention gift provided $5,000 toward the Sunshine Clinic
and $5,000 toward a mobile X-ray machine. A $5,800 Kappa Delta
memorial gift also helped to buy this X-ray equipment. The 1575
convention gift was added to the annual gift to complete the new
electrical panel installations and the ceiling tile and lighting partially
provided by the Junior Board. In 1977 Kappa Delta gave $29,865
{the combined annual and convention gifts) to furnish a cavitron
for the dental clinic, convert class rooms into patient units, re-equip
an acute care area, and develop a deaf learning center.

Through the years Kappa Delta has provided funds for a number
of hospital publications. Funds from Kappa Delta have made pos-
sible the publication of this history.

In addition, individual alumnae chapters and collegiate chapters
across the nation send special gifts and sponsor parties at Easter,
Halloween, and Valentine’s Day. A special memorial gift in 1970
provided the air conditioning for both the patient care units. The
marble bench and tree near the rose garden also were given in
memory of a Kappa Delta.

Mrs. H. Lewis Garrett, Kappa Delta Hospital Representative for .
the decade of “the sixties”, reliquished the post in 1970 and was
later elected to membership on the Board of Managers. The Kappa
Delta vacancy was filled in rapid succession first by Mrs. Edward
D. Seidel, followed by Mrs. William D. Houscholder, and then by
Mrs. William E. Goode, who served for five years as the sorority’s
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liaison with the hospital. Subsequently she was elected to member-
ship on the Board. Mrs. Goode was succeeded in 1976 by Mrs.
H. Wayne Moran. In 1979 Mrs. James F. Woodard became the
national director of Kappa Delta’s Fospital Committee and its rep-
resentative on the Senior Board of the hospital.

Crippled Children’s Hospital also benefits indirectly from the
annual Kappa Delta orthopedic research awards administered by
the American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons. The award, estab-
lished in 1947, the golden anniversary of the sorority, and originally
a $1,000 grant, has increased to $2,000 for each paper so recog-
nized. Three such awards in 1978 marked the thirty-first annual
presentation and brought to a total of $116,000 the funds con-
tributed by Kappa Delta for orthopedic research.

The Sunshine Circle celebrated its fiftieth anniversary in 1971,
marking as many vears of giving both time and talent to aid the
hospital. Its funds now come primarily from the Holiday Mart held
each November since 1953, Throughout the year members pre-
pare for this event. In reviewing the twenty-five year history of the
mart, this group of approximately fifty women had donated over
$100,000 to the hospital. Since then, the Sunshine Circle has con-
tributed $17,000 in 1978 and $15,000 in 1979 for the clinic. The
Circle also responds generously to the Donation Day appeal.

The number of individuals and groups contributing to the hos-
pital is impressive. Some provide vital support for the continuation
of the work; others prefer to brighten the days for patients with
entertainment. Since the inception of the Tobacco Festival in
Richmond in 1948, the Ferko String Band of Philadelphia and the
grand marshall of the festival have visited Crippled Children’s
Hospital annually during that event. An addition to the festival,
the Sports-Celebrity Breakfast, begun in 1974, benefits the hospital
with donations of over $1,000 annually, The Shrine Circus an-
nually brings animals and performers to visit the children, and the
Richmond Fire Department stages demonstrations of equipment
regularly.

Gifts in 1970 were as varied as a twenty-five pound fiftieth an-
niversary cake made by Mrs. T. B. Carter of the Doswell Woman’s
Club, to many pints of blood from groups such as the Mechanics-
ville Jaycees. Time and labor have been spent on the grounds by
the West End Jaycees, the United States Army Reserve, and the
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Eagle Scouts. The United States Air National Guard built a minia-
ture golf course on the grounds. Women {rom many churches and
the Newcomers' Club continue te mend and sew for the hospital.

In 1971, Mrs. Edith ¥, Layman, a retired school teacher, who
traveled by bus from Louisa, Virginia, was selected as the Violunteer
of the Year from the entire Richmond area for her work as a reader
and tutor to patients at Crippled Children’s Hospital. A velunteer
recognition ceremony was presented by the recreational therapy
department for the first time in April 1975.

Vital support has continued from magnanimous gifts and gener-
ous bequests, Among these was the unusual gift in 1977 from Mr.
Thomas M. Brooks of Quinton, Virginia who gave parcels of land
and stock certificates, including a total of approximately 145 acres
in New Kent County, Virginia. Particularly generous bequests in
the 1970s have come from Mrs. Virginia Beal Hardaway, Alice S.
Higgins, Sidney Oberdorfer, Francis Joseph Britton, and Sally
Marie Baeyertz, whose regard for Dr. W. T. Graham inspired her
gift. :

As always, the years have taken their toll in lives of people im-
portant in the life of Crippled Children's Hospital. Dr. William
Zimmerman, ITI, who contributed greatly through the years to the
eye service available at the hospital, died in 1974, and Dr. William
E. Daner, orthopedic surgeon on the medical staff of Crippled
Children’s Hospital for about 30 years, died in 1976.

The Board of Trustees lost Mr. Leroy R. Cohen, Jr., distinguished
lawyer and public spirited citizen, who died in 1970; and Mr.
William Preston, in 1971. Mr. William Frazier and Mr. James M.
Ball, Jr. died in 1973; and Mr, Jack H. Baskerville, in 1976, All
three were financiers and former presidents of the Board of Trustees.

Among the members of the Board of Managers who died in the
first part of the decade were: Mrs. George S. Kemp, faithful worker
and benefactor; Mrs. C. Stuart Carr, a member of the Board’s
executive committee; Mrs. Belle H. Ullman, a member for over
fifty years; and Mrs. George Godolphin Osborne, a past president.

Miss Ruth Karleen Ingersoll, retired administrator of Crippled
Children’s Hospital, died on March 5, 1974. The Board of Man-
agers erected a fountain in her memory with funds provided by

memorial donations. The fountain was dedicated on October 2,
1975,
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The Board of Trustees was under the direction of Mr. R. Harvey
Chappell, Jr., president from 1974-1976 and Mr. William B. Thal-
himer, Jr., president from 1976-1978. In addition to its normal
responsibilities, the Board cstablished guidelines to prevent conflict
of interest between its members and the hospital. It also amended
the employee retirement plan to comply with the Employee Retire-
ment Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). This was a long and
involved process under the chairmanship of Mr. William A. For-
rest, Jr. Crippled Children’s Hospital participated with other non-
profit hospitals in the area to form The Virginia Hospital Laundry,
Incorporated, which began operation in 1976. An honorary mem-
bership status was created in 1977 for members of the Board of
Trustees no longer able to be active.

However, the primary concern of the Board of Trustees during
“the seventies” has been the formulation of long range plans for
the continued growth of Crippled Children’s Hospital in service to
the impaired child. To this end, E. D. Rosenfeld Associates, Inc.,
a consulting firm specializing in the field of hospital and health
services, was engaged in 1977-78 to conduct a “role study” for
Crippled Children’s Hospital to determine future health care needs
and the role of Crippled Children’s Hogpital in meeting these needs.
The Raosenfeld study, consisting of five and ten year projections
(through 1990), includes information on patient demographics,
other facilities offering specialized pediatric services, trends in utili-
zation rates, medical stafl requirements, and need for patient and
parent{s) education, counseling, and therapeutic services. The
Board of Trustees is proceeding with plans to provide the physical
facilities as well as the funds for development along the lines indi-
cated by the study.

As the decade draws to a close, the Board of Trustees is involved
in remodeling the Sunshine Clinic and creating additional space
to accomodate the increasing number of outpatients. Mr. L. Howard
Jenkins, Jr. serves as president of the Board of Trustees, having as-
sumed this office in 1978, Mr. H. Hiter Harris, Jr. is first vice-
president, and Mr. Overton D. Dennis, Jr. is second vice-president
and chairman of the Master Plan Development Committee.

With the continued increase of activity in the clinic, members of
the Senior Board are serving as volunteers in that area, in addition
to their other responsibilities. The Senior Board president in 1978
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was Mrs. Martin Markowitz, succeeded by Mrs. Charles S. Luck,
IIT in 1979. Also serving in the clinic are members of the Junior
Board, the Sunshine Circle, the Huguenot Woman’s Chub and the
Varina Junior Woman’s Club.

In summary, Crippled Children’s Hospital is a privately endowed,
non-profit institution, largely supported by contributions and unique
within the health care system of the Commonwealth of Virginia.
Through the years, it has served a large segment of the population
in need of care, but unable to afford it. Through its affiliation with
the Medical College of Virginia, the hospital offers services usually
unavailable except in large medical centers. The Sunshine Clinic,
partially sponsored by the Bureau of Crippled Children, enables
Crippled Children’s Hospital to keep pace with the increasing need
for corrective services. Specialized services include orthopedics, re-
constructive plastic surgery, ephthalmology, otology, dentistry, pedi-
atric medicine, rehabilitative medicine, and pediatric surgery, with
the full range of therapy modalities and special education. Patients
range in age from infancy through 18 years.

The hospital’s greatly increased participation in medical educa-
tion programs includes rotating resident doctors in orthopedic, pedi-
atric, physical medicine, ophthalmology, dentistry and plastic ser-
vices. Residents or students are associated with the hospital in the
areas of hospital administration, anesthesiology, occupational ther-
apy, physical therapy, psychology, recreational therapy, speech
therapy, special education, social service, dental hygiene, medical
records and nursing, including prospective registered nurses from
Richmond Memorial and Johnston-Willis Hospitals and John Tyler
and J. Sargeant Reynolds Community Colleges, practical nursing
students from the Richmond Public Schools Division of Technical
and Adult Education, and nurses aids from the Career Education
Center of the Richmond Public Schools. Nurses enrolled in the
relatively new nurse practitioner program of the Medical College
are also assigned on rotation primarily to observe in clinics. These
medical education programs have spread the word of the compre-
hensive care available at Crippled Children’s Hospital and the value
of the team approach.

This hospital is no longer the long-term convalescent type of
facility it once was when most of the patients had polio or other
long-term orthopedic problems. Today, it is a referral center for
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children with a wide variety of serious physical problems caused
either by congenital defects or the physical trauma of accident or
disease. Outpatient services have expanded to an average of 23
clinics per month. The average length of stay for inpatients de-
creases steadily.

As the number of patients served increases, the need for help to
support the work grows also. “Meeting the need” continues to he
the mission of Crippled Children’s Hospital, and for those involved,
it is an exciting and gratifying experience.

But the real drama lies in the lives transformed through the hos-
pital’s care. The experience of a seventeen year old boy, completely
incapacitated and bedridden, unable to use his hip, and in constant
pain serves as one example. Conservative medical treatment and
therapy had not proved helpful; therefore, a total hip replacement
was done by orthopedic surgeons at Crippled Children’s Hospital.
This former patient became fully ambulatory without pain, and at
the age of eighteen years he took a full-time job. Another teen-aged
boy appeared to have a progressive, non-treatable muscle disorder
and had not walked for three or four years. However, with intensive
physical and occupational therapy and surgery to release tight heel
cords from muscle contracture, allowing his feet to be flat on the
floor while standing, he became able to walk with the aid of fore-
arm crutches. The positive change in the emotional attitudes of this
child and his family were as gratifying as his physical improvement.
Equally significant results are achieved in the other services avail-
able at Crippled Children’s Hospital. Thus the hospital makes a
tremendous contribution to those it serves as well as-to their com-
munities.

From its origin in the little clinic started by Dr. William Tate
Graham in 1917 through more than sixty years of development, the
hospital has grown to meet the need and to keep pace with advances
in medical science and support services, always striving to do the
very best for each individual patient. This is also the pattern for the
future of Crippled Children’s Hospital. Rooted in dedication to the
relief of suffering children, Crippled Children’s Hospital takes pride
in its past and has confidence that it can continue to change to meet
the needs of the future.
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MEDICAL STAFF

1979

James T. Tucker, M.D., D.Sc., surgeon-in-chief emeritus

Beverley B. Clary, M.D.,, surgeon-in-chief and president, Medical Staff

Ralph Ownby, M.D,, medical director

ACTIVE STATFF

OrTHOPEDIC SURGERY

Robert 5. Adelaar, M.D.
John A. Cardea, M.ID,
Earnest B. Garpenter, M.D.
Richard B. Caspari, M.D.
Beverley B. Clary, M.D.
Ernest L. Clements, Jr., M.D.
James B. Dalton, Jr., M.D.
Donald D. Davidsen, M.D.
William M. Deyerle, M.D.

William D. Henceroth, IT, M.I.

William T. Johnstone, M.D.
Bela Lang, M.D.

Joseph R. Macys, M.D.
Virgil R, May, Jr., M.D,
Charles L., McDowell, M.D.
John F. Meyers, M.D.
Walter N. Rabhan, M.D.
Donald G. Seitz, M.D.
Franklin P. Watkins, M.D.
George W. Wood, M.D.
Richard L. Worland, M.D.

PLasTic SURGERY

Hunter S, Jackson, M.D,
Carroll T. Petty, M.D.

Leroy Smith, M.D. _
3. Dawson Theogaraj, M.D.
J. Latane Ware, M.D,

OTOLARYNGOLOGY

Fred T. Shaia, M.D.

William L. Wilkes, M.D.
George H. Williams, M.D.-
Mason M. Williams, M.D.

OPHTHALMOLOGY
Robert W. Jacey, ML.D.
Walter Mayer, M.1.
PEpIaTRICS

Ralph Ownby, M.D.

PEDIATRIC SURGERY
Arnold M. Salzberg, M.D.

DENTISTRY

J. B. Bragassa, Jr,, D.D.S.
Charles L. Cuttino, D.D.S.
Frank H. Farrington, D.D.S,
P. B, Peters, D.D.5.

Herbert W, Sorenson, DS,

COURTESY STAFT

ORTHOPEDIC SURGERY
John F. Butterworth, 111, M.D.

Thomas R. Butterworth, Jr., M.D.

Edward P. Carrigan, M.D.
Edwin W, Hakala, M.D.
Charles M. James, M.D.

Bernard A. Lublin, M.D.
William R, Mauck, M.D.
Herman M. Nachman, M.D.
Robert M. Piicher, Jr., M.D.
Terry L. Whipple, M.D.
Henry A. Yancey, Jr.,, M.D.
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PEDIATRICS

William M. Bruch, M.D.
Lorne K. Garrettson, M.D.
Carolyn M. McCue, M.D.
Nancy B. McWilliams, M.D.
Leouise W. Robertson, M.D.

NEUROSURGERY
Humbert G. Sullivan, M.D.

PrasTic SURGERY
I. Kelman Cohen, M.D.

DeNTISTRY

Marshall P. Brownstein, D.D.S.

Rabert O, Kendig, DD.S.
Maston McCorkle, Jr,, D.D.S.
Michael O. McMunn, D.I1S,
Carl A. Moss, D.D.5.

Arthur P. Mourine, D.D.S.

James R. Schroeder, D.D.S.

CONSULTING STAFT

ANESTHESIOLOGY

C. Paul Boyan, M.D.
Campbeli Harris, Jr., M.D.

Crinicar PATHOLOGY
Lyman M. F:isher, M.D.

DentisTRY

H. Gordon Cheney, D.D.5.
J. Robert Eshleman, D.D.S.
Charles L. Eubank, D.D.S.
Sherwin R, Fishman, D.D.S.
James E. Meclver, D.D.S,
John A, Svirsky, D.D.S.

DERMATOLOGY

R. Campbell Manson, M.D.
Francis H. McMullan, M.D.

Thomas W. Murrell, Jr., M.D.

NEvRroLOGY

Gerald W. Atkinson, M.D.
Miriam W, Carmichael, M.ID,

NEUROSURGERY

Joseph F. Kell, Jr., M.D.
Robert P. Singer, M.D.
Charles E. Troland, M.ID.
Anthony G. Velo, M.D.

OToLARYNGOLOGY

William T, Clarke, M.D.
G. Douglas Hayden, M.D.
Peter N. Pastore, M.D.

ParHoOLOGY
Saul Kay, M.D.

PEDIATRICS

Ronald B. David, M.D.
Harold M. Maurer, M.D.
Edwin C. Myer, M.D.

Walter E. Nance, M.D., Ph.D.

PsycHIaATRY
Weir M. Tucker, M.ID.

Ranionogy
Talmadge R. Howell, M.D.

Remasmitation MEDICINE

Michael J. Decker, M.D.
Ernest R. Griffith, M.D.
Baltej S. Kallar, M.D.

RHEUMATOLOGY

Charles L, Coake, M.DD,
Robert Irby, M.ID.
Bruce H. Littman, M.D.
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P. Franklin Mullinax, M.D. Urarosy

Duncan S, OVVED, jl‘., M.D. A. 1. Dodson JI'. M.D.
Shaun Ruddy, M.D. J. Edward Hill, M.D.

Elam C. Toone, Jr., M.D. Warren W. Koontz, Jr, M.D.

SURGERY
H, Fairfax Conquest, M.D,

HONORARY STAFF

M. J. Hoover, M.D.
James T. Tucker, M.D.

DEPARTMENT SUPERVISORS

1979 :
Kathleen Allen, MEd. ... Psychology
Mozelle H. Burton, RN, ... Assistant Administrator
Anne Clements, X-ray Technician ... Radiology
Patricia Clingenpeel, RN, ... Operating Room
Richard Qolling, R.Ph. Pharmacy
Mary Gene Kent, ART. ., Medical Records
Janice Kytle-Seargent, M.Ed, O.TR. .............. Occupational Therapy
Frances Ladd, RN, i Girls Unit
Judith Lanier ..o SO Patient Services
Gwendolynn Lingerfelt, M.Ed., C.C.C.-Sp. .............. Speech Pathology
Theresa Loehr ..o Dietary
William B. Loving, Jr. oo e Maintenance
Carol Lubno, RIN. e Clinic
Sue Lucas, B.S, TRS, ... . Recreational Therapy
Cabell Luck, Jr, MEd. ... Educational
Frances K. McClaren, RN ...t Boys Unit
Kathleen Marris, R-DH. .o Dental
Jane Nelson, MMB.W, ., Social Service
Jimmy DL Pearce .o, Controlfer
Mary Kaye Peyton, RPT. Physical Therapy
A, Geneva Quarles, RN, ... TSR P VPO Nursing Service
Mildred Ray .......... TR e ...Housekeeping
Blanch Wilson, M.T. e Laboratory
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OFFICERS
1920-1979

SURGEONS-IN-CHIEF

William Tate Graham, M.D., Founder ...,
H. Page Mauck, MLIDu e
James T. Tucker, MLD. (oo,
Beverley B, Clary, MLD. ..o

Surcron-IN-CHIEF EMERITUS
James T Tucker, MD. ..o

MEepicaL DIRECTOR
Ralph Ownby, MD. e

ADMINISTRATORS

R. Karleen Ingersoll, RN e
Mozelle H. Burton, R.N., Acting Administrator ........................
Clarence FChuble, FACHA

PRESIDENTS
Boarp oF TrRUSTEES

Mr. H. Watkins Ellerson ... e,
Mr, Legh R Page . oo
Mr. James M. Ball, Jro oo
Mr. William Frazier ..o,
Mr. Thomas C. Gordor, Jr o
Mr. A. Churchill Young, Jr. ..
Mr. Jack H. Baskerville ..o
Mr AL CUEDRPS oo
Mr. Henry Lee Valentine, IT ...,
Mr. Richard W. Wiltshire ...
Mr. Carl A, Lindgren, Jr. oo
Mr. R, Harvey Chappell, Jr....ocooe e
Mr, William B. Thalhimer, Jr, .o
Mr. L. Howard Jenkins, Jr.....coooii

Woman’s AUXILIARY

Mrs. Waller W, Morton ..o,
Mrs. Henry P. Carrington ...
Mrs. J. Luther Moon ..o,

1920-53
1953-55
1655-70
1970-

1970

1971-

1942-67
1967-71

1920-35
1935-44
1944-51
1951-54
1954.59
1859-62
1962-65
1965-67
1967-70

1976-78
1978-.

Boarp or MANAGERS

Mrs. J. Luther Moon oo e 1938-44
Mrs. James E. Roberts ... 1944-47
Mrs. James Dudley ..o e 1547-51
Mrs. Frank C. ACree ..o eiesieconr s 1951233
Mrs. Edward Reeves Adams ... 1953-55
Mis. C. Cecil Arledge oo 1955-57
Mrs. Edward H. Gunst ..o, 1957-59
Mrs, A. Wade Lamb, Jr. oo 1959-61
Mrs. Samuel R, Rose, Jr oo 1961-62
Mrs. George (G, Oshorne ..o 1962-64
Mrs. R, Meade Christian ... 1964-66
Mrs. L. Howard Jenking, Jr. .o 1966-68
Mrs. H, Godwin JOmes ..o v 1968-72
Murs. Robert L. Rand, Jro .o, 1972-74
Mis, Virgil R, Goode ..o 1974-78
SENIOR Boarp
Mrs, Martin Markowltz ..o 1978-79
Mrs, Charles 8, Luck, TIT .o eevcaseeees e .. 1979
Juwior Boarp _

Mrs. Ernest A, deBordenave ... .. 1933-35
Mrs, Horace A, Gray, Jr .o 1635-36
Mrs. Eppa Hunton, IV e 1936-37
Mrs, John M. Gatewood, Jr. e 1937-39
Mis. Carlyle Creath Jones ............... e e .. 1939-40
Miss Katharine Jones ... 1. 194041
Mrs, George V. MOINCUTE ...\ 1041-42
Mrs. William Byrd Rawlings ... 1942-43
Mrs, William B. JAcobs ..o e 1943.45
Mrs. Charles Robins, Jr. i 1945-47
Mis. Joseph F. Maher, Jr. o 1947-49
Mrs. J. Robert Massie, Jr. oo 1948-51
Mrs. A. Spotswood Robins ... 1951-53
Mis. Virgil R, Goode ... TSPV OTPPES 1953-55
Mrs, G, Denny WERILE oo 1955-57
Mrs, William C. Barr oo e 1957-39
Mrs. John Randolph, Jr. oo 1959-61
Mis. Richard J. Jones, Jr. oo 1961-63
Mrs., Richard H. Dilworth ..o 1963-65
Mrs. Williarn T, Tucker o 1965-66
Mus. Gearge B, Little oo 1966-67



Mrs. Herbert W, Jackson, TTL .o, 1967-68
Mrs. James P. Massie, Jr. i 1968-69
Mirs. John L. Clark .o 1969-70
Mrs. Henry Lee Valentine, TI ..., 1970-71
Mrs. Robert V. Hatcher, Jr. .o, 1971-72
Mrs, John L. Tuttle o 1972-73
Mirs. Edwin B. Meade, Jr. ..o 1973-74
Mrs, William A, Pusey ..o 1974-75
Mrs. Frank C. Maloney, ITT .., 1975-76
Mrs. William T, Clarke ... 1976-77
Mrs. James Latane Ware ... e, 1977-78
Mis. J. Frank Williams, TIT ..., 1978-79
Mrs, John Ritchie, Jr. oo 1976-
SunsHINE CiRCLE

Mis. J. Luther Moon ..o, 1921.37
Mrs. AL G Shetter v 1937-38
Mrs, J. Luther Moon oo e 1938-40
Murs. Helen Hall 1940-41
Mrs. C T Amall PITOUO e 1541.43
Mirs. Thomas Boudar ..o 1943-45
Mrs. Blake Meador ..o e 1945-49
Mrs, T E. SPeNCET i 1949-50
Mrs. R, R MacDonald i 1950.52
Mirs, G. C. Engledove ..o 1952-54
Mrs. G E. Wilkinson, Jr. e, 1954-56
Mrs. William A, Young ...t 1956-58
Mrs. ALE. Tate e 1858-60
Mrs. Warren R, Pollard ..o S 1960-62
Mrs, Jean Bartd ... 1962.64
Mrs. R. R MacDonald 1964-66
Mrs, W, Gl LESBITIANI ..o 1966-68
Mes, H, B, Clark oo 1968-70
Mrs. AL E, Wright 1970-72
Mrs. Edward R, Boisseau ... e 1972-74
Mrs. Lunsford T. Nuckols, Jr. .o 1974-76
Mors. Frank H. Lansinger, Jr. oo e, 1976-78
Mrs, Frank F. Rennie, TIT . o 1978-
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BOARD

AcTIVE MEMBERS

Mis. Frank C. Acree

Mr. Thornas J. Bliley, Jr.
Mr. Edward C. Campbel}
Mr. R. Harvey Chappell, Jr.
Dr. Beverley B. Clary

Mr. Ralph Crosby, Jr.

Mr. Overton D. Dennis, Jr.
Mr. A. C. Epps

Mr. William A, Forrest, Jr.
Mrs. Virgil R. Goode

Mr. John H. Hager

Mr. H. Hiter Harris, Jr.
Mr. L. Howard Jenkins, Jr.
Mrs. H. Godwin Jones
Mrs. Charles S, Luck, 11T
Mr, Carl A. Lindgren, Jr.
Mr. Henry M. Massie, Jr.
Mr. Roderick B. Mathews
Mr. G. Gilmer Minor, I11

OF TRUSTEES
1979

Dr. Ralph Ownby

Mrs. John Ritchie

Dr. Leroy Smith

Mr. Wiltiam B. Thathimer, Jr.
Mr. Henry Lee Valentine, 11
Mr. Richard W. Wiltshire
Mr. Richard W. Wiltshire, Jr.

Honorary MEMBERS

Mrs, James Dudley

Hon, Thomas C. Gordon, Jr.
Mr. Vernard W. Henley

Mr. Charles G, Motley

Mr. E. Claiborne Robins
Hon. James E. Sheflield

Dr. W. Taliaferro Thompson, Jr.

Mr. A. Churchill Young, Jr.
Dr. James T, Tucker,
surgeon-in-chief emeritus

SENIOR BOARD

AcTIvE MEMBERS

Mrs. J. Stanard Archer
Mrs. M. 1. Binswanger

Mrs. Lawrence E. Blanchard, Jr.

Mrs. E. Gray Bowles

Mis. James W, Brooks

Mirs. Charles W, Byrd

Mrs. Challen E. Caskie
Mrs. R. Meade Christian
Mis. Beverley B. Glary
Mrs, O. Witcher Dudley, T1I
Mirs. William A. Forrest, Jr.
Mirs. Landon W, Garland
Mois. H. Lewis Garrett

Mrs. Fleming W. Gill

1979

Mus. Virgil R. Goode

Mrs. William E. Goode

Mrs. F. D, Gottwald, Jr.

Myrs, C. Cabell Hancock, Jr.
Mrs. Randolph H. Hoge
Mrs. Herbert W, Jackson, 111

- Mrs. Hunter S. fackson

Mis. L. Howard Jenkins, Jr.
Mrs. H. Godwin Jones

Mrs. Bruce Kemp

Mrs. Joseph B. Lacy, Jr.
Mrs. Herbert C. Lee

Mis. Charles 8. Luck, Jr.
Mrs, Charles S. Luck, I1T
Mis. Joseph F. Maher, Jr.
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Mrs. Martin Markowitz
Mrs. James P. Massie, Jr.
Mrs, James T. Mathews
Mrs. Alfred McCormack, Jr.
Mis. W, Rogers Meador
Mrs, R. Edward Nance
Mrs. Travis W, Poole
Mirs. Robert L, Rand, Jr.
Mirs. Samuel R, Rose, Jr.
Mrs. J. Hamilton Scherer
Mors. Paul M. Shuford

Mrs. Wellford R. Sutherland, Jr.

Mrs. George Russell Talcott
Mis. William B. Thathimer, Jr.
Mrs, James T. Tucker

Mrs. William T. Tucker

Mis. John L. Tuttle

Mrs. Henry Lee Valentine, 11
Mrs. Hugh P West

Mus, John D, Williams

Mrs. William L. Wood, Jr.

ASSOCIATE MEMBERS

Mrs, Frank C. Acree

Mrs. Edward Reeves Adams
Mis, C. Cecil Arledge

Mirs. William C. Barr

Mrs. William M. Berkeley
Mrs, Charles H. Frischkorn
Mrs. B, Graham Frye, Jr.
Mrs, Frank Hendrickson
Mrs. A, Wade L.amb, Jr.
Mrs. George R. Mercer
Mis. T Raysor Salley

Mrs. Alfred T. Smith

Honorary MEMBERS

Murs. H. Coleman Baskerville
Mrs. James Dudley

Mrs. Edward H. Gunst

Mrs. John Taylor Lewis, Jr.
Mirs. John Gordon Wallace

JUNIOR BOARD

Mis, Benjamin C. Ackerly
Mrs. John P. Ackerly, 111

Mrs. Stephen Perrow Adamson
Mrs. V. Cassel Adamson, Jr.
Ms, Frederic H. Cox, Jr.

Mirs. Charles G. Dalch

Mrs. Thomas M. Daniel

Mrs, Lee P. Dudley

Mrs. George §. Elder

Mrs. Allen Mead Ferguson
Mrs. Garland S. Flippen

Mys. Hunter B. Frischkorn, 111
Mis. Frank M. Galleher, Jr.
Mis. William R, Gardner, Jr.
Mrs. Henry H. George

Mis. Marvin M. Giles, I11
Mis. George H. Ginn

Mrs. John H. Hager

1978

Mors. Richard Walter Jones, IV
Mrs. Parke D, Joyner

Mirs. Alexander ]. Kay, Jr.
Mrs. Robert H. Large

Mrs. Suzanne S, Lemon

Mrs. Frank C. Maleney, 11
Mrs. Michael W, Maupin

Mrs. Edwin B. Meade, Jr.

Mrs. Lewis N. Miller, Jr.

Mrs. J. Terry Parsley

Mrs. Peter W. W, Powel]

Mrs. William A. Pusey

Mirs. Sally Owen Reynolds
Mzrs. John H. Richardson

Mzrs. John Ritchie

Mirs. John Hamilten Scherer, Jr.
Mirs. James Anderson Selph, Jr,
Mrs, O. VanPelt Sessoms
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Mors. John C. Siewers, 1T

Mrs. G, Vernon Sprately, 111
Mrs. William B. Thalhimer, 111
Mirs. James Latane Ware

Mis. Marshall Taylor Ware
Mrs, ], Frank Williams, 111
Mirs. Richard W. Wiltshire, Jr.

New MEMBERS — 1970

Mrs. Edward Bryant

Mrs. A, Hugh Ewing, 111
Mprs. J. Cameron Hoggan, Jr.
Mrs. Newell E. Holt

Mrs. Lawrence Miller -
Mus. Lewis H. Mundin, 11T
Mrs. Stephen Watts

SUNSHINE CIRCLE

Mes. Lloyd B. Andrew, Jr.
Mrs. jean A, Barté

Mors. Bayard Beauchamp
Mrs. Lione] E. Beeton
Murs. James M. Black
Mrz. H. L. Binns

Mrs. Edward R. Boisseau
Mrs. G. Edward Brugh
Mr. James W. Cooke
Mrs. Lewis 8. Garrett

" Mrs. John W, Hargrove

Mis. Justin F. Hayes

Mors, Richard Hess

Mrzs, Earnest C. Johns

Mrs. J. Claggett Jones

Mirs, Gerald Kilgore

Mrs. R. J. Klotz, Jr.

Mrs. John A, Koch, Jr,

Mrs. Frank H. Lansinger, Sr.
Mrs. Frank H. Lansinger, Jr.
Mrs. William G, Lesemann, Jr.
Mrs. J. Tyler Luck

Mrs. T. R, Mack

Mrs. Ernest Mayo, Jr.

Mrs. William MceNemar
Mrs. Charles H. Miller

Mrs. Douglas O. Nail

Mrs. Lunsford T, Nuckols, Jr.
Mirs. David L, O’Connor
Mrs. Alvin M., Pearman

1979

Mrs. Donald R. Perriit

Mrs. Warren R. Poilard

Mrs, O. B. Pollack

Mrs. Edward H. Powell

Mrs, Maynard R, Powell, Jr.
Mrs. Marvin L., Presson

Mrs. J. B. Puller, Jr.

Mrs. Wilbur A, Ratcliffe
Mrs. Frank F. Rennie, I11
Mre. William G. Rennolds, Jr.
Mrs, James M. Sampson
Mrs. Charles D, Sands

Mirs. Books P, Shetter

Mrs. 5. A, Shumaker

Mrs. James E. Small, Jr.
Moys. Waller Redd Staples, ITT
Mus. Walter L. Strang

Mrs, Dwight P, Swan

Mirs., Fred L. Tremer, Jr.
Mrs. R. B. Ward

Mirs. J. Wellford White

Mrs. F. Dixon Whitworth, Jr.
Mrs. Ben G, Williams

Mrs, Martin Williams

Mrs. Robert K. Williams
Mrs. Wyatt C. Wood, Jr.
Mis. A, E. Wright

Mrs. Horace Wright, Sr.

Mis. William L. Young
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ASSOCIATE MEMBERS

Mrs. J. W. Hicklin
Mrs. W. G. Lesemann
Mrs. R. R. MacDonald
Mrs. Marshall Pearman
Mis. Thomas H. Fuqua Mrs, Miles J. Rudisili
Mirs. Floyd D. Gottwald Mrs, William F. Vess

HONORARY MEMBERS

Mirs. Wade H. Adams Mrs. A, E. Tate
Mrs, C. 1. Arnall Mrs. William A, Young
Mrs. T. E. Spencer

Mis. Floyd E. Adams
Mrs. W. R. Bowers
Mrs. H. B. Clark
Mrs, David ID. Eares
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A CHRONOLOGY OF

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS IN THE HISTORY OF

1917

1918

1919

1920

1920

1920

1921

1921

1921

1921

CRIPPLED CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL

ApriL — Dr, William Tate Graham and IVNA nurses begin a
free clinic for crippled children, many of whom are victims of
the polio epidemic of 1816-1917. This clinic, in the basement of
the building housing Dr. Graham's offices, 214 East Franklin
Street, soon outgrows these quarters and is moved- to the out-
patient department of the Medical College of Virginia. Surgery
is performed at the Memorial Hospital, 12th and Broad Streets.

The Virginia General Assembly makes iis first appropriation to
aid crippled children—%$10,000 a year for two years to help with
the work started by Dr. Graham. Two special wards for crippled
children open in Memorial Hospital. '

June — Concerned citizens meet with Dr. Graham and Dr.
Ennion G, Williams, Commissioner of the Virginia State De-
partment of Health, to discuss the need for a hospital for crip-
pled children and to decide upon an organization to raise funds
for this purpose.

Aprir. — Crippled Children's Hospital is incorporated by dedi-
cated humanitarians with a dream of a hospital for crippled
children.

Major James Dooley offers Dooley Hospital, on Marshall Street
between 12th and College Streets, to be used for crippled chii-
dren in addition to the wards at Memorial and St. Philip Hospi-
tals. -

DecEMBER — A Woman’s Auxiliary is organized by Miss Hattie
Belle Gresham to oversee and help with the care of needy
crippled children in the three hospitals.

A teacher for the patients is employed with the cooperation of
the State Department of Education, while velunteer teachers
continue to instruct the children.

The Board of Trustees conducts the first campaign for funds
from the general public.

Kappa Delta Sorority begins its aid to Crippled Children’s
Hospital.

The Sunshine Circle of the King’s Daughters organizes under
the leadership of Mrs. J. Luther Moon to assist the Crippled
Children's Hospital and other charities.
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1923

1523

1924
1925

1926
1927
1928

1928

1928

1929
1933
1937

1938

1942

1945

1950

The Austin Bible Class of the First Baptist Church proposes and
conducts a campaign for funds to make possible a summer camp
for recuperating patients. The camp is held in the Westhamptoa
College Building.

Aucust — The “Fresh Air Camp” is such a success that a house
and one acre of land at Brook Road and Sherwood Avenue is
purchased to be used as a Convalescent Hospital.

Fesruary — The Convalescent Hospital officially opens.

A $500,000 bequest made by Mrs. James H. Dooley-—$250,000
for a building and $250,000 as endowment for maintenance—
malkes possible the construction of Crippled Children’s Hospital.

Donation Day is established as an annual event.
Ground is broken for the new hospital,

Mavy — The new hospital, equipped to care for 50 patients,
formally opens.

Affiliation with the Orthopedic Department of the Medical
College,of Virginia is established.

Novemier — The Board of Women Managers, composed of the
Executive Committee of the Woman's Auxiliary and two mem-
bers of the Board of Trustees, assumes responsibility for man-
agement of the hospital.

Capacity is increased to 60 patients.
A Junior Board of 25 members organizes,

The new William Tate Graham Ward for pulmonary and joint
or bone tuberculosis is occupied as well as an addition to the
Nurses’ Honte.

The Woman's Auxiliary and Board of Women Managers become
the Board of Managers.

Miss R. Karleen Ingersoll, who had come to Crippled Children’s
Hospital in 1941 as assistant superintendent, becomes super-
intendent and continues in that capacity until she assumes the
title of hospital administrator in September 1951.

The Sunshine Circle of the King’s Daughters adopts the hospital
as its sole philanthropy and becomes the Sunshine Circle of
Crippled Children’s Hospital.

Additions to the hospital are completed to provide up-to-date
physical therapy and occupational therapy facilities, and re-
covery rooms off the corridors of both Boys’ and Girls' Units
are added.
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1953

1954

1954

1955

1955

1956
1958

1959
1960
1661

1566
1967

1969

1970

1971

1971

1971

Dr. Graham’s portrait is presented to the hospital by Dr. James
T. Tucker and his associates in March. Dr. Graham dies nine
months later.

Dr. H. Page Mauck is named surgeon-in-chief, serving until his
untimely death on January 22, 1955,

The Vose Memorial Chapel-Auditorium, made passible by the
generosity of George Franklin Vose and Eloise Fauntleroy Vose,
is completed in 1954 and dedicated in April, 1955,

Dr. James T. Tucker becomes surgeon-in-chief.
Four rooms are added to the Nurses' Horme.
A large storage room is added, later becoming the linen room.

A facial deformities clinic is established through the cooperative
efforts of the Crippled Children's Bureau of the State Health
Department, Dr, Leroy Smith, plastic surgeon, and the Depart-
ment of Dentistry of the Medical College of Virginia.

Dr. William Zimmerman, ITI begins new eye service.
A storage building is completed behind the hospital.

Speech therapy is added to the hospital’s services and a room
to house this service is built in honor of Dr, Leroy Smith.

Three patient class rooms are completed.

SEPTEMEER — Miss Ingersoll retires and Mrs. Mozelle H. Bur-
ton becomes acting administrator.

The traditional quarterly orthopedic and plastic clinics are
phased out, having been supplanted by more frequent multi-
specialty clinics. A new clinic area is opened in the former
linen room. A new linen room is constructed, later becoming
the occupational therapy area.

MarcH —Dr. James T. Tucker becomes surgeon-in-chief
emeritus and Dir. Beverley B. Clary is named surgeon-in-chief.

Janvary —Dr. Ralph Ownby is appointed the first medical
director of Crippled Children’s Hospital.

Jury —— Mr. Clarence Floyd Cauble is appointed administrator
of Crippled Children’s Hospital.

A full-time pediatric residency program in cooperation with the
Medical College of Virginia is established and followed in sub-
sequent years with many additional resident and student pro-
grams, expanding Crippled Children's Hospital’s role ag a teach-
ing institution.
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1972

1972

1973

1973

1973

1974

1974

1975
1977

1977

1879

Outpatient services increase to include clinics for juvenile
rheumatoid arthritis, hemophilia, preventive dentistry, and de-
fective hearing.

ApriL — The first annual service awards ceremony is held.

Janvary — Conversion of the Nurses’ Home (maintained from
the beginning by the Sunshine Circle) into a well-organized
clinic area, appropriately called the SUNSHINE CLINIC, is
completed. This new concept in outpatient care is necessary
since patients no longer require prolonged hospitalization.

A social service director is added to the staff, and occupational
and physical therapies are offered on an outpatient basis.

May — A preschool program for handicapped children officially
opens, funded for a three-year period by the Richmond Section
of the National Council of Jewish Women.

As a project of the Newcomers’ Club, the hospital takes on a
*new look" with a bright, contemporary, interior color scheme,
designed to promote a stimulating and cheerful atmosphere.

Octoser — The Junior Board equips the former “cast room”
for use as a second operating room.

Aprit — The first volunteer recognition program is held.

A large storage building is completed and Graham Ward is re-
modeled to provide school rooms, offices, and other areas needed
by the patient education department.

E. D. Rosenfeld Associates, Inc.,, consultants in hospital and
health services, are engaged to compile five and ten year pro-
jections indicating future health care needs and the role of
Crippled Children’s Hospital in meeting these needs.

Increasing clinic activity requires the remodeling of the Sun-
shine Clinic.
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